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Baroque Organs

The realisation that the organs, together with discovered music
literature, formed part of an unusually vivid phenomenon of the past
rendering more opportunities to appropriate interpretation and a
more direct image for the audience of past creativity and the conse-
quences resulting thereof, contributed to the more intensive and pro-
fessional preservation of historical instruments according to general
principles governing the protection of cultural heritage. It is ten years
since the Restoration Centre of the Republic of Slovenia, in coopera-
tion with external assistants, has began to restore Baroque organs
systematically by means of careful and strictly controlled interven-
tions. A number of these instruments and also individual varieties
are located in parish churches and, even more numerously, in
succursal churches in Slovenia. Their condition is to be profession-
ally maintained after the renovation and organ music included in
concert programmes to a much greater extent. In a country that never
had the opportunity to become addicted to the success of its own cre-
ativity, in spite of some excellent works, and could therefore have
overlooked foreign achievements, the influences and several imita-
tions contributed greatly to endeavours towards originality: the vari-
ety of cultural events caused, directed and coordinated initiatives in
the country and its surroundings that were too great to remain lim-
ited to narrow geographic borders and were therefore preserved in
the world together with their creators.

In the first part of the Baroque period, near-by Italy outshone all
other creative inspiration, not only by the more prominent develop-
ment of instrumental music and opera and the introduction of new
musical forms, etc. but also by the expansion of its art through cre-
ative artists and performers to other countries. This domination was
subsequently gradually appeased by the increasingly popular produc-
tion of other, mostly northern countries led by Germany. Slovenia,
located between the two artistic poles, experienced the new Baroque
style relatively early in its own manner and adapted to its own cir-
cumstances, and reached culmination its in various musical fields in
the 18th century.

According to archival and other evidence that facilitated a partial
reconstruction of artistic developments, the Jesuit theatre was, apart
from passion plays and processions, the source of musical and even
dancing initiatives. In the capital of the province of Carniola (present-
day Kranjska), Ljubljana, operatic works were performed by Italian
and local artists in Auersperg Manor, the Palace of the States of
Ljubljana, and the Town Hall; in the middle of the second half of the
century, plays were performed in the new Theatre of the States.
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About sixteen years earlier, Academia Philharmonicorum, the initia-
tor and organizer of the creative and performance art of music with a
relatively large number of performers consisting of members of the
aristocracy and citizenry, concluded its work.

The organ changed on account of its intricate structure inside the
increasingly architecturally created cabinet into the most complex
and largest musical instruments soon after the Renaissance, and due
to its expressiveness and value, it became appropriate primarily for
religious music. Commonly located in the central area, the organ rep-

resented the instrumental pendant to the voice, and music written for
it was connected with the fate of the church to a greater extent than
any other variety of music. In harmony with the space in which it was
regularly located, the organ symbolically presented the instrument
that was able to create an atmosphere appropriate for rituals even us-
ing the organ stops of the rgth century, e.g. by means of Vox coelestis
or Vox angelica. The organ was therefore to be understood as a link
between the worldly and the sacred musical creation, as a musical
tool adapted to its specific purpose and as an object in which musical
aspirations of Baroque were joined by architectural and artistic ambi-
tions of the period. As a result of that style, the organ was the first
instrument to reach Slovenia and to become established there, in
spite of its size and complex construction; the development of the
organ was somewhat different in the period of the enlightenment
reforms of Empress Maria Theresa of Austria and particularly those
of her successor, Emperor Joseph 11, and subsequently during the
enlightenment movements and the growth of the upper bourgeoisie.
The topography and evaluation of the organs in Slovenia are far from
complete at present; however, the collected evidence and information
on the range of instruments and their endangered conditions are ex-
citing as well as alarming.
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Baroque Organs

The history of organs in Slovenia followed the general develop-
ment of the organ-building craft in outlying districts since Slovene
ethnic territory has always been an indispensable part of the unified
cultural area of Europe. The first organs in Slovenia certainly ap-
peared in the developed city centres and were subsequently estab-
lished as a fundamental part of church fittings and furnishings in
minor parish churches and even succursal churches in the 17th and
18th centuries. No instruments from the first part of the 17th century
were preserved, although some written documents have recorded the
organs and the organ-building craft in Slovenia since as far back as
the 14th century. An organ-builder was mentioned in Koper as early as
1381, the first organs were recorded in Ljubljana and Kranj in the sec-
ond half of the 15th century, and organ-master Matej worked in
Maribor at around 1501. Evidence of the organs in Piran, Gornji Grad
and in most of the churches in Ljubljana dated from the 16th century.

The development of the organ-building craft in Slovenia can be
systematically traced in Ljubljana since the 17th century (Krek, Zajc,
Eisl, Kucera), and since the 18th century in Celje (Janecek, Marthal)
and Maribor (Simon and Jozef Otonic). Substantial evidence from
that period was preserved in the form of registers, city council
records, contracts between organ-builders and church wardens, and
also in the form of several instruments testifying to the skill of organ-
builders during the Baroque period in Slovenia. Apart from the cen-
tral local workshops in Ljubljana, Celje and Maribor, there were also
products of foreign organ-builders. Organs from Venetian workshops
(by Petar Naki¢ and Gaetano Callida) prevailed in the western part of
Slovenia and in the coastal area, whereas some excellent organs made
by organ-builders from Graz (Andreas and Ferdinand Schwarz) were
discovered in the province of Styria (Stajerska).

The restoration programme for an organ is made on the basis of
investigations and analyses, and the restoration itself usually com-
prises various works from the fields of organ-building, painting, gild-
ing, joinery and occasionally even sculpture.

The conditions of the instruments vary. Organs that were properly
maintained were an exception rather than the rule, and even those
were mostly adapted or modernized. The organ by Callido in Petrovce
is a case in point: a new keyboard was made in the 19th century and a
pneumatic windpipe with two organ stops was added, which inter-
fered with the concept of the Baroque organ. A typical example of a
neglected or abandoned instrument was the organ in the church of
the Virgin Mary of Alieto in Izola. The beautiful Baroque instrument
inside the dilapidated church was covered with a thick layer of pigeon
excrement, However, it turned out that the damage was not fatal, and
the organ was successfully renovated.

It is interesting that most organs and positives (i.e. organs without
pedals) were preserved in those areas where there was no money for
the purchase of new, usually larger and more modern instruments,
The organs were also severely damaged during the First World War
since the army confiscated the prospective windpipes made of tin for
military purposes.

The selection of appropriate materials presents one of the key is-
sues of restoration of organs, either for the renovation of old parts or

9
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for the reconstruction of missing or ruined parts. The purchase of
some materials often causes difficulties: e.g. ass leather or box-tree wood.

Numerous measurements are to be performed on other instru-
ments built by the same organ-builder for the reconstruction of a cer-
tain organ, so that the authentic mensuration of pipes and other
missing parts is established to the greatest possible extent. Profes-
sional literature and various studies dealing with products and char-
acteristics of a particular instrument are very helpful. Metal pipes are
among the most damaged parts of an organ since they are often ir-
reparably deformed due to unprofessional or negligent tuning. That
presents the most common cause of difficulties in establishing the
original tuning of the pipes. It is usually possible to restore the
worm-ridden wooden parts or at least to use their preserved parts,
e.g. the oak core or the legs of wooden pipes.

All interventions performed on the organs so far were in accor-
dance with the opinions, evaluations and advice of Professor Milko
Bizjak, and were performed by the Restoration Centre of the Republic
of Slovenia, in cooperation with some assistants. The common rule
on which all the interventions were based was to return the original
form and composition to the organ, preserve only past reconstruc-
tions of the highest quality that did not harm the instrument, and use
authentic materials. The purpose of restoration was not only to pre-
serve the appearance, but also the functions of the instrument with
all the acoustic and visual characteristics typical of individual work-
shops, schools and centres of Baroque music.

The remains of the earliest organs in Slovenia are part of our rich
art and historical heritage. Due to their limited range of manual and
pedal keyboards (a shortened octave in the bass), all Baroque organs
are in constant danger of being replaced by new, modern ones that
permit greater possibilities of execution.

10



Baroque Organs

Organ in the Church of the Virgin Mary of Alieto

Location
Time of origin
Time of restoration

Izola
first half of 18th century

1994

Chief Conservator  Ale3 Sotlar for the cabinet and assistants Marko Butina, Nuska D. Kambié¢,

Chief Conservators
Visits

Vito Dolnicar; Bostjan Cerne for the instrument

Anton Mikeln and Jure Bernik

The organ is temporarily in the church of St. Basso in Koper due to resto-
ration of the church building. The key is kept in the parish office in Koper.

The positive with seven organ stops from the succursal church of
the Virgin Mary of Alieto in Izola was built by an unknown Venetian
workshop in the first half of the 18th century. The instrument ob-
tained new prospective pipes made of zinc at the beginning of the
Second World War. The condition of the instrument before the resto-
ration demanded by the Inter-regional Institute for the Protection of
the Natural and Cultural Heritage of Piran was relatively good in view
of the area of the abandoned church. Despite humidity, the level of
worm infestation was negligible; the keyboard was the most damaged
part, apart from some damage to the metal pipes. Some of them were
missing, together with the curtain covering the prospect. After a com-
plex removal of the layer of dirt and varnishing the wood against
pests, the damaged parts of the instrument were restored and the
missing ones replaced: copies of the pipes were made according to
the model of similar ones from the church of St. Anna in Koper. The
organ was tuned and an electrical ventilator installed for working the
bellows. The cabinet received a second coating of grey paint and the
golden decoration that was bronzed were cleaned mechanically and
using various solvents. It was established that the fields of the cabinet
were originally covered with marmoreal painting and the remaining
polichromatism was of
a light grey shade.
Since there were
hardly any remnants of
the original paint, the
commission decided
for a reconstruction.
After the dismantling,
the wooden elements
of the upper endpiece
were cleaned, con-
served and re-gilded.

1
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Organ in the Church of Sts. Primus and Feli

Crna near Kamnik

1680

1990

Dare Tratar for the cabinet and Bostjan Cerne for the instrument

Olga Zupan and Damjana Pe¢nik

The key is kept by Milan Sustar in the sexton's house; T: (01) 831 32 62.

The first and earliest organ restored by the Restoration Centre
team was built in the workshop of Janez Faller of Ljubljana for the
Franciscan church in Kamnik in 1680. The instrument consisted of a
positive with five organ stops, and was moved to the famous
succursal church of Sts. Primus and Felician in Crna near Kamnik in
the middle of the 1gth century. It was established that the organ was
repaired at that time. The present restoration of the instrument com-
prised: the dismantling and checking of composite parts, removal of
dirt, restoration of old parts and reconstruction of missing ones, pro-
tective varnishing of wooden and metal parts, fitting and setting up
the pipes, regulation of air pressure in the bellows and tuning. The
organ cabinet that was in bad disrepair was first grouted in those
parts where the painted decoration was destroyed, and the missing
parts were reconstructed; metal parts were conserved, the wood was
coated with protective varnish and the painting retouched. The re-
stored instrument was kept in the parish church in Kamnik and sub-
sequently returned to the
succursal church of Sts.
Primus and Felician, con-
trary to the decision of the
Institute for the Protec-
tion of the Natural and
Cultural Heritage of
Kranj, the initiator of the
restoration. The instru-
ment is still kept there,
despite the ill-suited con-
ditions of the church.

cian

Location

Time of origin
Time of restoration

Chief conservators
Chief conservators
Visits



Location

Time of origin
Time of restoration
Chief Conservators
Chief Conservator
Visits

Baroque Organs

Organ in Zaprice Castle
Kamnik
1743

1992

Mitja Pirnat for the cabinet and Bostjan Cerne for the instrument

Mirina Zupandic

Open from Tuesday to Friday from g.00 to 12.00 and from 16.00 to 18.00,
on Sundays and public holidays from 10.00 to 13.00. The museum is
closed on Mondays.

The fate of the portative organ from the Zaprice castle near
Kamnik was somewhat different. It was built by master Marko Gsbel
from Ljubljana, brother-in-law of organ-builder Janez Jurij Eisl, in
1743. The instrument with three stops was repaired in the 1gth cen-
tury and, apparently, in the 20th as well. An analysis of the condition
of the instrument revealed that the pipes in the prospect were dam-
aged and some of them were missing, similarly to several from the
interior; the wooden parts were disintegrated and subsequently
pasted together; the pistons were not tight, a third of the springs were
broken, the bellows were torn and some keys were torn away from
the keyboard. After dismantling and cleaning the instrument, the
missing and dilapidated parts were reconstructed and pasted, wooden
elements coated with protective varnish, bellows mended, pistons,
channels and windpipes tightened and keyboard renovated. The air
pressure was regulated and instrument tuned. The cabinet was newly
polished, and the missing ornaments were renovated and re-gilded.

13
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Organ in the Church of the Assumption of the Virgin Mary
Olimje  Location
1764 and 1765  Time of origin
1999  Time of restoration
Anton and Gregor Podkriznik for the cabinet and Bogtjan Cerne for the instrument  Chief conservators
Bogdan Badovinac  Chief consemvator
For visits contact the parish office in Olimje; 7: (03) 582 g1 72.  Visits

The organ of the monastic church in Olimje was the subject of
final restoration. The instrument was built by Janez Franéisek
Janacek in 1764 or 1765. Despite damage caused by the course of
time, it was preserved in its original form due to the abolition of the
monastery at the end of the 18th century. The humidity in the
church, the level of worm infestation and consequences of bats nest-
ing in the instrument caused the severest damage. However, some
was additionally produced by insufficient maintenance. After the
programme confirmed by the Institute for the Protection of the Natu-
ral and Cultural Heritage of Celje, the instrument was dismantled,
dirt removed and cleaned, and the damaged parts restored, to be fol-
lowed by conservation, reconstruction of the missing parts and set-
ting up new ones and, additionally, by tightening the rifts and perfo-
rations. The instrument with fourteen stops was tuned in the old,
non-tempered manner. Anton and Gregor Podkriznik renovated the
painting of the cabinet, completed it using missing elements, re-
stored the angels in the upper endpiece and re-gilded the relatively
rich and elegant decorations.




Baroque Organs

Organ in the Church of the Visitation of the Virgin Mary

Location
Time of origin

Time of restoration
Chief Conservators
Chief Conservator
Visits

Petrovée
18th century

1996
Ales Sotler, Vito Dolni¢ar, Nuska D. Kambié and Mitja Pirnat

Anka Askerc
The key is kept in the parish office of the Mother of God in Petrovée 1gg;

T: (03) 570 82 02.

The bad condition of the organ in the parish church of the Visita-
tion of the Virgin Mary in Petrovce was primarily the consequence of
subsequent maintenance works and of various workshops. The in-
strument was built by the Venetian organ-builder Gaetano Callida,
who originated from the renowned workshop of Peter Naki¢, in 1796.
In the second half of the 1gth century, new bellows and a new key-
board outside the organ cabinet were made by the local artisan Franc
Naraks, which transformed the entire treatment of the instrument.
An even more thorough reconstruction of the organ was performed
by Franc Jenko from Ljubljana in the middle of the 20th century. He
removed three stops and added two new ones on the pneumatic
windpipe. Transformations were additionally performed on the
Contravassi pedal stop, yet the presence of pneumatic elements was
to the disadvantage of the sound quality. Other damage was caused
by worm infestation of the wood and dilapidated leather, wire joints
and the lining of the keyboard; more than half of the pipes were dam-
aged as well. The keyboard was returned to the organ cabinet and the
transformations performed in the past removed in the restoration
process performed at the behest of the Institute for the Protection of
the Natural and Cultural Heritage of Celje. The instrument was thor-
oughly cleaned, conserved and protected, the decayed elements were
replaced, and the pipes re-
tuned in the temperament
typical of Venetian organs
from the end of the 18th cen-
tury. The cabinet was also
subject to numerous renova-
tions in the past. According
to analytical results, the resto-
ration programme proposed
the removal of subsequent
paintings and decorative ele-
ments and the reconstruction
of some parts of the cabinet.
It was structurally strength-
ened and extended
depthwise, and the
marmoreal paint on the
frames was renovated. The
statue in the upper endpiece
was renovated as well.
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Organ in the Church of the Mother of God

Svetina
turn of 18th and beginning of 1gth century

1993

Tone Podkriznik for the cabinet Bostjan Cerne for the instrument

Anka Askerc

The key is kept by Danilo Klinar; 7: (03) 577 40 72,

and in the parish office of St. Lawrence above Store; T: (03) 577 10 27.

The organ in the succursal church of the Mother of God (Virgin
Mary of the Snows) in Svetina consists of twelve stops and was built
at the turn of the 18th or beginning of the 19th century. It was
brought from the church in Teharje in the 20th century. The condi-
tion of the instrument that has not been used for forty years was bad:
the wood was worm-ridden to such an extent that the pedal windpipe
and one third of the pipes were useless, the bellows were entirely
torn, the keyboard was dismantled and the metal pipes, particularly
the prospective ones, were damaged. At the behest of the Institute for
the Protection of the Natural and Cultural Heritage of Celje almost all
parts of the organ were restored or replaced and all the wooden ele-
ments conserved and protected. A wide range of approaches was
used in the process. The cabinet was renovated before the restoration
of the instrument.

Location

Time of origin
Time of restoration
Chief conservators
Chief conservator
Visits
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Organ

Baroque Organs

in the Church of the Birth of the Virgin Mary

Location ~ Zagaj, Svete Gore
Time of origin ~ 17th century
Time of restoration 1995

Chief Conservators

Rado Zoubek, Nuska D. Kambi¢ and Mitja Pirnat for the cabinet, BoStjan
Cerne for the instrument

Chief Conservator  Anka Askerc

Visits

The key is kept at the inn in Svete Gore, Zagaj 48; 1: (03) 580 4013, and in
the parish office in Bistrica ob Sotli 7; 7: (03) 809 40 42.

The organ in the pilgrim church of the Birth of the Virgin Mary in
Svete Gore was the work of an unknown master of the Tyrolean-Ger-
man school from the ryth century; it was repaired and reconstructed
by organ-builder Franciek Janacek from Celje in the first half of the
18th century. The instrument underwent a major intervention in the
19th century, when the mechanical manual was transformed and a
new keyboard added facing the altar. Most of the metal and wooden
pipes were preserved, particularly the valuable Principal 8 stop. The
keyboard was relocated in its original position on the instrument and
the manubria were returned to the old openings on the cabinet. All
the dilapidated components of the organ were restored, protected or
replaced. The relatively badly damaged organ cabinet was also reno-
vated and the decorative parts and curtains above the prospective
pipes were resilvered and regilded, all in accordance with the conser-
vation guidelines of the Institute for the Protection of the Natural and
Cultural Heritage of Celje.

DR. JOSIP KOROSEC

il
Il

il i
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Church of St. Radegund w1668

Location  Breg near Zirovnica
Time of origin -~ Romanesque, Gothic, Renaissance periods
Time of restoration ~ 1994—2000
Chief Conservator ~ Nika Leben and assistants Milan Sagadin and Tone Marolt
Visits  The key is kept in the near-by house of Marija and Bogdan Luznik, Breg 43.

The church of St. Radegund is located in Breg near Zirovnica in
the Gorenjska region, above the canyon of the River Sava at the
Moste power plant. Archaeological investigations proved that the area
had already been settled in late Antiquity, primarily due to its impor-
tant location along the still existing road connecting the village be-
neath the mountain of Stol and the Bled area. The earliest, un-
planned archaeological find dated from 1988, when an old Slavonic
skeleton with a bronze helmet (kept at the Kastelic house, Breg 52)
was discovered during excavations for a lightning conductor. During
investigations for the drainage of the foundations performed in 1994
under the guidance of archaeologist Milan Sagadin, remnants of a
residential dwelling from late Antiquity were discovered in the direct
vicinity of the narthex of the church consisting of a cabin made partly
of earth from the Gth century and another old Slavonic skeleton grave
from the period between the gth and roth centuries.

The church used to be located at the eastern edge of the clustered
village; at present, it is squeezed among new houses. The historian
and polymath ]. W. Valvasor recorded in the ryth century that it was
surrounded by stronghold walls that have subsequently disappeared
without trace, except, coincidentally, to be discerned in the undulat-
ing lawn next to the presbytery.

-1

A Floor plan of the church of St. Radegund: "“The nave of the succursal church of the parish of
Breznica consists of a rectangular nave covered with a flat ceiling, a vaulted presbytery
with a three-sided conclusion, and an open narthex on the western side..." (scale: 6mm =1m)

<« “The ornament of the Cosma family, incised nimbi and the modelling of faces indicate a
master descended from the Friuli school of painters...”

19
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The nave of the succursal church of the parish of Breznica con-
sists of a rectangular nave covered with a flat ceiling, a vaulted
presbytery with a three-sided conclusion, and an open narthex on the
western side paved with worked river cobbles and covered with a
wooden ceiling. The bell-tower with a bell-shaped, voluted roof leans
against the northern wall of the presbytery. Although the presbytery
seems to be the most picturesque part of the church with its painted
corners and the fresco of St. Christopher from the beginning of the
2oth century, which indicates a Renaissance predecessor, the real

Discovery of a Gothic win-
dow on the presbytery: “In
the 18th century, the side
windows of the presbytery
and the window in the
southern wall of the nave
were rebuilt in rectangular
forms and the window
behind the main altar was
built up...”

wealth of the church is hidden inside. The entrance is either from the
narthex, first recorded as early as 1657, through a slightly pointed
early Gothic portal, or from the southern side through a rectangular
Renaissance portal. The relatively small nave is white, except for the
triumphal arch wall which is painted entirely with Gothic frescoes
dating from the beginning of the 15th century. The picturesque fres-
coes in bright colours are complemented with the Baroque side altar
by the northern wall in the nave and the main altar, which belongs to
the outstanding examples of the golden altar type from the r7th cen-
tury. The shiny gilding almost obscures the fact that the presbytery is
not vaulted and painted in the typical fashion of the succursal
churches of the Gorenjska region, but rather its vault is intertwined
with a crested network derived from the consoles cut out of green
stone from the Peracica quarry. The portals to the vestry beneath the
bell-tower and in the southern wall of the nave are made of the same
stone. A semi-circular tract paved with stone, in contrast to the origi-
nal brick paving, is a particular feature of the presbytery. It indicated
the size of the original altar area — the Romanesque apse, recorded in

20



Breg near Zirovnica: Church of $t. Radegund

the visitation record from 1657 that is kept in the archive of the Arch-
diocese, and confirmed by archaeological trial pits at the beginning of
the survey in 1994.

The church, a subsidiary of the parish of Breznica, was first re-
corded in the Radovljica register in 1468, and the foundations of the
apse testified to the fact that it had already been constructed in the
12th or 13th centuries. Just the nave was presumably preserved from
that time, although investigations proved that the church was no
longer unified then. The triumphal arch wall and the northern wall

Exterior of the church: “It is hoped that the monument is now saved from further ruin as a
result of the enumerated works and that some of its original freshness has been restored...”

were the only remnants of the Romanesque nave. This had already
been established by priest Franc Avsec who visited the church several
times between 1897 and 1933 and made valuable recordings of its
appearance. His thesis was confirmed by architectural investigations
carried out before a thorough renovation of the building, when the
dilapidated external plasterwork was removed. It was discovered that
the entire northern wall was constructed in several layers, which was
typical of the Romanesque period, while the southern wall indicated
irregular construction with finer material, among which a larger
stone was discovered with remnants of the fresco from the painted
apse. The find confirmed the fact that the southern wall was built
anew, simultaneously with the new presbytery that was mentioned in
the visitation record from 1668. The bell-tower above the roof, re-
corded as late as 1657, was presumably removed at the same time and
was replaced with a free-standing tower next to the presbytery.

The new presbytery was initially illuminated by means of pointed
windows with stained surrounds built in the Gothic tradition. During
the Baroque renovation of the interior when the walls were decorated
with stucco ornaments, the side windows of the presbytery and the
window on the southern wall of the nave were rebuilt in rectangular
forms and the window behind the main altar was built up. The win-
dows were glazed anew directly before the thorough restoration,
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therefore the reconstruction of the original windows was not possible
except for the window behind the main altar.

Archaeological and architectural surveys were connected with nec-
essary maintenance works. Due to numerous rifts in the walls of the
nave, primarily in the western part of the church, the floor had to be
strengthened with concrete and drainage installed. Subsequently, ties
were installed at the top of the walls in the nave and presbytery. How-
ever, the intervention revealed that the roofing and covering were not
satisfactory either. The inhabitants therefore collected the money for

Interior of the church: “After renovation of the plasterwork on the facades and in the
narthex, the work was continued in the interior of the church...”

a new roof together with the parish priest, Joze Klun. The dilapidated
roof caused moisture permeation on the juncture of the roof and the
bell-tower. Consequently, the fresco plasterwork began to fall off and
the wooden supporting ceiling was rotten. The bell-tower seemed to
be in good condition. However, after the construction of scaffolding
and the opening up of plasterwork on account of architectural paint-
ings, typical of the Gorenjska region, it turned out that the wooden
ties above the belfry were completely rotten so that the roof was
“standing” on the walls merely “out of habit”. The rotten ties had to
be removed and the openings filled with new ones, to be followed by
the renovation of plasterwork and reconstruction of the painting in
the fresco technique. Trial boreholes revealed three layers of painting:
the earliest, Renaissance layer with corners in graphite grey, the early
Baroque layer with green corners and a border beneath the eaves, and
the late Baroque layer with the painting divided into fields. Since the
early Baroque layer was artistically more complete and included
painting of the embrasures, the decision was taken to renovate the
second phase. After the renovation of the plasterwork on the facades
and in the narthex, work was continued in the interior of the church,
where the form of the Romanesque apse was indicated in the paving.
Trial boreholes were made in the whitewash, plasters that were di-
lapidated and moist were removed, a new wooden ceiling was erected
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and the plasterwork on the ceiling and partly on the northern wall
was reconstructed.

Unfortunately, no fragments of the Gothic painted ceiling men-
tioned in the visitation record were discovered. The construction
works were performed by Franc and Miha Pelko, and the painting on
the bell-tower was renovated by Janez Skrlep with his assistants.

The investigation and restoration of the paintings on the trium-
phal arch wall and the surrounds of the former apse, the present tri-
umphal arch, were performed simultaneously. Part of the frescoes

Discovered painting on the triumphal arch: “The identical drapery of the angel and, above
all, the image of the Virgin Mary confirmed that the frescoes were painted by the same
master who worked in Ziganja Vas near TrZi¢ in the second decade of the 15th century...”

was discernible even before the renovation, so that Vladimir Snoj
continued to uncover them in 19g1. The process was subsequently
completed by Tone Marolt who restored the frescoes. On account of
moisture permeation, the fresco with the scene of the Annunciation
with the angel was partly ruined in the top left-hand corner. Only a
fragment of the drapery of the angel and the inscription stripe was
preserved, while the depiction of God the Father handing the incar-
nated Jesus to the pregnant Virgin Mary was fortunately preserved on
top of the triumphal arch. Mary was depicted sitting on a wooden
throne next to a reading desk. Three saints were painted beneath the
Annunciation: St. Michael in a picturesque knightly habit weighing
souls on the left-hand side, St. Radegund, the patroness of the
church, on the right-hand side, and St. Lawrence with a spit; the lat-
ter two were depicted holding a chasuble.

The entire interior of the apse was painted, as mentioned above,
which was undoubtedly indicated by the amount of fragments of bro-
ken fresco plasterwork discovered in the fill when the foundations of
the apse were opened. Regrettably, only two figures of saints were
preserved: the apostles on the surrounds of the triumphal arch. The
frescoes on the lower part were concluded by a curtain with patron-
age ornaments. The ornament of the Cosma family, incised nimbi
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and the modelling of faces indicated a master descended from the
Friuli school of painters, while the identical drapery of the angel and,
above all, the image of the Virgin Mary confirmed that the frescoes
were painted by the same master who worked in Ziganja Vas near
Trzi¢ in the second decade of the 15th century. The frescoes were
cleaned, strengthened, and the damaged areas patched and re-
touched. The architectural painting on the edges of the triumphal
arch dating from the 17th century, when the newly constructed trium-
phal arch had its edges cut in the form of buckwheat grain according

The main Renaissance
altar with the date 1658:
“The central niche con-
tained the patroness of
the church, St. Radegund,
holding a model of the
church in her hand...”

to the contemporary fashion, was also reconstructed. The restoration
was continued in the presbytery, where the plasterwork was patched
and whitewashed, and the stone consoles and two disc-shaped moul-
dings on the vault were cleaned of whitewash. The painting on the
surrounds of the Renaissance window was merely refreshed.

The restoration of the altars was performed simultaneously. The
main Renaissance altar dating from 1658 had a flat body with three
semi-circular niches divided by columns covered with shallow carti-
laginous ornaments. The central niche contained the patroness of the
church, St. Radegund, with a model of the church in her hand featur-
ing a semi-circular apse and the belfry above the roof. The left-hand
niche contained the statue of St. Antony of Padua in a monastic robe
with Jesus, and the right-hand one the statue of a bishop with a book
and a sword. The Virgin Mary with Jesus and two martyrs was carved
in the upper endpiece of the altar. The side altar was located by the
present northern wall of the nave on a stone-built mensa covered
with a stone slab made of tuff with obliquely cut edges. The body of
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the altar was made of wood in the period between 1750 and 1770. The
central niche contained St. Vitus with the crown of a duke standing
between two lions holding a palm leaf in his hand and leaning on a
wooden tub with two gold rings. St. Wolfgang holding a model of the
church was depicted on his left, and St. Ignatius on his right.

The picture of the Virgin Mary of Good Counsel in the upper
endpiece was painted on canvas according to the model of the Ba-
roque painter Fortunat Bergant. The altar was presumably painted
anew and entirely renovated in the 1gth century, therefore the resto-
ration works were more extensive than those planned by restorer Erik
Curk before the dismantling and making trial boreholes of the altar
architecture. An attempt was made to restore the original composition
of the altar by means of a more logical arrangement of the ornaments
next to the central niche and by the reconstruction of the original
colour of the marmoreal surface of the altar architecture. The inspec-
tion and analyses of samples were followed by cleaning, removal of the
paintings, strengthening of the original painted surfaces and strength-
ening and protecting wood against insects. This was followed by re-
pairs and conclusive modelling of the missing parts and by retouching
the gilding and other patched damaged areas on statues and the altar
architecture. The main altar was restored by Nusa Dolenc Kambi¢.

The thorough restoration of the church was concluded in 2000
with the renovation of the wooden ceiling in the narthex that used to
bear the date 1833 on the beam above the entrance. Only some boards
were preserved from the original ceiling decorated with geometric
rosettes while the rest that were rotten were replaced by new ones. It
is hoped that the monument is saved from further ruin as a result of
the enumerated works and that some of its original freshness has
been restored.

NIKA LEBEN
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Location
Time of origin
Time of restoration

Church of St. Helen w1624
Draga near Bela Cerkev

from 13th to 18th centuries

1992-1998

Chief Conservator ~ Robert Peskar and assistants Bojan Zaletelj and Marinka Drazumeri¢

Visits

Visitors have to be booked in advance in the parish office in Bela Cerkev
or accompanied by the church warden from the near-by farm.

The church of St. Helen in Draga is located on a minor elevation
of Vinji Vrh above the motorway between Otocec and Skocjan, near
the village of Bela Cerkev. The isolated location at the end of the
prominence above the gorge (‘draga’) indicates a carefully selected
position, presumably from the period when the network of succursal
churches in the parish of Bela Cerkev had not been completed yet.

There are no written documents recording the beginnings of the
church, although some assumptions can be traced regarding the
original location of a church devoted to St. Helen in the gorge at the
foot of the hill by the presumed Byzantine fortress; it was supposedly
burnt by Hungarians in the 1oth century and subsequently recon-
structed as the predecessor of the parish church by Hemma the
Countess of Freising and Zeltschach (cf. Pirkovi¢ 1985, 81-83). Ac-
cording to oral tradition, Sts. Cyril and Methodius said mass in the
church on their way to Rome in the gth century. The results of ar-
chaeological investigations around the church revealed remnants of
burial places and presumed earlier foundations of the apse (cf. Stare
1977, 303), which were, however, not confirmed by archaeological
excavations in the interior of the church. More data were preserved of
the beginnings of the parish organization in this area. A document
from the year 1074 and issued in Aquileia was discovered (Kos 1911,

A Floor plan

of St. Helen: “The building represents a simple pilgrim church consisting of a

rectangular nave, a semi-circular apse and a vestibule...” (scale: 8mm = 1m)

< Renovation works on the exterior: “The renovation works on the exterior included the
construction of a new roof and roofing covered with shingles — the way the church was

covered un

til 1869."

27



Cultural Routes zo00 Guide to Monuments

174-175), stipulating that Ellenhard the Bishop of Freising (1053~
1078) was to build a church near the Slovene farms on the hill of
Vinji Vrh (apud Uuinperch), at the behest of Sigehard the Patriarch,
at a location determined by the latter. The document further de-
manded that the Bishop build another church or even two of them
elsewhere on his estates as required and according to the desires of
both. The definition of the location of the first church in the docu-
ment was seemingly precise, i.e. on Veliki Vinji Vrh, at the present
location of the church of St. Joseph (originally the Virgin Mary).

Church of St. Helen before the restoration: “Due to increasingly dangerous cracks on the
tower, vault and the walls of the nave, an extensive restoration or rather structural repair
of the church was initiated in 1986..."

However, the conviction that Vinji Vrh indicated the broader area
around it has subsequently prevailed in literature (cf. Blaznik 1963,
170). The location of the first church was therefore identified, in spite
of some doubts (Preskar 1999, 32-38), with the present location of
the parish church of St. Andrew in Bela Cerkev beneath Vinji Vrh (cf.
Komelj; Zadnikar 1982, 389-394; Hofler 1987, 36). The location was
first recorded as a stone-built church (Alba ecclesia) in 1283 and in
connection with the church festival (sancti Andree de Alba ecclesia) in
1376 (cf. Kos 1975, 65; Otorepec 1995, 257). The identification of the
other two churches mentioned in the document was even more un-
certain. One of them could have been the church in the former bor-
ough of Gutenwert (Otok near Dobrava) by the River Krka (cf. Gestrin
1972, 33), and the other one either the church of St. John the Baptist
on Mali Vinji Vrh (the baptismal church of the parish) or the church
in Smarjeta or Skocjan. It was therefore improbable that the stipula-
tion in the document of 1074 referred to the church of St. Helen in
Draga, although it can be classified as belonging to the Romanesque

28



Draga near Bela Cerkev: Church of 5t. Helen

period on the basis of architectural remnants.

The building itself revealed more data on the beginning of the
church and its construction history. It was first recorded in written
documents in the Byzantius register of 1581 (cf. Héfler 1982, 45). An
even earlier inscription of a donor from 1531 was preserved on the
southern external wall of the nave next to the remnants of the fresco
of St. Christopher, and a coin from the period between 1450 and
1460 was discovered during the excavations inside the church. Other
archaeological finds (i.e. ruined frescoes) confirmed that the church

View of the church after the restoration: “The church is an important example of our
heritage on account of its interesting history..."

was badly damaged by fire in the second half of the 15th century, so
that it had even been abandoned for a period of time (cf. Mason
1998, 26-27). The removal of dilapidated plasterwork on the south-
ern wall revealed a typically Romanesque structure of construction
with regular layers, which served as a basis for defining the construc-
tion development and history of the church.

The original church that can be dated as belonging to the 13th cen-
tury comprised a rectangular nave, a semi-circular apse and probably
a belfry instead of a proper stone-built bell-tower constructed as an
extension of the western wall with one or two embrasures for the bell.
The same form of the tower characterized some other succursal
churches in the vicinity (e.g. Mocvirje near Bucka). The church was
decorated with wall paintings on the triumphal arch and in the apse
in the first half of the 15th century. Merely a fragment in the lower
right-hand part of the triumphal arch wall, behind the subsequently
added mensa, was preserved due to fire and subsequent renovations
(cf. Peskar 1997, 70, 73). The fire that could have been caused by
Turkish incursions destroyed the church in the second half of the
15th century to such an extent that it had been abandoned for a period
of time, perhaps even in ruins, since only a part of the triumphal arch
wall and the southern wall of the nave as far as the window sur-
rounds were preserved. The church probably did not bring large rev-
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enues since the monastery of Sti¢na, to which the parish of Bela
Cerkev was assigned in 1454, was obviously not in favour of the reno-
vation of the church. An extensive restoration was undertaken only in
the first third of the 16th century, definitely before the year 1531 when
the fresco of St. Christopher was painted together with the inscrip-
tion of the donor: Hane picturfam fie]ri fecit Matheus H[...] Q Anno dni
« M« CCCCC » 31. It is interesting that the form of the Romanesque
semi-circular apse was restored during the restoration in the first
third of the 16th century. A modestly profiled late Gothic tabernacle

View of the interior: “The
main altar was an out-
standing piece of the
modest interior furnish-
ings of the church, apart
from the full-size late
Gothic statue of the Vir-
gin Mary with Jesus..."

in the northern wall of the nave indicated a new stylistic orientation.
A full-size statue of the Virgin Mary with Jesus with a typical system
of drapery was made at that time as well, yet it defies a more precise
art historical classification.

The church architecture underwent the first major transformation
at the beginning of the 17th century. The nave was extended by a
third of its length towards the west, and the western wall was rebuilt
into a kind of triumphal arch. A vestibule was created in the process,
vaulted with a crested cross arch, and a wooden tower with a new bell
cast in 1618 was erected above its axis. The discovery of an earlier
opening for bell ropes in the middle of the vault confirmed the origi-
nal position of the tower at the axis of the nave. The year 1618 was
also the time of a Baroque reconstruction that included new pointed
windows and the portal. Pointed forms of window and door openings
were not uncommon at that time and place (particularly in the sphere
of influence of the monastery of Sti¢na), since they were known in
the near-by pilgrim church on the mountain of Tréka Gora and in the
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Chapter church in Novo Mesto. Soon afterwards, the church was fur-
nished with a new altar with the statues of St. Helen in the central
niche and Sts. Anna and Apollonia in the side ones. It has to be men-
tioned that the statue of St. Helen was of a later origin, perhaps from
the turn of the 17th or beginning of the 18th century.

The church underwent its final major restoration at the turn of
the 18th or beginning of the 19th century when the present bell-tower
was built instead of the wooden Baroque one, and it was moved from
the axis of the nave to the south-western corner; a new opening for
the ropes was pierced in the process. The bell-tower was interesting
from the point of view of its construction since the southern and
western sides were actually extensions of the walls of the nave, while
the eastern and northern sides were erected on oak beams, partly
leaning on the walls of the nave and partly on the Baroque vault,
which had gradually caused a serious structural imbalance. The con-
struction fault was so severe that the vault of the vestibule and even
the tower began to sink and crack under the weight of the north-east-
ern corner of the tower. Jakob Gruden, the parish priest, recorded in
the parish chronicle as early as 1869 that the church was temporarily
abandoned; the roof was covered anew with tiles (formerly shingle) in
the same year and the tower was provisionally repaired. However, the
church was neglected and abandoned again in 1902; the restoration
was begun a decade later according to the directions of the then con-
servator of the Central Commission from Vienna, Franc Avsec; the
facade was renovated, the interior was newly plastered and the altar
renovated. Due to increasingly dangerous cracks on the tower, vault
and the walls of the nave, an extensive restoration or rather structural
repair of the church was initiated in 1986 and begun in 1992 after pre-
liminary investigation of the plasterwork, whitewash and the walls,

The structural repair of the tower was the most demanding inter-
vention of the latest renovation of the church. Its successful execution
was the result of work performed by engineer Stojan Ribnikar and
mason Lojze Mirti¢. The structural problem was solved by the substi-
tution of partly decayed oak beams of the northern and eastern walls
of the tower with ferro-concrete supports leaning on the longitudinal
walls of the church instead of on the Baroque vault. The reparation
further included the installation of semi-circular horizontal ties
against earthquakes and the injection of walls with lime. This was
followed by the restoration and presentation of the church.

The renovation works on the exterior included the construction of
a new roof and roofing covered with shingles — the way the church
was covered until 1869. Investigations of the plasterwork on the
~ southern wall of the nave revealed remnants of a large fresco of St.
Christopher and a partly visible inscription of the donor. The rem-
nants were copied on film and subsequently taken off since the di-
lapidated plasterwork of the facade was completely replaced with new
lime-cast that was smoothed entirely using trowels.

The results of archaeological excavations performed in the interior
of the church did not confirm the above-mentioned assumption of
pre-Romanesque architecture, but rather shed light on the history of
the church in the late Middle Ages and the early Modern Age. The
discovery of two layers of traditional lime screed was important since
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it dictated the reconstruction and presentation of the paving in the
church. Lime screed was reconstructed in the apse and the nave,
while the vestibule was paved with the existing 1o cm-thick slabs of
worked sandstone of more or less regular forms and some new ones.
Slabs of smaller dimensions indicated quarry stone and were used to
represent the size of the original western Romanesque wall of the
nave. Two layers of plasterwork were preserved (from the 17th and
2oth centuries, respectively); however, they were dilapidated to such
an extent that they had to be removed and replaced by new lime-cast,
except for two fragments with consecrational crosses painted on
them. The wooden ceiling from the beginning of the 20th century
was likewise replaced with a new one made of wood and toned with a
neutral white varnish, since the form and appearance of any earlier
wooden ceilings were not preserved.

The main altar, unprofessionally restored in 1902, was an out-
standing piece of the modest interior furnishings of the church, apart
from the full-size late Gothic statue of the Virgin Mary with Jesus,
renovated and partly reconstructed in the r7th century. Due to hu-
midity, insects and the decay of the original binding, the altar with
the images of three saints, an angel and the Crucifixion was in a very
poor condition. Investigations of the body of the altar revealed that
the original gilding and polychromatism were in such a bad state that
they could not have been preserved. The restoration therefore in-
cluded gassing, strengthening the wood, modelling some new ele-
ments, gilding and polychromatism. The restoration of the statues
was professionally more difficult since only the side statues of Sts.
Anna and Apollonia and that of the Crucifixion in the upper endpiece
belonged to the altar, while those of St. Helen and the angel were of
later origin. The side statues were relatively well preserved, although
a part of the left arm of St. Apollonia was missing and had to be re-
constructed on the basis of an old photograph, while the original
polychromatism and part of the gilding could have been retained.
The consequence of that was a slight discord of colours between the
body of the altar, the side statues and the statue of St. Helen. Never-
theless, the decision was taken to present St. Helen in its original
appearance discovered by means of trial boreholes.

The late Gothic statue of the Virgin Mary with Jesus deserved
more attention and was also better preserved. The statue has not yet
been the subject of an art historical analysis although its dating was
not controversial. In view of the construction history of the church or
its renovation, indirectly defined by the date 1531 on the fresco of St.
Christopher, the statue could have been dated as belonging to the
period of around 1530. It was thoroughly renovated in the 17th cen-
tury. The drapery was even gilded at that time, the flesh colour was
painted anew, the socle was somewhat transformed and crowns were
added to the Virgin Mary and Jesus. The statue is at present still in
the process of restoration, and the execution of a copy is planned in
order to be set up in the isolated church. The painting of the Virgin
Mary of Good Counsel was the only remaining item worth mention-
ing. Afier stylistic comparisons, it turned out that it was the work of
the late Baroque painter Anton Postl from Sentrupert. Because it was
well preserved the restoration works were limited to doubling and
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varnishing, while the pseudo-Baroque fretted frame was new.

After the restoration works, the church has regained its appear-
ance from the end of the 18th century when major construction
transformations were executed. The building represents a simple pil-
grim church consisting of a rectangular nave, a semi-circular apse
and a vestibule with the tower with a pyramidal roof covered with
shingles raised above it. Despite its modest artistic qualities, with the
exception of the altar, the church is an important example of our heri-
tage on account of its interesting history.

ROBERT PESKAR
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Railway Slgnal Box irn3057

Location  Celje
Time of origin~ 1908-1910
Time of restoration 1996
Visits  Visits are possible any time.

An old signal box is located by the railway line as part of the rail-
way station in Celje, about 100 m to the north of the main building.
It is a stone-built house with a staircase, a wooden gallery and a pre-
served switching mechanism that was used for working the switches
and signals.

The building is a single-storey house, almost 10 m high. A spiral,
cast iron staircase leads from the ground floor, where the wires and
mechanisms for directing the steel cables were located, to the first
floor. The upper room has large lattice windows facing north, east
and south that facilitated a good view of the entire railway station.
The room contains levers for the manual operation of the switches
and signals, and all the communication devices were located there
(telegraph, subsequently telephone, electromechanical security de-
vices, etc.).
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A Eastern facade and a cross-section of the signal box: “A splral cast iron staircase leads
from the ground floor, where the wires and mechanisms for directing the steel cables

were |ocate

d, to the first floor. The room contains levers for the manual operation of

switches and signals...”

<« Switch leve

rs: “When the signalman moved a switch, his activity was signalled to the

railway transportation office..”
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The construction of the railway from Vienna to Trieste was one of
the most important national projects in the Austro-Hungarian mon-
archy. Linking the southern regions of Poland, rich with ores and
coal, as well as connection with the Adriatic, were priorities that were
to be realized as soon as possible. It was therefore not surprising that
the “iron road” was constructed through Slovenia so early on. The
first train reached Celje from Graz in 1846, and the railway line was
completed in 1857. The railway track disregarded any conceivable de-
sire of the Slovene population; it was determined merely as the short-

Renovated signal box:
“The Southern Railway
Board comprehended the
new situation and
granted the construction
of the most advanced
signal box of that time on
its lines.”

est and financially favourable option.

It was natural that the traffic soon exceeded all expectations, and
consequently, determined the development and expansion of railway
stations. The station in Celje underwent several reconstruction
phases and was transformed several times. The problems of the
confluence of the Rivers Savinja and Voglajna, their flooding and the
vicinity of the city centre limited the spatial dimensions of the station.
The final solution was the post-war construction of a large freight
station to the north-east of the present station in Cret that largely took
over the functions of the former railway station.

The construction of the local railway line from Celje as far as
Velenje in 1891 was one of the substantial changes of the station, and
it increased traffic to a great extent. Trains loaded with coal from the
Velenje mine crowded the tracks additionally. The line was extended
as far as Dravograd in 1899. The completed railway between
Grobelno and Rogatec contributed a decisive share, since some of the
trains going in that direction were starting from Celje as well. The
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traffic in Celje increased substantially in the following decade. The
original station, intended as a thoroughfare where the trains stopped
to receive passengers and freight, developed into an important cross-
ing that required its own shunting station.

A completely new concept was required and the railway station
had to be transformed in its entirety. The Southern Railway Board
comprehended the new situation and granted the construction of the
most advanced signal box of that time on its lines. A similar building
in Miirzuschlag (today in Austria) served as a model. The Southern

Signalling mechanism:
“The signalman moved a
switch to its left or right
position by moving a
certain lever, thus open-
ing or closing the signal.”

Railway Board most probably planned that type of a signal box as a
standard building in various railway stations. However, it is not
known whether any further examples were ever constructed. Almost
no information were preserved concerning the construction of the
signal box in Celje — the post or No. 2 switch tower, as it was also
called. The Building Permit was issued in 1905, and the construction
was probably concluded between 1908 and 1910. A photograph from
1910 confirmed the existence of the signal box in Celje.

The appearance of the signal box did not change as long as it was in
use. The changes that took place at the railway station influenced the
positions of the controls; all the rest, however, remained unchanged.

The operating principle of the signal box was very simple, but the
execution was rather complicated. The signal box was connected with
the railway transportation office in the main railway station by tele-
phone, through which basic commands were given for operating the
switches or points and signals. They were moved in a very simple
manner. Two steel cables connected each signal and switch with the
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signal box. A complicated system of wheels, guides, conduits and
brackets connected the switches mechanically with the control lever
mechanism in the tower. The signalman moved a switch to its left or
right position by moving a certain lever, thus opening or closing the
signal. The entire mechanism was executed so smartly that it was
electrically connected with the railway transportation office in the sta-
tion. When the signalman moved a switch, his activity was signalled
to the railway transportation office where it was recorded and the le-
ver in the signal box was simultaneously blocked. Possible errors

Interior of the signal box:
“A complicated system of
wheels, guides, conduits
and brackets connected
the switches mechanically
with the control lever
mechanism in the tower.”

were prevented by such a procedure since the signalman was pre-
vented from moving the same lever twice by mistake. The mecha-
nism was constructed in such a way that the entrance and exit signals
could only have been opened in cases when the line was safely set up
and protected (i.e. locked). The system operated safely using a series
of electromechanical devices. It was produced by the company Si-
emens & Halske from Vienna.

The present system of switches is based on similar foundations.
Due to the development of electromechanical and railway technology
in general, the switching and signalling devices are operated by elec-
tricity. The use of human muscle is no longer required since the
switches are moved by electronic motors and the signals no longer
consist of mechanical parts so that they are basically transformed
road signals.

The signal box with its operating system was apparently no longer
equal to new demands and the development of technology in the
2oth century. However, it is surprising that the mechanism has been
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in operation for the entire century.

Joze Resnik, the well-known train enthusiast from Celje, is the
person who initiated the preservation of the signal box. The Institute
for the Protection of the Natural and Cultural Heritage agreed to
renovate the facility in 1996 and drew up the conservation plan.

The 150th anniversary of Slovene Railways was celebrated on 2
June 1996. The signal box was partly dilapidated and neglected at
that time. About ten days before the celebration, a building team ar-
rived from Ljubljana and began to renovate the signal box. The roof
was mended, metal plates of the covering were exchanged, windows
and doors painted and facade renovated.

Unfortunately, the original conservation plan was disregarded in
the process. Professional restorers are expected to conclude their task
in the future.! The works are to be completed by further renovation
works, and the signal box revived. The newly established society of
railway enthusiasts in Celje is to take it over as their premises. A se-
ries of old railway signals was erected in the year 2000 in memory of
the old railway station.

TADE] BRATE

1 Marjana Slovnik, a young architect, wrote an essay on the old signal box
in September 1997. She investigated its history and indicated some inter-
esting solutions for its interior layout and a new function. Part of her data
were used, with her permission, as a source for this paper, for which |
would like to thank her.
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Bogensperk Castle #n29

Location ~ Dvor, Smartno near Litija
Time of origin ~ beginning of 16th century
Time of restoration ~ 1968-2000
Chief Conservator  until 1982: Milan Zeleznik and assistants Oton Jugovec, Stojan Ribnikar, Staa

Blazi¢ Gjura, JoZef Oman and Mojca Gabri¢; since 1982: Modest ErbeZnik
and assistants Oton Jugovec, Stasa Blazi¢ Gjura and Darja Pergovnik.

Visits:  From 1 March to 31 October: Tuesday to Friday from g.00 to 15.00, on

Saturdays and Sundays from 9.00 to 17.00, closed on Mondays. From 1
November to 28 February on Saturdays and Sundays from g.00 to 17.00.
Visits booked in advance T: (01) 898 76 64 or 041 70 39 92 are possible at
other times as well.

www. bogensperk.si., e-mail: bogensperk@siol.net.

Bogensperk Castle is located on a 412-metre-high crest of Strmec
above Dvor, not far from Smartno near Litija. It was built after the
earthquake in 1511 when many buildings were damaged or ruined in
the then province of Carniola (present-day Kranjska), most probably
including near-by Lichtenberg Castle in the possession of the Wagen
family. Lichtenberg Castle was in ruins at the time of the historian
and polymath Valvasor (i.e. in the r7th century), while the founda-
tions of the tower are still discernible in the forest 200 metres to the
north from Bogens$perk. The earliest known record of Bogen§perk
Castle is from the year 1533: a certain Jurij Bendic, steward at
Bogensperk (Jorg Wentschitch, pfhleger zu Wagensperg) was mentioned
in a document connected with the tithes in Carniola. The castle was
in the possession of the Wagen family until 1627 when the last pro-
prietor, Georg Wagen, resided in the Augustinian monastery in
Ljubljana and intended to leave his estates to the monastery. It turned

< Wooden coffered ceiling: “The basic principle was to ensure the appearance and condi-
tion of the castle similar to those in Valvasor's time.”
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out, however, that Jurij was heavily burdened with debts to the apoth-
ecary and mayor of Ljubljana, Horatius Carminelli, therefore the es-
tates passed over to him. In the period between 1643 and 1672 the
castle was in the possession of the Kheysel family when Franz
Albrecht Kheysel sold the estate to Johann Weichard Valvasor. Two
decades later, Valvasor sold the castle to Janez Andrej Gandini. Sub-
sequently, the castle was in the possession of several further propri-
etors, the last being the Windischgratz family until 1943. After the
Second World War, the castle was abandoned, the interior devastated,

SR~

Valvasor's depiction of the castle in his book The Glory of the Duchy of Carniola from
1689: “Valvasor's engravings depicting the castle from all perspectives formed the basis
for the reconstruction of several parts of the building and presentation of the castle.”

the windows and doors ruined and the furniture removed (part of the
furniture was taken by the Windischgritz family). The then Institute
for the Protection of Monuments of Slovenia endeavoured to reno-
vate the castle. It was partly restored so that it was inhabited and pro-
visionally maintained by the Jesuits until 1964. In 1968 the castle
was taken over by Investment Bureau (Investicijski Biro) of Trbovlje
with the intention to transform it into a museum and hotel. However,
the plans failed due to a lack of funds so that the castle was returned
to the Municipality of Litija in 1972 and a systematic renovation was
begun in the same year.

The castle was originally planned as a two-storey building with
four wings encircling the courtyard and connecting the corner tur-
rets. The western side with the turrets on each side formed the main
facade of the castle, and the entrance through a Renaissance stone
portal was accentuated by a wooden gallery. The entrance wing was
pierced by arcades on the first floor in the courtyard, and the arcades
were repeated on the ground- and first floors of the northern wing
and were concluded by the largest tower that presented the earliest
part of the castle. A well was located next to the tower and dug into
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solid rock that served as its direct foundation. The other exit from the
courtyard was through the eastern wing of the castle. The north-east-
ern turret used to be free-standing. It contained a mixture of late
Gothic and Renaissance stylistic elements expressed in a late Gothic
corner balcony supported by semi-circular stone consoles, a Gothic
window concluded with tracery and Renaissance windows on the up-
per floors. The Renaissance stone portal was brought from some-
where else and was walled in in 1976. The tower was probably origi-
nally connected with the high circular south-eastern turret by means

Southern facade and
the south-eastern turret
before the renovation:
“The turret with a Re-
naissance console pro-
jection was an architec-
tural unit of sufficient
quality to be harmoni-
ously integrated into
the complex of the
castle.”

of walls with a wooden parapet that protected access to the well. The
tower had subsequently still functioned as the basic residential unit
of the castle, which was discernible from engravings depicting the
form of chimneys and protruding toilets on consoles. The high south-
eastern turret served for defence purposes, and the narrow, asym-
metrically located embrasures indicated a spiral staircase leading to
the top. The turret controlled the eastern and southern sides, since
the youngest, eastern wing with the clock-tower was not connected
with it in Valvasor's time. The castle expanded towards the west; the
western turrets and the southern wing, as far as the south-eastern
turret, were constructed almost simultaneously. Both the western
turrets were formed in the Renaissance style, particularly the round
one with a stone-built console projection with embrasures. The right-
hand turret had embrasures as well, yet they were built in between
1679 and 168¢. Another particularity of the facade was a three-sided
niche supported by consoles on the first floor, which used to be the
apsidal conclusion of the former Gothic chapel. The niche and the
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wooden gallery above the entrance were reconstructed in the process
of restoration as well as the series of embrasures on the circular tur-
ret that were discovered by trial boreholes. The south-eastern turret
probably obtained its present form after the year 1759 when fire broke
out after the castle was struck by lightning. The stone-built console pro-
jection was formed according to the model of the western turret. The
courtyard arcades, the former staircase leading to the first floor and
most of the window surrounds were built in the Baroque period.

Present appearance of the castle: “As a conservator of architectural heritage with a long
standing, Professor Milan Zeleznik had a clear vision of the process that was to include,
in the final stage, the presentation of the entire castle..."

Renovation Plan According to the State of the Castle in 1972

Architect Milica Detoni Kurent drafted the first graphic represen-
tations of the castle in 1960, including the floor plans and facades,
that have subsequently served as the basis for the preparation of indi-
vidual programmes and studies. The state of the castle in 1972 re-
quired basic renovation works essential for the structural repairs of
certain parts of the castle: drainage, strengthening of the foundations
and the regulation of sewage, which had to be performed simulta-
neously with the renovation of the roofs and facades on the exterior
and in the courtyard. The basic principle was to ensure the appearance
and condition of the castle similar to those in Valvasor’s time. His en-
gravings depicting the castle from all perspectives formed the basis for
the reconstruction of several parts of the building and the presentation
of the castle. It was therefore not difficult to reconstruct the three-sided
projection (the apse of the former chapel) and the wooden gallery
above the entrance. The clock-tower in the middle of the eastern wing
was also reconstructed on the basis of an engraving and by means of
measurements and trial boreholes performed in the attic.

The plan initially included raising the south-eastern turret to its origi-
nal height. However, the decision was taken subsequently to leave the
turret due to several arguments: financial, functional (the programme
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included the presentation of a geodesic collection) and formal ones.
The turret with a Renaissance console projection was an architectural
unit of sufficient quality to be harmoniously integrated into the com-
plex of the castle. In any case, the extension of the tower supported by a
professional decision is still possible at any time in the future.

The restoration plans were formed on the basis of graphic repre-
sentations and existing architectural elements covered with plaster.
Apart from that, several discoveries were made by carefully making
trial boreholes as well as several coincidental revelations directly dur-

View of the renovated
courtyard: “Trial bore-
holes made from the in-
side of the wall indicated
the original entrance. The
present semi-circular
portal was built in...”

ing the building works. A number of embrasures were discovered on
both the western turrets. These were documented and presented in
the process of restoration. Some finds dictated adaptations of the
planned interventions, e.g. when the original position of the entrance
to the north-eastern turret was discovered. The photograph of the
courtyard facade from 1960 indicated a window on the ground floor
(the same condition as in 1976). However, the trial boreholes made
from the inside of the wall indicated the original entrance. The
present semi-circular portal was filled in and a wooden staircase lead-
ing to the interior was constructed. Simultaneously, the decision was
reached to remove the staircase leading from the courtyard to the
arched hallway on the first floor — which could otherwise have dis-
charged the narrow wooden staircase leading to the hall, in view of
the present function of that part of the castle, i.e. wedding ceremo-
nies. However, the removal of the staircase facilitated the discovery of
a small Gothic window with a trefoil conclusion on the western fa-
cade of the turret. It was reasonable to take the decision to activate
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the secondary chapel on the ground floor of the eastern wing. There-
fore two windows were opened on the western side since the chapel
had a single window facing the courtyard.

The renovation works were not performed on the castle only, but
also in its direct vicinity. Graphic representations included a series of
outhouses on the western and southern sides as well as walls and
fences along the castle. Therefore the terrain in front of the western
side was additionally archaeologically surveyed in 1980. However, the
finds discovered by trial pits were meagre: remnants of a wall by the

View from the inside:
“The north-eastern turret
— the opening up of a
Gothic window with a
trefoil conclusion...”

entrance to the castle and some pottery from earlier historical peri-
ods. Plans were drafted for the planting of a formal garden on the
southern side, which was performed by the horticultural company
Arboretum from Vol¢ji Potok. The main entrance to the castle and
other paths in the direct vicinity were regulated, including part of the
park concluded by an avenue of trees on the eastern side.

Chronology of the Renovation

The renovation was initiated by Investment Bureau Trbovlje in
1968. The preliminary design for the renovation was drafted by the
Bureau in view of the expected future function of the castle as a busi-
ness hotel. However, the castle was returned to the Municipality of
Litija due to a lack of funding. A Commiittee for the Renovation of the
Castle was established in 1972. It was led by Professor Milan Zeleznik,
conservator from the Institute for the Protection of Monuments of
Ljubljana, which drafted the concept and programme of the restora-
tion. As a conservator of architectural heritage with a long standing, the
Professor had a clear vision of the process that was to include, in the
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final stage, the presentation of all elements of the building and the re-
pairs to the castle in the form characteristic of Valvasor's time. He also
supervised the works and took part in the Committee. The basic con-
cept of renovation anticipated the presentation of the exterior of the
castle as a monument, a partial historical reconstruction of individual
eliminated elements (as well as the removal of the inappropriate ones)
and the reconstruction of the features in order to present the work of
Johann Weichard Valvasor and his legacy in the castle. The concept
included a demonstration of his work using preserved originals and

Renovated Gothic win-
dow: “The removal of the
staircase facilitated the
discovery of a small
Gothic window with a
trefoil conclusion on the
western facade of the
turret.”

copies and, additionally, the material he dealt with. The programme
was drafted according to individual rooms of the castle, from the cellar
to the attic, and various museums contributed the furnishings and ar-
ranged the collections. Valvasor’s study and the printing shop con-
nected with it created the basis of the exhibition so the renovation
works were begun there in 1972. The electrical wiring was renovated in
the same year. The building works were carried out as well as white-
washing of the second floor and the museum of the Second World War
was set up. In 1973, the excavation works were concluded, the founda-
tions strengthened and the first floor was renovated. A restaurant was
prepared on the ground floor in the same year, to be followed by the
sewage, waterworks, the final layout of the rooms on the first floor and
landscaping of the surroundings. The renovation subsided in the fol-
lowing years, and was again intensified after 1976 when the surveys
were performed in the western circular turret; embrasures from the
16th century were discovered beneath the plasterwork and were dis-
played. The manner of construction was documented, including the
size of old brick, the original screed in the niche, the surrounds made
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of sandstone and the building technique of the walls in the 17th cen-
tury. Another entrance to Valvasor’s room was discovered on the first
floor of the western wing as well as a supporting beam from the 17th
century. A late Gothic window with a pointed conclusion was discov-
ered on the first floor of the north-eastern wing after the removal of the
external staircase. The western and southern facades were renovated
according to the technology using ten-year-old slaked lime in a single
layer. The three-sided prominence on the western facade (the apsidal
conclusion of the former chapel) was reconstructed. The staircase in

Renovated arched hallway
in the southern wing:
“The most extensive con-
struction intervention
was performed at the
beginning of the 1980s,
i.e. the renovation of the
attic and the second floor
of the southern wing. The
project was executed by
architect Oton Jugovec...”

the courtyard, the only entrance to the arcaded part of the northern
wing, as stated above, was removed, the position of the original en-
trance on the ground floor of the north-eastern turret was discovered
simultaneously and a semi-circular stone portal was erected. Central
heating was installed in 1978 and the restaurant on the ground floor
was opened. Several rooms were renovated in 198o: the knights’ hall in
the western circular turret, the vestibule and the rectangular hall,
Valvasor’s study and the adjacent room. The furnishings for the recep-
tion on the ground floor and the knights’ hall with the vestibule were
purchased; the Technical Museum of Slovenia set up the exhibition of
printing and the furnishings for the vestibule of the wedding hall. Ex-
cavations were performed in front of the western facade of the castle in
the summer of the same year, and students from the Ljubljana Faculty
of Arts performed some surveying work in the interior. The facades in
the courtyard and the covering of the northern and western wings were
renovated in the following years. The most extensive construction work
was performed at the beginning of the 198os, i.e. the renovation of the
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attic and the second floor of the southern wing. The project executed by
architect Oton Jugovec anticipated a unification of the hall on the sec-
ond floor and the attic. After the removal of the hall ceiling the roof
construction was built in a new style, i.e. with strained steel ties con-
necting the ridge of the roof with two horizontal junctures. The geode-
sic collection was exhibited in the hall covered with a hanging ceiling
concluded by the circular south-eastern turret. The next major inter-
vention was the reconstruction of the clock-tower according to the plan
by the Regional Institute for the Protection of the Natural and Cultural
Heritage of Ljubljana. The construction of the eastern wing roofing
was replaced simultaneously. The rafters were joined in the old man-
ner by tree-nails. The illuminated interior can be viewed through glass.
The cellar of the northern wing including the tomb, the knights’ hall
with the vestibule in the circular turret, and the chapel next to the en-
trance to the castle had been renovated by 2000. The renovated altar
painting for the chapel was a contribution of the Religious Museum
from Sticna. The well, deepened at the behest of Valvasor from eight to
ten fathoms (a fathom was 1.896 metres), was thoroughly cleaned and
a water pump was installed, so that water is available to visitors. The
furnishings and fittings were gradually completed with the purchase of
antique furniture, and the exhibited items were renovated (cabinets,
chests, tables, chandeliers, armour and weaponry). Some furniture was
lent by the City Museum of Ljubljana, mirrors and the organ cabinet
for the library (wedding hall) were made according to the plan by archi-
tect Stasa Blazi¢ Gjura, and the organ was the work of the Organ-Build-
ing Workshop of Maribor. The cellar rooms in the northern wing and
both turrets were intended for the restaurant with the preservation and
inclusion of all the original architectural elements, while the present
premises of the restaurant are to be transformed into promotion and
information premises in the future. Basic renovation works were per-
formed in the cellar of the northern wing; the preliminary design and
structural evaluation for the cellar of the north-eastern wing are being
prepared so as to connect them with the ground floor.

The Bogensperk Public Institution was established in 1998 to
manage and coordinate all the activities that take place in the castle.
All the planned collections are exhibited including a presentation of
the life and work of Johann Weichard Valvasor, his study and the re-
constructed printing shop for copper engravings, and other exhibi-
tions in the gallery. The library is intended for wedding ceremonies
and other cultural events, and the courtyard for concerts.

MODEST ERBEZNIK
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Church of St. Agnes w1628

Location  Goléaj
Time of origin~ between second half of 12th century and turn of 1gth century

Time of restoration

1993-2000

Chief Conservator ~ Damjana Peénik and assistants Nika Leben, Milan Sagadin, Tone Marolt,

Momo Vukovié, Mitja Pirnat, Aleksander NeZevi¢, Paola Korodec, Aled
Sotlar and Drago Bac

Visits ~ The church is locked. The key is kept by priest Joze Vrtoviek, Blagovica g,

< Painted wo
Johann We

Blagovica.

The church of St. Agnes is located at the top of the sunny slope of
Golcaj at 677 m above sea-level. A sexton's house stood next to it un-
til r941, when it was burned down. Only the ruins have remained.
The church was first recorded in written documents in a church reg-
ister in 1526. It was one of the wealthiest churches in the Crni Gra-
ben valley. It was to contribute 6 Rhenish florins, a chalice and two
silver goblets for the war against the Turks. According to oral tradi-
tion, the church belonged to the manor on the mountain of
Limbarska Gora, and subsequently to the lords of Venice.

The church in Golcaj was recorded by Rinaldo Scarlichi, bishop of
Ljubljana, in his visitation records of the years 1631 and 1632. Three
altars were mentioned: the main one consecrated to St. Agnes, virgin
and martyr, the right-hand one to St. Erasmus, and the left-hand one
to St. Margaret. The same data appeared in the visitation record from
the year 1654. The visitation of 1668 mentioned a small, cracked altar
area that was to be replaced with a larger, new one.

The church of St. Agnes was recorded as a succursal church of the
church in Kraénja by Johann Weichard Valvasor in his book The
Glory of the Duchy of Carniola from 1689.

On 14 February in 1784, in the period of enlightenment reforms
of Emperor Joseph II, the church was closed up. However, there were
no data of the re-opening of the church.

A narthex was built as an extension to the church at the turn of
the 1gth century, and the nave was extended by the length of the or-
gan loft. The record in the parish chronicle stating that the painted
wooden coffered ceiling was replaced in 1870 was somewhat mislead-
ing since the original ceiling was not actually removed, but rather
covered with a new plastered ceiling with a decorative painting.

The report by Schumi from 1882-83 indicated that the church was
extended twice. It was damaged during the Second World War and had
subsequently been abandoned for eleven years, from 1941 until 1952.

The records of the Institute for the Protection of Monuments of
Slovenia documented in 1961 that the church was in a such bad state
of disrepair that access to valuable statues inside the church was sim-
ply open due to the crumbled entrance.

The interior of the church was photographically documented by
Peter Fister, conservator from the Institute for the Protection of
Monuments of Kranj, before the removal of the statues in 1967. The
photographic records included information of the existence of an ear-
oden ceiling from about 1680: “The church of St. Agnes was recorded by
ichard Valvasor in his book The Glory of the Duchy of Carniola.”
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lier coffered ceiling discernible beneath the crumbled plastered ceiling.
A comprehensive renovation of the church began in 1993, when
the bell-tower was renovated at the behest of priest Joze Vrtovsek. The
building works comprised the renovation of the roof covering and the
exchange of dilapidated plasterwork. Trial boreholes made in the old
plasterwork did not reveal any traces of architectural paintings. The
tower was roughcast and coated with paint in an ochre shade with
white grouting according to the sketch by architect Bojan Schlegel
from the Institute. The roof construction was damaged to such an ex-

Church of St. Agnes after the renovation: “The church obtained its present form around
1870, when the nave was extended by the length of the organ loft and an open narthex
was added to it..."

tent that it leaked in several places; the construction and the covering
were replaced. The problem of the wooden ceiling in the nave, plas-
tered onto reeds and decorated with a painting from the 1gth century,
was to be solved simultaneously. The ceiling crumbled in several
places and was generally in a bad state. The painted coffered ceiling
was partly discernible beneath it. The subsequent plastered ceiling was
documented and removed. The earlier ceiling was documented as well
and taken off. Fragments of an even earlier painted wooden ceiling
were discovered on the rafter in the nave. The coffers were temporarily
kept in the attic of the parish office in Blagovica. Some fragments of
the plaster with the blue decorative painting were preserved as docu-
ments. A new supporting wooden ceiling was constructed in the nave
as the foundation for the restored ceiling,

The works continued in 1995 with the renovation of the facade.
Trial boreholes in the plasterwork of the southern wall of the nave, next
to the Renaissance portal, revealed a small Romanesque window of a
semi-circular form indicating that the church nave was built as early as
the 12th or 13th century. The layered ashlaring, typical of the Ro-
manesque period, was not very prominent in the church of St. Agnes,
therefore the walls were covered with new plasterwork. The only
prominent layered construction was on the northern side, therefore the
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new plasterwork did not extend as far as the floor. Trial boreholes re-
vealed that the existing windows were originally somewhat narrower
and lower. There were no traces of architectural paintings in the nave
and the presbytery. The fragment of a fresco near the southern entrance
was part of a larger composition with the image of St. Christopher, the
patron saint of pilgrims. The fresco was painted by an anonymous
painter and could be dated as belonging to the late 15th or early 16th cen-
tury. The dilapidated doors and windows were replaced by newly made
copies, except for the door on the western facade. The floor in the
narthex was paved with river cobbles — so-called cat’s heads.

The works continued in the interior of the church of St. Agnes. Ar-
chaeological investigations were carried out before the replacement of
the paving, which has become an established routine in the case of
renovations of mediaeval churches. As usual the survey turned out to
be well grounded. The foundations of an earlier, Romanesque square
presbytery were discovered inside the present one, which was surpris-
ing, in spite of possible expectations. Romanesque churches in
Carniola (present-day Kranjska) regularly had semi-circular apses,
while square presbyteries appeared merely in Styria and Carinthia
(Stajerska and Korogka) under the influence of Northern and Central
European models. There were only a few examples of such presbyteries
in Carniola: Smarjetna Gora above Kranj, St. Primus above Kamnik,
Spitali¢ in the Tuhinjska Dolina valley and the lower chapel in Mali
Grad in Kamnik. They were dated as belonging to the second half of
the 12th or the first half of the 13th century. It is interesting that most
square presbyteries in Carniola were located around Kamnik. Dr.
Emilijan Cevc presumed on the basis of the church of St. Primus above
Kamnik that the occurrence of that architectural type could have been
connected with the influence of the Counts of Andechs, who had their
seat in Kamnik. Archaeological surveys in the church of St. Agnes fur-
ther discovered the foundations of the original western wall and thus
the size of the Romanesque predecessor of the church. An intensive
layer of charcoal next to the northern wall raised the even more inter-
esting question of the existence of a possible timber narthex or church
at that location. The discovered remnants of the Romanesque prede-
cessor were indicated by ashlars laid in brick paving. The plan for the
presentation was designed by the architect of the Institute, Ale§ Hafner.
The walls inside the church and presbytery were plastered and white-
washed anew. No traces of paintings were discovered in the process.

Several years passed after the completion of building works, be-
fore the funding for the restoration of the interior furnishings and
fittings of the church and the painted coffered ceiling was provided.
The restoration of the ceiling, dated by Dr. Natasa Golob as belonging
to the period of around 1680, began in 1999. The coffers were in bad
disrepair. 13 out of 78 were entirely ruined. The decorative laths and
central tassels were removed as early as 1870, when the ceiling was
plastered. The coffers in the extended part of the nave, above the or-
gan loft, were of subsequent origin. They were somewhat larger and
were distinguished from earlier ones by the painting technique and
by colours. All the boards were strengthened, the missing parts were
replaced and the coffers grounded. 13 coffers were made anew. Since
more than 70 per cent of the painting was ruined and the preserved
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painting was badly fixed, the commission decided to reconstruct as
many coffers as possible. The reconstruction of the layers of paint
and the drawing were facilitated by the preserved painting. The bor-
der fields contained stylized tulips on a white background with addi-
tional fruiters consisting of pomegranates, grapes, figs, apples, pears,
turnips, pumpkins, carrots and some imaginative flowers and fruits.
The painting differed from coffer to coffer, despite apparent regular-
ity. The internal coffer had a blue background and the corners were
ornamented with white stars. The original holes for tassels were still

Archaeological surveys in the interior of the church: “The conservation and restoration
surveys contributed some new discoveries about the phases of development of the build-
ing. It was established with certainty that the original single-nave church with a square
presbytery came into being in the second half of the 12th or beginning of the 13th century.’

1

discernible in the middle. New coffers were adapted to the whole cor-
responding to their colour and shade. The reconstruction was ex-
ecuted with coats of varnish and hatching. The laths and tassels were
made on the basis of analogies with similar or contemporary ceilings.
The entire ceiling was strengthened and protected and the restored
coffers were fixed on a blind ceiling.

There were three altars and a pulpit in the church. The main altar
was signed by Franc Lah, painter and goldsmith from Menge$, and
dated 1858. The side altars were made by the Baroque painter Valentin
Vrbnik (ca. 1714-1799) or his workshop. The pulpit was only partly
preserved and could be attributed to the workshop of Valentin Vrbnik
as well. The fields of the altars used to contain paintings of the four
Evangelists and their attributes painted on wood, but they were stolen.
The altar architecture, the statues, pulpit and banister of the organ loft
were restored in 2000. All the church interior was gassed with argon.
The side altars and the pulpit were cleaned and their secondary paint-
ing removed so that they were painted anew. The wood was strength-
ened, the damaged parts of the altar architecture repaired, and the
original marmoreal painting retouched. The silvered and gilded decora-
tive elements were in bad disrepair, therefore the decision was taken to
silver and gild them anew. The main altar was not painted over, there-
fore the restoration was limited to cleaning, repairs and freshening up
of the painting and gilding. The banister of the loft was marmoreal and
decorated with four simple wooden coffers. The painting was partly
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retouched and freshened up.

The restoration of the interior furnishings and fittings completed
the renovation of the church of St. Agnes on Gol¢aj. The conservation
and restoration surveys contributed some new discoveries about the
phases of development of the building. It was established with cer-
tainty that the original single-nave church with a square presbytery
came into being in the second half of the 12th or beginning of the
13th century. However, the question of an earlier wooden narthex
remained open. In the Renaissance period, the church obtained the

View of the renovated interior of the
church: “The restoration of the coffered
ceiling, dated by Dr. Natasa Golob as
belonging to the period around 1680,
began in 1999."

presbytery with a polygonal conclusion and a tub-shaped vault with
lateral arches. Simultaneously, the bell-tower was added on the north-
ern side, in the junction of the nave and the presbytery, so that its
ground floor served as a vestry. Some transformations were executed
in the nave as well: a new Renaissance portal was pierced in the
southern facade, the entrance on the western facade was trans-
formed, new windows were pierced and the nave was covered with a
new painted wooden coffered ceiling. The church obtained its present
appearance around 1870, when the nave was extended by the length
of the loft and the narthex was added. The embrasures on the bell-
tower were transformed in 1894 when two new bells were purchased.
The earliest bell bears the date 1423.

DAMJANA PECNIK
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Gorenji Mokronog: Archaeological Site 509147
Location ~ Gorenji Mokronog
Time of origin ~ from 6th or 7th centuries
Time of restoration 1999
Chief Conservator ~ Urod Bavec and assistants Dr. Andrej Pleterski and Tomaz Golob
Visits:  Access from the village of Trebelno or from Mokronog, or along a some-
what longer route from Smarjeske Toplice through Male Strmice and
Velike Strmice.

There are few places in Slovenia as vividly rooted in the oral tradi-
tion as Gorenji Mokronog in the central Dolenjska region. Rather
than describing it as an archaeological site, it would be better to de-
note it with the expression “mythical landscape”, since archaeological
sites, sacred monuments, written sources and oral traditions are indi-
visibly connected, rendering the landscape a touch of olden times.'
The landscape can be divided into three parts that are worthy of atten-
tion: the so-called Vrajk with a cemetery from late Antiquity, the area
of the former castle Gorenji Mokronog as a settlement and the only
still discernible part, and the sacred area with an ossarium and the
church of St. Peter.

Vrajk or Vrajski Breg is a dialect form of the genitive case of the
Slovene phrase ‘v raju’ (‘in paradise’). The old word “paradise”, i.e.
Christian Heaven, indicated for the pagans a country where the souls
of the righteous resided. The antiques excavator, Jernej Pe¢nik, who
was active in this area in the last third of the 1gth century, recorded
the discovery of “strange graves built up of stone slabs and very simi-
lar to Roman graves” in the “Perko estate”. Oral tradition indicated
the existence of an early Christian timber church located in the vicin-
ity. A visit to the near-by sand quarry where human bones have been
discovered for years, incited the Institute for the Protection of the
Natural and Cultural Heritage of Novo Mesto to make some trial pits
in 1996. The result was the discovery of the south-eastern border of a
damaged skeleton burial-ground from late Antiquity with sixteen pre-
served graves, two partly preserved ones and two completely de-
stroyed ones. Traces of twelve holes for props were discovered in the
plain above the burial-ground, which indicated the existence of a
small circular wooden building. The notion of an early Christian
wooden church expressed in oral traditions seemed very probable.
Unique and decayed artefacts contained in the graves typical of the
turn of the 6th or beginning of the 7th century, indicated a self-
sufficient and isolated community. That was the period when the pa-
gan, Slavonic-speaking inhabitants of Carinthia (i.e. the historic pre-
decessor of Slovenia) already enthroned their first dukes. The author-
ity of the Byzantines as heirs of the centuries-old Roman Empire was

1 Acknowledgement is due to Franc Hotevar, sexton and village chronicler,
who kindly related the oral tradition to the author. For a more detailed
analysis as to the meaning of the data see Bavec 1999, pp. 231-245.

<« Chapel of St. Michael: “Between 1335 and 1372, the Lords of Scharfenberg of the near-by
Gorenji Mokronog castle had the vault embellished with cross ribs.”
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contracted to the province of Liburnia Tarsaticensis (present-day
Istria with the Quarnero islands in Croatia, and perhaps even a part
of the Bela Krajina region in Slovenia). The central area of Slovene
ethnic territory was left over to the ingenuity of sparse groups of the
remaining native inhabitants — Wallachians. A typical pair of basket-
shaped ear-rings executed in bronze, discovered in two individual
graves, not in a single one, testified to that period. The grave of a
woman over forty years old contained a unique form of such an ear-
ring on the right side of her head, while another, younger woman

Ear-rings, baby’s rattles:
"Unique and worn out
artefacts contained in the
graves, typical of the turn
of the 6th or beginning of
the 7th century, indicated
a self-sufficient and iso-
lated community.”

wore a bad local imitation of the Byzantine ribbed form of such an
earring on her left side. Was it a peculiarity of the local garb or
merely a simple consequence of modest means? Some finds indi-
cated nothing by themselves, e.g. two carefully polished, pierced frag-
ments of goblets from late Antiquity. However, with the additional
information of the fragments having been used as baby’s rattles and
laid in the arms of a four-or five-year-old child, a vivid picture of dis-
tant grief was revived. The anthropological study by Leben-Seljak pre-
sented the lives of those people indicating that most of them died at
the so-called adultus 11 age (30 to 40 years), and nobody from the trial
pits surpassed the maturus 11 age (50 to 6o years). Badly healed frac-
tures of bones and arthritis at an early stage were discernible from
the skeletons, with additional traces of heavy burdens having been
carried by women on their heads. Even some family ties could have
been discovered indicated by the aquiline form of noses in the case of
two men. The deceased were laid in the sunrise direction, according
to Christian tradition, and they were buried in shallow holes with no
grave architecture indicated in the above-mentioned report by Pecnik.
The question of what was cut through by the forest road addition-
ally incited the protective surveys in the area of the Gorenji
Mokronog castle (Obernassenfuss in German). The ruins of the former
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castle first recorded in written documents as early as 1137 are still dis-
cernible on the wooded crest between the two tributaries of the brook
Laknica. It used to be one of the most important castles in the
Dolenjska region. When the lower castle was erected in the present
Mokronog, the earlier castle was gradually denominated with the ad-
jective Gorenji (‘upper’).” Protective excavations begun in 1996 partly
surveyed the tower in the forecourt of the castle in question. With the
support of the Institute of Archaeology of the Scientific Research
Centre of the Slovene Academy of Arts and Sciences (zrc sazu) in

“The forecourt was also walled in and fortified with a deep moat to the south. Traces of
walls, defence turrets and stone-built castle buildings of unknown purpose were discov-

ered on the eastern and western sides.”

1998 and 1999, the settlement area was chronologically and partly
functionally defined by means of a series of 78 manual excavations
(in an intensive sub-surface survey) and some non-destructive meth-
ods like the execution of a digital model of the relief and the geo-
physical measurements of the area (geoelectrical charting and the use
of georadar). The surveys revealed that the prehistoric fort on the top
of the crest was the first to come into being. Remnants of the edge of
a rampart on the south-eastern and north-eastern sides were still
slightly discernible, while the northern side was probably never in-
cluded due to the steep, almost precipitous slope. The village of
Wallachians buried on the hill of Vrajski Breg came into being on a
hidden and somewhat more graded north-eastern slope at the turn of
the 6th or in the 7th century. It seemed that the village was deserted
in the period between the 7th and gth centuries; wooden houses were
at least partly burned. Four early Mediaeval settlement terraces were
entrenched in the crest to the north of the fort. The old Wallachian
refuge was thus not entirely forgotten and was again occasionally in-
habited during the dramatic period of Hungarian incursions at the

2 Acknowledgement is due to Andrej Pleterski, who kindly related the infor-
mation of the earliest written record of the castle to the author.
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turn of the gth and beginning of the 1oth century. The construction
of the castle tower on the top of the crest largely destroyed traces of
the earlier settlement. The tower was divided from the level of the
forecourt by a moat. The forecourt was also walled in and fortified
with a deep moat to the south. Traces of walls, defence turrets and
stone-built castle buildings of unknown purpose were discovered on
the eastern and western sides. The only partly excavated and pre-
sented archaeological remnant was the defence tower by the southern
entrance to the forecourt.

“The only partly excavated and presented archaeological remnant was the defence tower
by the southern entrance to the forecourt.”

The sacred area consisted of the church of St. Peter and an
ossarium with the chapel of St. Michael. The church basically origi-
nated from the 12th century; a small Romanesque window was pre-
served from that time. Surveys employing georadar indicated the
remnants of earlier floor plan structures. A minor archaeological ex-
cavation performed next to the northern side of the church in 1998
discovered 34 graves; all the grave holes were indinstinct or dug
through, despite very careful excavations. An interesting change in
the orientation of burials was discovered: from the traditional (east-
west) to the subsequent orientation “facing the church”, which was to
take place at the beginning of the 16th century, in view of the articles
in the graves (holy images, coins). In 1780 the burial-ground was
moved to Trebelno. The earliest phase of the graves was at least partly
older than the southern wall of the church nave located on one of the
graves. The ossarium from the 12th century was located in the steep
hill above the church. The Romanesque rotunda was concluded by a
lower, semi-circular apse on the south-eastern side. The lower part of
the building contained bones discovered when new graves were dug
up, while the upper part comprised the chapel of St. Michael. Be-
tween 1335 and 1372, the Lords of Scharfenberg of the near-by Gorenji
Mokronog castle had the vault embellished with cross ribs supported
by cube-shaped consoles with obliquely truncated sides. The model
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for the design of the vault was the parish church of Svibno.

The conservation works in Gorenji Mokronog can be divided into
two phases: the survey and the conservation with a presentation of
the remnants. The above-mentioned results of archaeological surveys
executed on the cemetery of Vrajski Breg from late Antiquity, Gorenji
Mokronog castle and the church of St. Peter, facilitated the execution
of the foundations for the scheduling of buildings as monuments.
The idea was initiated to create an archaeological route along the for-
est path with the presentation of the ruins of the partly excavated

Chapel of St. Michael as seen by K. Grefe at the turn of the century in the Old Camiola album.

tower in the forecourt of the castle. The basic rule was to preserve the
authenticity and durability of the excavated walls. Larger quarry stones
from the layer of the ruins, separated in the process of excavation, were
used for that purpose. It was still possible to trace the Romanesque
manner of construction on the partly damaged external side with the
use of lime mortar and some added white cement. The crown of the
wall was somewhat heightened and slanted in order to drain rain-wa-
ters. For the purposes of drainage in the interior, the original walkway
was protected by a membrane and drainage fill (of gravel and sand) on
a thin levelling layer of foundation concrete slanting towards the drain-
age pipe. Additional layers of felt and sod were laid on it in order to
ensure easy maintenance. The foundations, built very firmly and
deeply into the decayed dolomite sandstone, facilitated the solution of
problems of frost and erosion in the interior of the tower.

Preliminary archaeological trial pits were made by the southern
wall of the church of St. Peter primarily due to renovation works. [n
the recent past, the problems of pressure of earth layers and humidity
on that wall were tackled by means of a stone-built supporting “dry
wall” erected along the entire southern side of the church. The wall
had to be temporarily removed for the excavation by the southern
facade. After the execution of drainage and insulation of the filled sec-
tions, the original condition of the wall was restored and the repairs
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were continued. The same held true for the rotunda; the problem of
vandalism was solved by fitting a metal grate over the entrance.

The establishment of the archaeological route with four information
boards was accomplished in cooperation with a utility company from
Trebnje; clearing the undergrowth, physically building the trail and re-
moving illegal refuse pits and sand quarries would have been a difficult
problem to solve without their assistance. Acknowledgement is due to
the company that is to regularly maintain the trail in the future.

The information boards containing the basic data on individual

“The lower part of the
building contained bones
discovered when new
graves were dug up, while
the upper part comprised
the chapel of St.
Michael.”

sights are written in English and Slovene. The first one contains an
overview of the trail and is located at the car park. The second one is
erected at the location of the Vrajski Breg cemetery dating from late
Antiquity. The excavated part is to be covered with grass and marked
in the future. The route leads through a forest to the third board by
the renovated tower, and the final board was erected by the entrance
to the church area of the Church of St. Peter with the chapel of St.
Michael. Different shades of colours used on the boards indicate
different features (e.g. red — the colour of the dead). More informa-
tion is contained in a leaflet that is about to be published in English
and Slovene.

UROS BAVEC
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The Dominko House iwn145
Location  Goridnica
Address  Goridnica 12
Time of origin ~ from 18th century
Time of restoration  1997-1998
Chief Conservator  |elka Skalicky
Visits  Visitors are requested to contact the Municipality of Gori3nica by
T: (02) 743 11 10.

The village of Gorisnica, also called Sveta Marjeta (St. Margaret),
is located in the Ptujsko Polje plain, between Ptuj and OrmoZ. The
southern edge is delineated by the steep ridge of Haloze, while the
northern edge ends in the hilly area of Slovenske Gorice. The
Dominko house is situated slightly off the main road, protected from
busy traffic. A brook prone to flooding used to flow behind the house.
After regulation of the River Pesnica it dried out so that the former
bed is only occasionally filled with water during heavy rain. The pond
behind the house is the only reminder of the former water meadow,
apart from countless snowdrops blooming beneath the old alder trees
in spring-time. The old house beckons of times filled with joyful
sound of children playing. Numerous generations passed through the
house. An old document was discovered during cleaning works at the
beginning of renovation: it was written in the office of Count Ignaz
Maria von Attems in 1824 confirming that Jozef and Marija Golob,

;Tl; 1 J

A Floor plan of the Dominko house: “The house is an L-shaped building consisting of a
residential part and an outhouse.” (Scale: s5mm =1m)

< “An old shed for maize of a matching type was erected at the location of the original
shed, and another old wicker shed of the variety described by local inhabitants was lo-
cated next to it."
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subjects of the Dominion of Gornji Ptuj from Sobetinci, sold the croft
in Gori&nica to Jurij Krajnc from Gorinica, subject of the Dominion of
Zamoégek. The Krajnc family have resided in the house to the present.
The house is an L-shaped building consisting of a residential part
and an outhouse. The building has a timber construction with simple
roof consoles. It is plastered with clay plaster and whitewashed with
lime. The parapet wall is painted in dark grey. The ridged roof with
gables is thatched. Broad eaves cover the walkway serving as a com-
munication route between the residential part and the outhouse. The

The renovated Dominko farm: “The Dominko house is situated slightly apart from the
main road, protected from busy traffic.”

southern, front side of the house is bi-axial, with a wooden gable of
the hayloft with ventilation slots. The entrance to the house is in the
corner of the western side, The windows used to be protected with
iron crosses and furnished with shutters. Entrances to the outhouses
are in the southern side of the building. The large folding door lead-
ing to the barn has timber hinges.

The distribution of rooms in the house is typical: the hall and the
so-called ‘black kitchen” (without a chimney on the vault over the fire-
place, so that smoke passed freely to the attic; hence the name ‘black
kitchen’) in the centre, the main residential part, the so-called
‘house’, to the right, and the chamber and larder to the left. The out-
houses consist of the grain cellar, barn, stable, cellar and a workshop.

The Dominko house has undergone no major transformations,
with the exception of the renovation in the second half of the 1gth
century. New, larger windows with shutters and a new entrance door
were built in at that time, and the former open barn in the outhouse
was closed with a folding door. The renovation revealed a former
door in place of the present kitchen window. That used to be the
shortest way to the grain cellar. The hall was paved with brick and the
access route along the house with river cobbles or cat’s heads. The
workshop originated from the same period and was erected for the
purpose of the renovation. The bread oven was renovated in 1934 when
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the dilapidated tiles were replaced with new ones. The wooden ledge in
front of the fireplace in the ‘black kitchen’ was removed in 1945 and
replaced with a concrete one, and a wooden floor was laid in the house.
Electrical wiring was installed in the house in subsequent year.
Katarina Nemec, the last proprietor who spent her entire life
there, maintained the house with care and kept its original appear-
ance and furnishings. She was helped by her daughter with her hus-
band, who built a house of their own in the vicinity. Katarina was
over ninety, and her daughter always found time to look after the old

“The well in front of the
house that was filled in
before the Second World
War was dug out again
and renovated.”

house. She painted the windows, repaired the plasterwork and saw
that the roof was regularly mended. The thatched roof was completely
renovated with the funding of the Republic of Slovenia and the Mu-
nicipality of Ptuj at the beginning of the 199os. The proprietor died
soon after the renovation, and the house with the estate was inherited
by her son who, regrettably, did not share her attitude towards heri-
tage. He locked the house and left it to the ravages of time, not even
permitting the most basic maintenance works. The house dilapi-
dated, the roof leaked badly and the surroundings became increas-
ingly neglected.

The two-year renovation was initiated at the beginning of 1997
when the house was successfully purchased. The starting-point of the
renovation was to preserve the house as it was, since it underwent no
major transformations in the past. The house was cleaned and all the
fittings, furniture and other artefacts were catalogued and numbered.
Their locations were precisely marked on a plan to facilitate their re-
location after the renovation. The foundation of the house was rotten,
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therefore it was strengthened with waterproofing. The timber frames
were partly damaged; the clay plasterwork had to be removed inside
and outside the house in order to ascertain the damage. The forms of
the original square window and the door in the kitchen were revealed
on the eastern facade during the process and a square window next to
the entrance door on the western facade. The dilapidated parts of the
timber construction were replaced and the collapsed grain cellar on
the northern side of the building was reconstructed. The roof of the
outhouse was damaged by humidity and was therefore replaced. The

‘Black kitchen': “The
vaulted ‘black kitchen’
contained the fireplace
with all the necessary uten-
sils and old pots. The oak
ledge in front of the fire-
place was intended for iron
pots and earthenware.”

construction of the roof was entirely renovated, including the timber
chimney, and the roof was thatched anew. The variety of timber
matching the dilapidated parts was utilized in the process, and it was
hewn in the same manner. The house was roughcast with clay plas-
ter, the clay being mixed with chaff and cut up straw, and it was
manually applied and smoothed, thus matching the original proce-
dure of roughcasting. The building was whitewashed with lime and
the parapet wall was painted in grey with a mixture of lime and soot.
The walkway was made of trodden clay and paved with river cobbles
in the western and southern parts; the cobbles had to be removed
while strengthening the foundation of the house.

The interior was completely refurbished as well. The new clay
roughcast was whitewashed with lime. New floors were made of trod-
den earth and the brick paving in the ‘house’ was renovated. Timber
ceilings were coated with protective varnish while the entirely pre-
served windows and doors were merely cleaned.

After the renovation, the rooms in the residential part of the
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house and in the outhouse were furnished with the preserved fittings
and furniture dating from various periods of time. The vaulted ‘black
kitchen' contained the fireplace with all the necessary utensils and
old pots. The oak ledge in front of the fireplace was intended for iron
pots and earthenware, a water stand was located in the corner and a
bowl stand hung on the wall. The house with a finely made, simple
timber ceiling was furnished with a bread oven featuring a colourful
pattern on the tiles and with old furniture: a wardrobe, a chest of
drawers and a bed; sometimes there were two of them or an addi-

“The ‘house’ with a finely made, simple timber ceiling was furnished with a bread oven
featuring a colourful pattern on the tiles and with old furniture: a wardrobe, a chest of

drawers and a bed.”

tional bed beneath one of them to be extended in the evening for chil-
dren. A hanger was fixed on the wall behind the door, and there was
a table with a bench opposite to the oven. A crucifix was hung in the
corner above the table with religious images around it, and a house
altar was placed on the chest of drawers. The closet intended for the
retired farmers was furnished with a wardrobe, a bed and a chest.
There used to be a typical Pannonian chest with a geometrical pattern
that is now kept in the museum in Ptuj. Before the electrical wiring
was installed in 1945, oil lamps were used for lighting, or even car-
bide lamps and wax candles.

The outhouse was furnished as it was in the past: with various
farming tools, machinery and equipment, a rack wagon, wine barrels,
joiner’s tools and an old joiner’s bench.

The outhouse consisted of a grain cellar, barn, stable, cellar and a
joiner’s workshop. The barn housed the wagon and farming machin-
ery and tools. Produce stored for the winter was temporarily kept
there in the autumn; onions to be sold were dried on the roofing.
Various tasks were performed in the barn as well: maize was husked,
straw was prepared for thatching, grain was winnowed and corn
thrashed. In bad weather, the barn was utilized for further tasks: the
cleaning of cabbage, cutting of beet, etc. The hayrack was in the
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stable. There also used to be two cows and several hens. Stores for
the winter were kept in the cellar, and the tools were stored there as
well: hoes, rakes, shovels and picks as well as the cow-collar. A wine
barrel was not to be missed.

Two small boards that were used for drying cheese cut into small
cones still jut out of the finely shaped slots in the front gable. A lat-
ticed closet for drying sausages and ham intended for meals on great
festivals was located in the attic. A rod for hanging seed maize was
hung beneath the eaves.

“A series of successful
initiatives has taken place
there in order to revive
the otherwise lifeless

museum.”

The landscaping of the surroundings took place simultaneously
with the renovation of the house. An old shed for maize of a match-
ing type was erected at the location of the original shed that was re-
moved by the heir of the house. Additionally, another old wicker shed
of the variety described by local inhabitants was located next to it.

The allotment was reconstructed according to oral communica-
tion: a kitchen garden with a fence, fruit trees and trellis-work for
vines. The trellis-work for fruit and the wooden fence were recon-
structed corresponding to old photographs. The well in front of the
house that was filled in before the Second World War was dug out
again and renovated. The pond was also dug out and planted with
water-plants. A wooden footbridge was constructed over the pond
behind the house, reminiscent of the original one that led to the
fields while the brook was still there.

A series of pigsties and a wooden toilet that were located to the
west of the house according to information passed by word of mouth
are still to be reconstructed. Once the fruit trees planted instead of
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the original plum, apple, cherry and pear trees grow, the proper ap-
pearance of the Dominko house will be completely revived.

A neat board by the road indicates that the Dominko house is the
pride of the neighbourhood at present. A series of successful initia-
tives has taken place there in order to revive the otherwise lifeless
museum. A chance traveller passing through Gorisnica in December
1996, when the renovation was merely begun, encountered an un-
usual scene: the meadow in front of the house was full of fairy-tale
creatures — the skillful work of the drawing master from the
Goriénica school and his pupils. Impressively lit by night, the statu-
ettes were an invitation to fairy-tale sessions taking place in the
house. Furthermore, numerous other events took place there in the
years to follow, during the extensive renovation works. A traditional
wedding was staged there in springtime, old crafts were presented, a
potter’s workshop was held, maize was husked in the autumn and
several old customs were revived so that the competitions resounded
with laughter. An exhibition of home-made Christmas cribs was pre-
pared by children. An impersonated Christmas crib was staged there
during the year. In that way, numerous events associated with the
time of the year have taken place at the Dominko house.

Originally the house of a minor peasant, the Dominko house has
acquired a new purpose, which is of particular importance since it
represents one of the few entirely preserved buildings of the tradi-
tional rural timber architecture of the 18th century. It is a unique
model of a Pannonian corner (1-shaped) house with preserved sur-
roundings in Slovenia.

JELKA SKALICKY
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Church of Sts. Hermagoras and Fortunatus 152

Location
Time of origin
Time of restoration

Gornji Grad
18th century
1970-1997

Chief Conservator ~ Anka Askerc and assistants Ivo Gri¢ar, Bogdan Badovinac, Momo Vukovi¢,

Visits

Albin Ambrozi¢ and |anez Kovadi¢
Visitors have to be booked in advance in the parish office.

Gornji Grad as the seat of the original parish was in possession of
a parish church even before the establishment of the Benedictine
monastery in 1140. No traces were discovered so far of the original
pre-Romanesque church; the friars must have pulled it down with
certainty and erected a new monastic church by the year 1209, Al-
though archaeological investigations that could render valuable data
about the appearance of the former Benedictine monastery have not
been carried out yet, the image of a three-nave Romanesque basilica
was reconstructed by experts on the basis of written documents, pre-
served masonry details and relevant comparisons. Even less is known
about the rest of the monastic buildings; some preserved masonry
details indicate that the stone-built cloister replaced the original tim-
ber one in the second half of the 13th century. The original semi-cir-
cular apse was probably replaced by a higher Gothic presbytery with a
turret — discernible in the depiction by Vischer from 1681 — as early
as the 14th century. The monastery was assigned to the diocese of
Ljubljana in 1461 and dissolved in 1473.

The bishops of Ljubljana set up their residence in Gornji Grad.
The complex underwent the greatest transformation in the period of
bishop Kristof Ravbar (1493-1536), who had a manor built in front of
the facade of the church, and the entire complex surrounded by walls,
defence towers and a moat in 1517. The northern entrance tower, the
so-called Stekl, was erected somewhat later, in the period of bishop
Konrad Glusic¢ (1571-1578). The industrious period of bishop Tomaz
Hren, otherwise documented in written sources, is indicated by his
coat of arms installed on the southern wing of the manor. The image
of the then Gornji Grad is best presented in the copper engraving by
Vischer. The four-sided bishop's manor is located in front of the
monastery with the church and it surrounds the court containing the
well. Only three defence towers are preserved: the round one on the
southern side, the mighty Stekl of two storeys, and the rectangular
tower called Kajha to the east of Stekl with Gothic architectural ele-
ments that are still preserved, despite its transformed appearance.

Bishop Ernest Amadeus Attems (1743-1757) initiated a thorough and
extensive Baroque renovation of the complex in the middle of the 18th
century. The church was pulled down together with most of the sur-
rounding walls; only the bell-tower from the r7th century was preserved.
The bishop's residence was transformed in the Baroque spirit as well.

< “The exterior is moderately divided by means of pilasters, with special emphasis on the
richly divided facade, concave in the central area.”
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A new church was erected at the location of the former one in
1752: a hall-shaped building with side chapels, a lateral nave, a two-
sided presbytery and an oval dome above the intersection. A chapel
with the Holy Week commemorative altar was located on the north-
ern side, next to the presbytery, and the vestry with an oratory above
it on the southern side of the presbytery. The interior of the church
was most vividly described by Stegensek saying that a typical trait of
the floor plan was “the avoidance of any extended straight line”
(Stegensek, 1905). The exterior was more moderately divided by

Cathedral of Gornji Grad: “Bishop Ernest Amadeus Attems (1743-1757) initiated a thor-
ough and extensive Baroque renovation of the complex in the middle of the 18th century.”

J

means of pilasters, with special emphasis on the richly divided fa-
cade, concave in the central area, decorated with statues by JoZef
Straub: the statues impersonating Faith, Hope and Love at the con-
clusion of the facade, and that of St. Nicholas in a niche.

The construction of the church was directed by Matija Perski,
while the plan is attributed by some authors to architect Josef Hueber
from Graz.

Altars were reduced to frames containing paintings. The outstand-
ing four: Birth, Last Supper, Resurrection and Ascension were the
work of Martin Johann Schmidt from 1773-75, while the rest were
made by Leopold Layer (the painting of the Virgin Mary with Sts.
Hermagoras and Fortunatus in the great altar) and Pavel Kiihnl.

A series of Renaissance tombs is kept in the church including out-
standing works by sculptor Osbald Kitell: the altar of St. Andrew
(1527) and the tomb-stones of bishop Ravbar (1527) and army com-
mander Kacjanar (ca. 1540).

The screen of the Holy Week commemorative altar in the north
chapel is dated 1863. At that time, the presbytery of the church was
painted by Tomaz Fantoni and Jakob Brollo; Emilijan Cevc presumes
that the Holy Week commemorative altar was painted by them as well.

The Renaissance manor was replaced by a mighty two-storey Ba-
roque building with an irregular pentagonal floor plan that is open on
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the northern side. Regrettably, the manor has not been entirely pre-
served; it was burnt in the Second World War and removed after it,
with the exception of the southern part. The former appearance of the
building can only be reconstructed on the basis of photographs and the
existing wing. The shallow rustified ground floor of the courtyard fa-
cades was ornamented with arcades and divided from the upper floors
by a profiled projection, while the floors were connected by means of
pilasters. The windows were connected with tables and the fronts were
divided and more ornately formed on the first floor. According to the

Barogue facade of the church; “The con-
struction of the church was directed by
Matija Perski, while the plan is attributed by
some authors to architect josef Hueber
from Graz.”

photographs examined so far, the external facades were less divided,
while the four central axes of the northern entrance wing were more
emphasized. The former interior of the manor is more of a riddle. Few
old photographs and pre-war documents testify to its magnificence.
Fran Kocbek described it: “The present castle is very large; it comprises
a splendid apartment for the bishop with a chapel, maintenance
rooms, the district court of law, tax office, recording office, a three-class
primary school, and apartments for priests, the steward and some
clerks. The great hall is distinguished by its Italian fireplaces and a
huge allegory with mythological images on the ceiling depicting
‘Carniolia’ as bowing to the bishop of Ljubljana and holding the plan of
the castle in her hand...” (¥. k., 1894, 2226, 55-59). The preserved
records’ have not been thoroughly analysed yet.

The entire complex of the bishop's residence was partly demol-
ished after the war and partly fell into decay. The major part was
transformed into flats of a rather low standard, which caused the
gradual destruction of what was left after the arson. Individual build-
ings are regaining more appropriate functions like the Stekl as the
place of the local museum collection. Conservation works in 1970 and
in past years corrected some of the ill-suited after-war interventions.

1 In addition to quoted literature: “Na sedanjem domu vladike Antona
Bonaventure”, llustrirani Slovenec, vii, 216—217, Ljubljana 1931. A large
collection of postcards and other documents is kept by Janez Mavri¢ from
Gornji Grad and in the library in Celje.
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The appearance of the cathedral of Gornji Grad some twenty years
ago was very poor since the maintenance of such a complex was be-
yond the abilities of the inhabitants of Gornji Grad. The roofs leaked,
the plaster was falling off, the interior was neglected, and the tombs
on the southern wall of the nave and the stonecut elements were de-
caying. Only the paintings by Kremser-Schmidt were renovated for
the exhibition prepared by the National Gallery in Ljubljana.

Valuable tombs were moved inside the church at the beginning of
the 1970s. They are not appropriately presented at the present loca-

View of the interior: “Trial
boreholes on the exterior
and interior revealed that
the church was not
painted or shaded in sev-
eral colours, despite
some conjectures.”

tion, therefore a new one is to be found within the complex in the
future. The altar of St. Andrew was set up in a glazed niche beneath
the staircase leading to the rectory, which seems to be the best solu-
tion at present.

Intense renovation works could only have begun after 1985. The
roofs were mended, the frescoes in the presbytery renovated, a new
facade was made on the church, and the interior was whitewashed.
The works posed no major conservation dilemmas. The decision was
taken to use historical materials and quality execution was insisted
on, which was not always easy since the exceptional size of the
church occasioned very high costs.

The roofs were the first to be repaired: the covering remained un-
changed while the dome was covered with shingles, the rest of the
roofs with tiles, and the gutters were made from copper.

Trial boreholes on the exterior and interior revealed that the
church was not painted or shaded in several colours, despite some
conjectures. The presbytery was the only exception: it was painted in
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the 1gth century. In spite of differing opinions, the decision prevailed
to preserve the painting.

The renovation of the facade included the well preserved stone
statues by Straub.

The severest problem of the restoration concerned the stone-built
part of the western facade, the parapet walls on the exterior and inte-
rior of the church and the stone-built stairs in front of the altars and
the presbytery. All these parts were made of indigenous stone — tuff
of varying quality. In some places the material was well preserved,
while it was utterly decayed in others.

The original intention to replace the dilapidated stone could not
be executed since no appropriate stone was found, not even by per-
forming geological surveys. The dilapidated parts were therefore re-
moved as far as the base was ‘stable’, and they were subsequently re-
placed by artificial stone. Special attention was paid to the precision
of execution and to the shade of the material.

The Holy Week commemorative altar, one of the rare examples of
that variety in Slovenia, was damaged beyond repair. The renovation
works were performed in the period between 1992 and 1993.

The renovation of the church has not been completed yet. Apart
from some minor tasks, e.g. the restoration of the painting by
Leopold Layer from the great altar, an appropriate solution has to be
found for the paving since some fragments of the original stone pav-
ing executed in tuff were discovered beneath the present, rather di-
lapidated tessellated paving from the 19th century. The exchange of
paving presents an opportunity for archaeological investigation, by
means of which some earlier, mediaeval stages of the construction
could be revealed.

No systematic archaeological investigation has been performed so
far, not even of a non-destructive variety, although experts were
tempted to execute them in anticipation of important discoveries ren-
dered probable by the rich historical heritage of Gornji Grad. Priority
was due to the renovation of the existing buildings, and further inves-
tigations were postponed to a more favourable future.

The church and individual defence towers have been renovated to
a large extent, while the bishop’s manor still awaits restoration with a
possible reconstruction of individual parts, which would facilitate the
presentation of the complex.

ANKA ASKERC
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Location

Church of St. Peter w211

Kamni vrh near Ambrus

Time of origin ~ 15th, 17th and 18th centuries

Time of restoration

1987-1999

Chief Conservator  Alenka Zeleznik and assistants Mojca Torkar, Restoration Centre of the Re-

public of Slovenia

Visits  The church is closed; the key is kept by church warden Hrovat, Kamni Vrh 6.

The succursal church of St. Peter is located on a scenic hill called
Strazarjev Vrh, soom above sea-level, not far from the settlement
Kamni Vrh near Ambrus. The succursal church is an important
Gothic monument, not curtailed by Baroque renovation, but rather
enriched with outstanding Baroque church ornamentation.

The rectangular nave is concluded by a Gothic pointed portal on
the western facade. The side entrance with its rectangular stone por-
tal on the southern side and the rectangular window with a stone
frame at the axis of the northern side all date from the period of Ba-
roque renovation. A three-sided, somewhat narrower presbytery with
three narrow, slightly pointed windows was added to the nave on the
eastern side. The rectangular windows on the northern and southern
walls dated from the Baroque period. A massive bell-tower was added
to the western side of the nave. The square base of the bell-tower with
three semi-circular openings was extended to an octagonal form with
four biphoras (mullioned windows) in the upper part. The Baroque
cap of the bell-tower was covered with shingles similarly to the nave
and the presbytery.

The exterior of the church is modest. With the exception of the
fresco of St. Peter with the inscription Hic pEUM above the side por-
tal on the southern wall, there are no decorative elements on the fa-
cade, otherwise typical of Gothic succursal churches in Slovenia.

Dr. Ivan Komelj dated the beginning of the church as belonging
to the first half of the 15th century, while the relatively short
presbytery, the absence of the floor base of the presbytery and the
form of the ribs typical of the early Gothic period all indicate the pos-
sibility of an even earlier construction.

In contrast to the exterior, the interior of the church is richly
marked with distinctive features of the Gothic and Baroque periods,
the outstanding styles in Slovenia that create the harmonious unity of
the church.

The presbytery is vaulted with ribbed arches. The ribs are trun-
cated on both sides and concluded by indistinct consoles. More com-
mon mouldings are replaced with circular discs. The vault is divided
by the ribs into seven fields.

The entire presbytery and the triumphal arch wall are covered
with frescoes by Janez of Ljubljana. The frescoes dated with the year
1459 are the final and, simultaneously, best known work of that mas-
ter. The frescoes are characterized by a clear and stern concept. Sym-

< “The entire presbytery and the triumphal arch wall are covered with frescoes by Janez of

Ljubljana.”
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bols of the Evangelists are depicted in two fields of the vault, Christ
the Redeemer is presented in the field of the conclusive wall, and a
kneeling angel in the field next to it, while the rest of the fields are
filled with floral ornaments. A portrait thought to be of the master is
painted on an acanthus leaf in the field next to the Redeemer. The
triangular conclusion of the eastern wall contains the Virgin Mary
with Child, while images of Sts. Margaret, Catherine, Barbara and
Dorothea are depicted in the remaining fields. The central section of
the presbytery levelled with the height of the windows is painted with

Dilapidated roof of
the bell-tower: “The
utterly decayed roof
construction and
covering of the Ba-
roque cap of the
bell-tower were
replaced in that
year (i.e. 1987).”

images of the Apostles, while the lower part beneath the windows is
covered with a painted curtain. The eastern wall of the triumphal
arch is painted with an image of the Annunciation and images of Sts.
Magdalen and John the Baptist. The inside of the triumphal arch is
painted with images of Sts. Ursula and Helen, apart from floral orna-
ments. Fragments are preserved on the western side of the triumphal
arch depicting an unknown female figure in a Gothic frame, Abel
with an angel in the background and St. Jacob in a Gothic frame on
the southern side of the triumphal arch. The inner jambs of Gothic
windows are painted with floral ornaments. The fragment preserved
on the northern side of the triumphal arch indicates that the
presbytery was painted before the painting by Janez of Ljubljana.

The nave is covered with a flat wooden coffered ceiling. The
coffers are of hexagonal and square forms and of a natural colour.
Passion flowers are painted in the middle of square coffers in black
and white and with central fretted rosettes. Dr. Natada Golob dated
the ceiling as belonging to the second half of the 17th century.
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Apart from the wooden ceiling, the rest of the church ornamenta-
tion is executed in the Baroque style as well. The main altar conse-
crated to St. Peter is dated 1660. It is a typical example of early
golden altars in Slovenia, its base being covered with cartilaginous
ornaments enriched with berry-shaped decorations. The southern
side altar consecrated to St. Lawrence, dated with 1709, is still made
according to old architectural rules while indicating new elements of
the mature Baroque style with the use of spiral columns. The north-
ern side altar is presented by the painting of St. Apollonia in a rich

Church of St. Peter after the renovation: “The succursal church is an important Gothic
monument, not curtailed by Baroque renovation...”

Baroque frame dated 1710. The harmony of the church is completed
by a Baroque wooden pulpit with images of the four Evangelists
framed with rich floral ornaments.

The first improvement works on the succursal church were per-
formed in 1973 and 1974, when the Regional Institute for the Protec-
tion of the Natural and Cultural Heritage of Ljubljana replaced the
utterly decayed wooden roof covering above the nave and presbytery,
thus preventing further damage to the architecture, painting and or-
namentation of the church. After that intervention the works had
been interrupted for over a decade.

In 1987 the church was again listed among the so-called sched-
uled monument campaigns funded by the state and the municipality.
The improvement works were directed by architect Spela Valentinéi¢
Jurkovi¢. The utterly decayed roof construction and covering of the
Baroque cap of the bell-tower were replaced in that year, and the tie
against earthquakes was executed under the directions of structural
engineer Ribnikar.

In the period between 1989 and 1991, the coffered ceiling was
dismantled, renovated in the studio and subsequently fitted again on
the newly made ceiling that additionally functioned as a floor. The
exterior of the church was renovated simultaneously.

Restoration works were performed primarily in 1992. Restorators
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under the guidance of Professor Bogovci¢ made trial boreholes on the
surrounds of the nave and the triumphal arch wall. Paintings were
discovered beneath the secondary layers of plasterwork and white-
wash on the triumphal arch wall, while none were detected on the
surrounds of the nave. The badly damaged fresco of St. Peter above
the side entrance was renovated in the process of restoration of the
interior of the church. After the trial boreholes on the surrounds, the
dilapidated plasterwork was removed and replaced by a new one. The
side altar of St. Apollonia was moved to the studio of the Restoration

“The southern side altar
consecrated to St.
Lawrence, dated with
1709, is still made accord-
ing to old architectural
rules...”

Centre of the Republic of Slovenia.

The restoration of the painting by Janez of Ljubljana in the
presbytery and on the triumphal arch wall was continued in 1993.
After the removal of the whitewash containing the newly discovered
floral and figurative ornaments on the inner side of the triumphal
arch, other endangered painted parts were preventively protected.
Empty surfaces on the triumphal arch wall and in the presbytery,
where the painting was ruined when the secondary windows were
made, were coated with appropriately shaded plaster.

The windows in the nave and the presbytery were replaced in
1994, after further restoration works executed on the frescoes.

New paving in the church was laid in 1996. The traditional floor
screed that was damaged in several parts was removed. It turned out
that four stone slabs located in the centre of the church nave were
parts of a natural rocky terrain and were utilized as sections of pav-
ing. New paving was added to the slabs, matching the original ones
in structure and shade. After the restoration of the paving, the reno-
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vated altar of St. Apollonia was returned to the church. It was not
placed at the original location on account of newly discovered fres-
coes on the triumphal arch wall, but rather by the wall of the nave.

The southern side altar of St. Lawrence was renovated in 1997
and returned to the church with the pulpit that was renovated several
years prior to it. The location of the altar was selected next to that of
St. Apollonia for the same reason.

The main altar of St. Peter was the last to be renovated in the stu-
dio of the Restoration Centre of the Republic of Slovenia in 1998.

View of the church towards the presbytery: “In contrast to the exterior, the interior of the
church is richly marked with distinctive features of the Gothic and Baroque periods, the
outstanding styles in Slovenia that create the harmonious unity of the church.”

The restoration works performed on the frescoes, including the
finalising procedures like retouching, accentuation of colours of the
floral ornaments, reconstruction of the curtain on the lower part of
the presbytery according to the preserved original, and the improve-
ment works of several years were completed in 1999.

An exceptional monument of cultural heritage of Slovenia was
thus restored by means of a comprehensive renovation of the Church
of St. Peter.

ALENKA ZELEZNIK
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Zgornji Hrastnik Partisan Hospital £20273

Lecation
Time of origin
Time of restoration

Koéevski Rog, Komarna Vas
1943-1945
1995-1999

Chief Conservator  Judita Podgornik and assistants JoZe Saje from Dolenjski Regional Museum

as warden

Visits: From 1 April to 30 September, from Monday to Friday from 8.00 to 16.00;

« “Suchahu
have remai

at other times and on Saturdays and Sundays as booked. Opening hours
are valid for guided tours only. For guided tours contact the guide by T:
0609 63 31 54. Visits with no guide are possible at any time.

The Zgornji Hrastnik partisan hospital is located at Bukova
Gorica, to the north-west of the former village of Smreénik inhabited
by the so-called Kocevarji, descendants of German colonists who
settled in Rog in the 14th century and had preserved their language
as an ethnic island for over 400 years. It is the only partisan hospital
in Kocevski Rog that was not built in a sinkhole (i.e. a funnel-shaped
hole occurring in limestone in the Karst region) but on an elevation.
A burial ground with a monument to those who died there is located
near-by, to the north of the hospital. The cemetery is surrounded by a
low stone-built wall and it consists of planned mounds. It was ar-
ranged according to the plan by architect Milo§ Lapajne in 1956.

Access to both the objects is from the roads Komarna Vas—
Smreénik and Komarna Vas—Kocevske Poljane. The branches leading
to the hospital are marked and the paths to the hospital and cemetery
are blazed.

The Zgornji Hrastnik partisan hospital came into being in the
spring of 1943, originally as a temporary secret refuge in case the
hospital of Skrilj located in the Kocevar village of Stale was endan-
gered. When the abandoned village was burnt by the Germans in the
offensive in the autumn of 1943, the wounded remained in Zgornji
Hrastnik (cf. Miléinski, 1965, 420-421).

Originally, the hospital consisted of two buildings constructed for
occasional use. Those were two low, dark huts with bunks for the
wounded, typical examples of huts prevailing in the hospitals of
Kocevski Rog, as described by doctor Miléinski:

“The hut was about 10 m long, up to 7 m wide and 2 to 3 m high.
The roof on both the longer sides reached almost to the ground; there
was a door on one side and a window on the other. The only source of
daylight, except for the window, were slits in the roof. The walls were
made of roughly hewn logs and the roof of shingles. Such a hut, lo-
cated at the bottom of a ravine and covered with pinewood, could really
have remained hidden until you bumped into it” (Mil¢inski 1965, 408).

Bunks were located inside, along the longer sides of the hut. One of
the huts in Zgornji Hrastnik, the so-called kennel, has been preserved
almost unchanged to the present (cf. Miléinski, 1965, 422), while the
other was transformed into a cabin for the personnel of the hospital.

The building material for the hut originated initially from the for-
est. “Pine logs and bark for the huts, pinewood and fern for mat-
tresses. Nails and bricks were collected in burnt villages; an occa-

t, located at the bottom of a ravine and covered with pinewood, could really
ned hidden until you bumped into it..."
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sional window or door was discovered in abandoned houses, a plate
for the stone or a pipe for the oven, A board was a rarity in the hospi-
tal.” (Mil¢inski, 1965, 408-409).

At the end of 1943, the hospital came under doctor Janez
Milcinski, with the partisan name Peter, who soon transformed it
into a base for badly wounded. In January 1944 the aseptic room was
built, a wooden hut with large windows, an earthen stove and appro-
priate surgical material, which facilitated more demanding surgical
operations (cf. Mil¢inski, 1965, 422). All the furniture was manufac-

Hut for personnel in the Zgornji Hrastnik hospital, one of the hospital's two buildings;
photographed by Janez Miléinski at the end of 1943 or beginning of 1944.

tured by joiner Joze Malnari¢, a member of the personnel of the hos-
pital, according to the plans by Miléinski (cf. Jarc, 1977, 267).

The same plans were subsequently used for similar equipment
and furnishings for other partisan hospitals in Kocevski Rog. The
construction of the aseptic room facilitated the prevention of the in-
fection of the badly wounded. Over 6o surgical operations were per-
formed there until the liberation (cf. Jarc 1981, 267).

Soon after the aseptic hut, the septic hut intended for the recep-
tion of new wounded people was constructed. It consisted of a large
room for the wounded and an adjacent surgery with all necessary
equipment. The bunks in the septic hut were separated and fur-
nished with mattresses. The hut was well lit since one of the walls
was almost entirely glazed. Preserved photographs testify to its ap-
pearance, since Dr. Mil¢inski successfully documented the life of the
hospitals in Rog. The hospital was provided with a kitchen and a
bread oven, two secret larders, a repository for medical equipment
and a bunker where the badly wounded could have been hidden in
case of danger (cf. Milc¢inski, 1965, 424—425). All the buildings, with
the exception of the hidden repositories and the bunker, have been
preserved to the present.

The first manager of the hospital until the autumn of 1943 was
Dr. BoZena Grossman, with the partisan name Vida (cf. Ravnihar,
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1973, 73). Mil¢inski managed the hospital until November 1944,
when it was taken over by Dr. Martin Benedik, and subsequently by
the Italian major, Dr. Augusto Nordio, in the period between the end
of 1944 and May 1945 (Jarc, 1981, 268).

Due to the building material (timber) and the purpose of the con-
struction (i.e. immediate and temporary use), the deserted buildings
deteriorated rapidly after the end of the Second World War. The natu-
ral environment contributed substantially to the decay of the build-
ings with severe winters, abundant snow and high levels of humidity.

Septic hut, interior of the room after evacuation of the wounded in the period of danger
in July 1944; photograph by Janez Miléinski.

Dr. Mil¢inski noted that the Zgornji Hrastnik hospital was still stand-
ing in 19406, yet he continued, “The next winter weighed down the
roofs. The windows and doors were dismantled even prior to that.
Subsequently, a team turned up there, consisting partly of those who
had initially built the huts. They reconstructed the huts, matching the
original state of affairs” (Mil¢inski, 1965, 425).

In 1955 the hospital was still standing, yet in was in bad need of
maintenance. The greatest intervention, with the exception of the re-
pairs on the roof and the exchange of individual boards, was the el-
evation of the inclination of the septic hut roof. The previous roof
gradient was too low so that it hindered drainage and caused leaking
of the roof. The old construction and inclination of the roof were pre-
served, while a new roof with a more appropriate slope was con-
structed over it. Such a state of affairs was also preserved in the resto-
ration of the facility in 1996.!

1 From the minutes of the inspection of the condition of the buildings from
the National Liberation War in sectors Jelendol, Base 20 and Zgornji
Hrastnik on 20 May 1955, and from the report of the performed renovation
of the monuments in Kocevski Rog sent to the Institute for the Protection
of Monuments of the People’s Republic of Slovenia in September 1955 by
Alojz Murn. Photocopies of the minutes and the report are kept by the Insti-
tute for the Protection of Cultural Heritage, Regional Unit of Novo Mesto.
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Minor repairs were performed in the following years. The floor in
the septic hut was mended in 1959, and the roof of the aseptic hut in
1962 as it was damaged by a fallen branch. The state of affairs of the
hospital was constantly supervised by its interwar manager, Dr.
Mil¢inski,

A thorough renovation of the Zgornji Hrastnik hospital was un-
dertaken by the Institute for the Protection of the Natural and Cul-
tural Heritage of Novo Mesto in 1996. A tree that fell down in strong
wind damaged the aseptic hut in December 1995. The actual damage

Renovated complex of the Zgornji Hrastnik hospital: “It came into being in the period
when the enemy in occupied Europe was most powerful. It is a monument of the hu-
mane struggle and perseverance of the Slovene people...”

to the hut was revealed only after the removal of the tree by foresters
in April 1996. The shingle covering was destroyed and partly the con-
struction of the roof as well. Fortunately, the interior was not de-
stroyed with the exception of damage to the internal panelling made of
roofing board, caused by humidity. Part of the construction of the roof
and the entire covering were therefore replaced, as well as the damaged
part of the panelling in the interior. The equipment and furnishings of
the aseptic hut were preserved, while the photographs documenting
the interwar activity of the hospital were temporarily removed.

The hut for the wounded with the surgery, i.e. the septic hut, was
also in a bad condition. The entire covering had to be replaced. The
elevation of the roof from 1955 was preserved in the process. The rot-
ten logs of the lowest wall of the hut were replaced with new ones.
The interior has remained unchanged since 1955. An attempt was
made to reconstruct the original condition of the hut to the greatest
possible extent on the basis of preserved photographs. Thus the walls
were newly panelled with roofing card and whitewashed with lime.
The entire hut was coated with wood preservatives.

The renovation of the other buildings of the hospital took place in
1999. The roof covering was replaced on all of them, and the dilapi-
dated parts of the panelling were replaced with new ones. With the
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exception of the roof covering, still made of shingles, the rest of the
improvement works consisted of maintenance works and minor re-
pairs. The kitchen was renovated in 1999, besides the hut for the
wounded, the so-called kennel, the hut for personnel, laundry and
sterilization room, bread oven and a minor repository.

Renovation within the Kocevski Rog — Base 20 project (including
the works on the Base 20 buildings, the Jelendol hospital and the
Zgorniji Hrastnik hospital) was financed entirely by the Ministry of
Culture of the Republic of Slovenia, as a part of regular activities con-
cerning cultural monuments.

The Zgornji Hrastnik partisan hospital with the cemetery is
among the outstanding historical monuments of the Slovene nation.
It came into being in the period when the enemy in occupied Europe
was most powerful. Together with the Jelendol hospital and cemetery
it forms a monument of the Central Slovene Partisan Hospital, a part
of which it was, and the entire partisan health service. It is a monu-
ment of the humane struggle and perseverance of the Slovene people
in the national liberation war.

JUDITA PODGORNIK
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Location

Address

Time of origin
Time of restoration

The Gravisi Castle 2881

Koper, Semedela
Cesta za Gradom 8
1885

1991—-1992

Chief Conservator ~ Mojca Guéek and assistants ure Bernik and Dare Tratar

Visits

<« "The Histo

Visitors have to be booked in advance with the proprietor,

The Gravisi Castle in Semedela is located at the top of an elevation
raised above the Bay of Koper, by the main road connecting Koper
and Izola. The exposed location of the castle represents a dominant
spatial feature in the direct vicinity that has been built-up in recent
decades. The castle surrounded with walls is visible from various per-
spectives from the sea and the surrounding area. Simultaneously, the
castle affords a magnificent view of the historical centre of Koper and
the broader area of the Bay of Koper.

The wealthy family of Gravisi was undoubtedly among the out-
standing aristocratic families of Koper. The Gravisis were in posses-
sion of palaces and manors and also of extensive estates in the vicin-
ity of Koper. The inscription preserved on the facade indicates that
Pius Gravisi, Doctor of Medicine, had the building erected in 188;.
The castle, including the surrounding walls and a garage, was of rela-
tively modest dimensions. It is certain that a typical tri-axial, residen-
tial, single-storey house used to be located there, and due to its ex-
posed position and the then prevailing fashion of the Historicist style,
it was transformed into a small castle. The results of the investiga-
tions performed prior to planning the renovation of the castle con-
firmed the basic floor plan of the earliest building — a typical tri-axial,
residential, single-storey house that acquired two corner extensions
in the renovation. The Historicist renovation of the castle in 1885
transformed the simple residential building in the neo-Gothic style
with various additions: towers and turrets with neo-Gothic merlons
and crenels, neo-Gothic doors and windows, a balcony above the
main entrance and the walls surrounding the entire plot. A shed was
included in the walls and was also utilized as a garage on account of
its access to the road. _

The transformation of the building presented an exceptional sty-
listic intervention and was undoubtedly the expression of the prevail-
ing taste of the time characterized by a Romantic view of former his-
toric and stylistic periods and the interpretation of historic styles that
only wealthy proprietors could have afforded. A simple residential
house was transformed into a castle that acquired a new purpose, i.e.
that of a summer villa. The uniqueness of the intervention was em-
phasized by the fact that a new material, concrete, was used for all
decorative neo-Gothic additions. The building had a rich and decora-
tively formed exterior that continued in the interior as well. Trial

ricist renovation of the castle in 1885 transformed the simple residential build-

ing in the neo-Gothic style with various additions: towers and turrets with neo-Gothic
merlons and crenels...”
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boreholes performed in the interior revealed a rich painting on the
ground floor in the reception hall and the side parlour.

The distribution of rooms on the ground- and first floors indicated
that the villa was based on the well-established scheme of a residence
of the upper classes as an expression of their way of life. The large
hall on the ground floor was intended for the reception of guests, and
the small parlour functioned as an adjacent room. The kitchen and
cupboards were also on the ground floor. The staircase was removed
to the side wing of the building. Residential quarters intended for

“The transformation of
the building presented an
exceptional stylistic inter-
vention and was un-
doubtedly the expression
of the prevailing taste of
the time characterized by
a Romantic view of
former historic and stylis-
tic periods.”

bedrooms were located on the upper floors. The mezzanine between
the ground and first foors functioned as the area intended for work.
Unfortunately, it is not known when the castle was abandoned by
the Gravisi family. However, there is no doubt that it subsequently
fell into decay very rapidly. It was inhabited again after the Second
World War, yet also transformed in such a manner so as to house
several families. A bathroom was constructed on each floor. Despite
the transformations, all the wooden ornamentation and furnishings
were preserved. Since the castle had been abandoned for several
years prior to its final renovation, it rapidly decayed. In the late
1980s, it was bought by Franjo Nemec, and the new proprietor im-
mediately began with the renovation. All the works were performed
in accordance with regulations and under the supervision of the In-
ter-regional Institute for the Protection of the Natural and Cultural
Heritage of Piran, which performed conservation surveys and drew
up a conservation plan. The castle was to be properly renovated and
revived in its Historicist appearance as a residential building, there-
fore the architecture and the discovered painting were to be pre-
sented. After a thorough consideration of various possibilities, meth-
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ods of renovation and the desire of the investor, the decision was
reached to pull down the castle due to its extremely bad material con-
ditions, and to reconstruct it with new materials. The guidelines and
conditions of the castle renovation according to the conservation plan
postulated the collation of documents of the existing building in or-
der to facilitate the creation of plans for its reconstruction with all
pertaining architectural details. The original paintings were therefore
to be taken off the walls. A reconstruction of the painting of the main
hall and the adjacent parlour was made. Since the castle was of mod-
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View of the renovated castle: “The castle was to be properly renovated and revived in its
Historicist appearance as a residential building.”

est dimensions and no additional extensions could have been added,
the investor decided to construct a basement and thus expand the
residential area.

The renovation of the castle was begun in 1999. The structural de-
sign was prepared according to the guidelines and conditions of the
conservation plan. A basic architectural scheme of the castle and de-
tails to the scale of 1:50 was made as a starting-point for further plans.
Trial boreholes were to be made on account of the existing paintings.
The painting of the main hall was discovered beneath two layers of
paint. Since the trial boreholes indicated intense painting of the room
in its entire height and also on all the walls, the recent layers of paint
were to be uncovered and removed. The concept of the original paint-
ing from the Neo-classicist period confirmed the assumption that the
hall was the most representative room in the castle. The painting de-
picted the illusion of an open space. The walls were concluded with
painted architecture: columns, beams and an architrave in the fore-
ground. The lower part of the room with parapet walls was painted
with a balustrade and manifold drapery. Two types of columns with
different decorations, i.e. gryphons, sphinxes, blossoms, wreaths and
garlands, were included in the whole. The view was continued over the
above-mentioned painting into a landscape. The window openings,
entrance and fireplace were framed with particularly rich decorations.

93



Cultural Routes zo00 Guide to Monuments

The painting of the room belonged to the variety of stucco tech-
niques, indicating that the painting was applied onto dry plasterwork.
On account of that, uncovering the painting was a relatively difficult
and time-consuming procedure, since the layer of paint that was not
well bound with the base peeled off. Nevertheless, the entire painting
was uncovered.

The adjacent parlour in the extension had a different painting.
The entrance to it from the hall passed through a neo-Gothic biphora
with a mullion and capital in the middle. There was no need to un-

“The decorative painting
of the hall and parlour

was complemented by a
painted wooden ceiling.”

cover the painting of the parlour since it was not preserved. Despite
the fact that it was made according to the model of a Gothic painting
in a typical brick-red shade, it belonged to the Historicist period when
the neo-Gothic painting complemented neo-Gothic architectural ele-
ments. The painting was limited to the wall between the hall and the
parlour, while the room was decorated with the signs of the zodiac on
simply formed shields.

The decorative painting of the hall and parlour was complemented
by a painted wooden ceiling. Timber beams with painted coffers be-
tween them were discernible in both rooms. The patterns differed in
design and colour. The painted wreaths could have been compared
with the painted garlands on the walls of the hall. The parlour was
painted with a simpler geometrical pattern on the ceiling in white, yellow
and brick-red shades, harmonising with the painting on the walls. The
wooden ceiling was reconstructed according to the model of the original
coffers. The timber construction of the ceiling was replaced with a new
concrete construction, not visible due to the wooden panelling.
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The rich decoration of the hall and the parlour was complemented
with stone-flagged paving in black and white. New paving was made
after the original, matching its decorative appearance.

The only painting preserved on the first floor was a triptych lo-
cated at the conclusion of the staircase that was preserved since it had
never been whitewashed. A brick-red Gothic triphora with pointed
conclusions was painted in the foreground. Three full-size figures
were painted in the openings: Mark the Evangelist, a warrior-saint
and a bishop. The selection of the saints was most probably con-

“A triptych located at the
conclusion of the stair-
case [...]. Three full-size
figures were painted in
the openings: Mark the
Evangelist, a warrior-saint
and a bishop.”

nected with representatives of the family who commissioned the
painting. A landscape was depicted in the background that could
have shown the surrounding area of the castle since a castle similar
to the Gravisi castle was painted behind the central figure.

The renovation of the Gravisi castle presented an exceptional chal-
lenge in the experiences of the monument protection service of long
standing as the desire of the investor to re-create the original appear-
ance of the castle completed in the Historicist style was a guideline for
the experts. The demanding restoration and conservation interventions
were studied by the monument protection service, despite the fact that
all the construction works were financed entirely by the investor.

MOJCA GUCEEK
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PreSeren Grove w280
Location  Kranj
Time of origin ~ 18th and 1gth centuries
Time of restoration 1951, 1987-2000
Chief Conservator ~ Renata Pamic

The original cemetery in Kranj was the churchyard by the church
of St. Cantianus. It was abandoned at the end of the 18th century and
transferred to the so-called Malo Kranjsko Polje (‘small plain of
Kranj’) where the first burial took place in 1787. The cemetery with a
ground plan of 100 x 50 m originally had a single entrance from the
present Partizanska Ulica that is marked with a stone portal. The po-
sition at the axis of the original entrance afforded a view of the
Chapel of the Holy Cross. In the interwar period, architect JoZe
Ple¢nik endeavoured to preserve the chapel and open a museum in it
presenting the life of men of stature of Kranj. Regrettably, the chapel
was pulled down by the Yugoslav army. Even the traces of the origi-
nal boundary wall marking the size of the churchyard behind the
chapel have disappeared. The boundary of the churchyard and the
location of the former chapel are therefore discernible merely from
the preserved cadastre. In the 1gth century, lack of space required the
expansion of the cemetery towards the west, up to the present second
entrance to PreSeren Grove (PreSernov Gaj) by Gregorciceva Cesta.
For the same reason and also due to the intended construction of a
primary school in the vicinity of the cemetery, burials were discontin-
ued there as early as before the Second World War. After a period of
discontinuance, the remains of the dead and the tombstones were
transferred to Planina, where a new cemetery came into being. Due
to their special cultural significance, some graves were preserved in
the abandoned cemetery, the present PreSeren Grove, for future regu-
lation: the grave with the tombstone of the poet Dr. France Preseren,
the grave with the tombstone of the poet Simon Jenko, the mauso-
leum (i.e. chapel) of the Majdi¢ family of Kranj and the monument to
the victims of Bazovica.

The tombstone of the poet PreSeren in the neo-Renaissance style
was manufactured by the sculptor Ignac Toman, |r., according to the
plan by an unknown Viennese architect, and it was erected by venera-
tors of Preseren in 1852.

The grave of PreSeren was originally located by the eastern wall of
the cemetery, not far from the entrance portal, and was marked
merely with a black cross. A committee was established within the
Slovene Society (Slovensko Drustvo) soon after the death of the poet
to collect money for the tombstone. The action was led by Dr. Janez
Bleiweis. The remains of the illegitimate daughter of the poet,
Ernestina Jelovéek, were subsequently transferred to Kranj from

< "A committee was established within the Slovene Society soon after the death of the
poet to collect money for the tombstone.”
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Ljubljana in 1967. Her grave was located close to that of her father
and was marked with a marble plaque on a stone base. The tomb-
stone of another major Slovene poet, Simon Jenko, was manufac-
tured at the instigation of the National Reading Society of Kranj
(Kranjska Narodna Citalnica) by sculptor Ivan Vurnik in 1872. The
mausoleum of the Majdi¢ family also presents an exceptional sculp-
tural creation with the relief of the Resurrection, the work of sculptor
Ivan Zajec from 1908.

The monument to the victims of Bazovica from 1831 is located in

“An open hovel with a triply parted, semi-circular, concrete roof supported by eight circu-
lar columns was built at the location of the former chapel.”

the north-western part of Preseren Grove. The pyramid with a metal
memorial plaque was dedicated to members of the secret organiza-
tion The Struggle (Borba) who were killed on account of their anti-
fascist activities. The pyramid was made of artificial stone and en-
closed by four small columns and chains. It was erected in memory
of Vladimir Gortan killed in Pula (in Croatia) on 17 October 1929,
and those of Zvonimir Milo$, Franjo Marusi¢, Ferdo Bidovec and
Vekoslav Valenci¢, who were killed in Bazovica (in Italy) on 6 Sep-
tember 1930. The monument was made according to the plan of
Drago Zerjal by members of The Dawn (Zarja) emigrant society for
the Primorska region. It was the first monument to commemorate
the victims of fascist terror in Europe.

The plan for the transformation of the abandoned cemetery into a
grove named after Dr. France PreSeren, who was buried there, was
drafted by architects Marjan Sorli and Urgka Ogorevc in 1951. That
was the first and authentic regulation of the PreSeren Grove. An open
hovel with a triply parted, semi-circular, concrete roof supported by
eight circular columns was built at the location of the former chapel.
The columns were made of tuff, and tombstones and other stone
plaques were built into them. The plaque of the inventor of glass pho-
tography, Janez Puhar (1814-1864), with a relief copper medallion of
his head, is among the outstanding examples. It was erected by mem-
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bers of the Photographic Club of Kranj to celebrate the soth anniver-
sary of the establishment of their club. The architect had some frag-
ments of tombstones built into the wall of the cemetery and several
worked blocks of stone placed by the shrubs. Paths paved with irregu-
lar slabs of quarry stone were laid, leading from the hovel to indi-
vidual monuments.

A mirrored water motif was regulated in the grove, presenting one

of the weak points of the project. Low and located among the birch
trees, it did not turn out well. As a symbol of continuity of life, the

water motif should be architecturally and functionally transformed.
The combination of materials and forms used by the architect in the
grove created the impression of transparency and unity. The hovel
made of tuff, the entrance portal in Gregorciceva Cesta, and the base
of the bust of Dr. France PreSeren — the work of sculptor Lojze
Dolinar from Kranj from 1968 — all indicate that the architect sought
the materials in his native area. The hovel was designed as the central
space with paths leading to the monuments, or as a shelter in case of
bad weather. The regulated grove presented an acquisition for the
town of Kranj, a place for meditation and relaxation, yet, unfortu-
nately, also a very vulnerable place on account of vandalism. Regard-
less of the primary reverential and cultural character of the grove, the
monuments are often aggressively damaged. The question must be
raised with regard to how often to perform cleaning and how to pro-
tect the monuments from further damage. Graffiti, paint and other
damage to monuments or their elements present problems that are
not easily solved since chemical cleaning or stonecutting works on
monuments are not recommendable and can harm the materials if
repeated too often.

Restoration and conservation works on individual monuments
were performed on PreSeren Grove in the last decade under the pro-
fessional guidance of the Institute for the Protection of the Natural
and Cultural Heritage of Kranj. The ceiling in the Majdi¢ chapel was
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painted anew, the original entrance portal was reconstructed and the
monument to the victims of Bazovica was renovated; the tombstones
of PreSeren and Jenko were restored; graffiti were removed from the
Maijdic¢ chapel and the hovel; the cemetery wall was improved by re-
construction, grouting and replacement of dilapidated caps, and a
new iron fence was installed in it. The new fence and wrought iron
door emphasized the spatial, reverential and cultural character of
Preseren Grove. The trees were damaged by sleet some years ago,
therefore the plantation was to be improved. A cadastre of the trees
was established simultaneously, together with a rejuvenation
programme for the grove.

Apart from regular maintenance works in PreSeren Grove, light-
ing is to be properly installed, lawns and trees renovated, depressions
in the terrain levelled, equipment and the access paths renovated, and
the vicinity of Preseren Grove landscaped, including the children's
playground on the southern side. Preseren Grove is to become a cen-
tral cultural facility according to certain initiatives; the task of the pro-
fessional service and civil society is therefore to preserve and respect
the reverential and historical nature of the grove.
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Monument to Dr. France PreSeren #5109

Location  Glavni Trg in Kranj
Time of origin 1952
Time of restoration 1998 —1999
Chief Conservator ~ Renata Pamic

28 December 2002 will be the 5oth anniversary of the official
opening of the Preseren monument in Glavni Trg (Main Square) be-
tween the parish church of St. Cantianus and the theatre in Kranj. On
that day 50 years ago, people thronged there to pay their respects to
the greatest Slovene poet, Dr. France PreSeren, who shared his life
with the citizens of Kranj as well as with the poor in the period be-
tween the autumn of 1846 until his death in 1894. Prederen was bur-
ied in the present Preseren Grove, where a monument was erected by
his venerators in 1852. A century later, on 28 December 1952, the
main postal authority of Ljubljana granted the post office of Kranj the
use of a special postmark and stamps to celebrate the centenary of
the death of the poet. The prices of public transportation were re-
duced by half on that day, the houses of Kranj were decorated with
flags and several cultural events took place in the town. The whole of
Kranj was celebrating the anniversary.

A special committee was established in conjunction with the
Kranj Town Council for the erection of the monument in 1952. The
artistic work was entrusted to sculptor FranciSek Smerdu and his as-
sistant Peter Loboda. The bronze cast of the 5 m-high statue was
made by the Artists’ Society (Umemiska Zadruga) from Ljubljana.
The construction works were performed by the company Megrad.
According to architect Nande Jocif, the sculptor approved the pedes-
tal of dimensions of 1 x 2 x 1.35 m. It is discernible from the contract
between the committee and the Artists” Society of 1952 that the com-
mittee was obliged to provide 1o graphite pots of 250 kg, 10 graphite
pots of 200 kg, 20,000 kg of smelting coke and 4,000 kg of old
bronze on receipt of the plaster cast. The Artists” Society was bound
to make a perfect cast and erect the monument. The quality of the
cast was judged by a committee consisting of four sculptors: the two
authors as well as Stane Dremelj and BoZo Pengov. The date planned
for the opening was moved from 21 to 28 December so as to avoid
the event coinciding with the birthday of Stalin. At that time, the fa-
cade of the theatre was regulated according to the plan by architect
Joze Ple¢nik, and the park of poets, Preseren Grove, according to the
plan by architects Marjan Sorli and Urska Ogorevc, a year prior to
that. The bronze statue of the poet was erected on a pedestal made of
granite from Pohorje, in the vicinity of the facade of the theatre, so
that they created a monument composition of great quality. Minister
Boris Ziherl was requested to open the monument officially and Pro-
fessor Anton Slodnjak was the official orator.

The statue has withstood the ravages of time with the acquired pa-
tina; however, several areas of damage in the stone and rifts in the
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bronze have gradually been revealed. Consequently, the monument
was structurally endangered and posed a threat to visitors. Kranj Town
Council and the Institute for the Protection of the Natural and Cultural
Heritage of Kranj renovated the monument completely in 1998 and
1999. Endoscopic and technoscopic tests revealed that the statue was
standing merely on its legs without any additional support. The bronze
was badly cracked in critical places. Water leaked between the base
plate and the pedestal so that the juncture of the base plate, stone block
and holdfast was loosened by water and ice. A detailed plan of the rifts

“The artistic work was
entrusted to sculptor
Franéidek Smerdu."

was drawn and a chemical analysis of the bronze made.

The bronze monument was a structurally self-supporting monolith
statue with a bronze base plate attached through the plate to the pedes-
tal. The interior of the statue was hollow, and not additionally braced.

An analysis revealed that the sculpture was made of several casts
that were welded together. Only the legs of the statue were filled with
concrete, thigh-high. The bronze was severely cracked in those parts.
The rift on the right thigh was particularly bad. The right leg thus
functioned as the support for the vertical load or weight of the statue,
but not for horizontal loads like a gust of wind or shock of an earth-
quake. The left leg, practically without any cracks, was the only part
that afforded stability to the statue. Water was accumulating inside
the statue due to the porosity of bronze, and deformations and rifts
occurred in winter due to ice. There were further cracks on the top of
the head, on the arms and in the lap of the statue. Complete insula-
tion was practically impossible, therefore drainage was provided in
the new base.
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The statue was cleaned by microsanding, renovated and re-coated
with patina. It was strengthened from the inside and braced to the
bronze plate that was strengthened as well and fastened to the new
granite pedestal. A weeping willow was planted behind the monu-
ment and three maple trees in the line of the theatre arcades. The
vicinity of the monument, or rather the square, was fenced in with
metal posts. The plan for the improvement of the monument and the
horticultural landscaping was prepared by the Institute for the Protec-
tion of the Natural and Cultural Heritage of Kranj. The name of the
poet and a verse from his poem “Zdravljica” were inscribed in gilded
letters on the front of the pedestal.

RENATA PAMIC
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Selo Manor wn1119
Location  Ljubljana, Moste
Address  Zaloska Cesta 69
Time of origin  first half of 18th century
Time of restoration  since 1995
Chief Conservator ~ Mojca Arh Kos and assistants Lidija Avbelj Jelovac and Irena Vesel Kopaé

Visits  Visitors have to be booked in advance with the proprietor, Givo Real, Real

Estate Agent, Zaloska 69, Ljubljana.

The area of the village of Selo in Moste near Ljubljana was re-

corded in written documents as early as the 14th century. Selo Manor

was built in the middle of the 18th century as a summer residence in
the then rural environment for the Jesuit College from Trieste. The
most important manufacture was located opposite the manor — a

cloth mill that proved very influential in its subsequent development
and existence. The states of Carniola (present-day Kranjska) were

granted the imperial privilege to set up the mill in 1724. The mill was

of great benefit to the states since it provided their frontier regiments
with cloth of their own making. A water mill on the River Ljubljanica

was transformed for the use of the cloth mill where the production of

cloth increased greatly. Since the mill was largely dependent on mer-
chants, primarily on the dealers Peter Anton Codelli from Ljubljana
and subsequently on Michelangelo Zois, who collected all the profits,
it was not financially consolidated. In 1747 the estate was bought by
the merchant Friderik Weitenhiller from Ljubljana, who was granted
the same privileges by Empress Maria Theresa as were formerly en-
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< “The outstanding Baroque elements have been preserved in the interior of the manor as
well, i.e. the painting and the stucco decorations.”
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joyed by the states. However, Weitenhiller sold the entire estate again
to Valentin Ruard, a merchant from Vienna, as early as 1762, and to
Josip Desselbrunner from Ljubljana, who became the only proprietor
of the cloth mill in 1781. His name has remained as the synonym for
Selo Manor: the Desselbrunner manor.

The mill and the manor soon became Desselbrunner’s exclusive
possession and developed into the leading factory in the Austria of
that time. However, the factory became heavily burdened with debts
in the course of time due to several family withdrawals, shares and

Renovated entrance wing of the manor: “Despite all transformations in the historical
construction development, the Selo Manor complex has been preserved.”

large payments associated with them. The factory was additionally
impaired by Napoleonic Wars. War contributions, disrupted traffic con-
nections with markets and difficulties with the purchase of raw materi-
als and the sale of products all plunged the mill into a severe crisis. All
the possessions of Josip Desselbrunner went bankrupt in 1803.

The estate and manor were bought at auction by Andrej Mali¢ in
1817. He built a flour mill there and sold his product as far as Trieste.
The entire complex of the manor was handed over by Mali¢ to the
military administration as early as 1820. In view of the project for the
regulation of the bed of the River Ljubljanica between the estuary of
the Grubar canal and the rapids near Studenec beneath the Fuzine
Castle, and with regard to a new initiative for the drainage of the
Barje moor following the Ljubljana Congress in 1821, the government
ordered the demolishment of the Selo dam in 1824. The Mali¢ mill
came to an end. The premises of the mill were transformed into a
residence, while the warehouses were used by innkeepers of
Ljubljana as wine cellars.

The entire complex of the manor passed over to the military ad-
ministration in 1854, and a stud farm was organized in the out-
houses. The complex was owned by the military administration until
1918, and subsequently it served similar purposes.

The former Mali¢ complex by the River Ljubljanica was bought by
Kristina Bernard, the establisher of a mendicant order in Ljubljana in
1887. She donated it to the Carmelite convent for their premises in
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Ljubljana: Selo Manor

1889. The western wing of the former mill was transformed into the
convent and the Church of St. Joseph was erected there in 18go. The
church was badly damaged in an earthquake and subsequently pulled
down in 1891.

The Ministry of agriculture moved the stud farm from the com-
plex to the castle in Ponovice near Litija in 1937. The entire complex
was assigned to a boy’s school. However, history repeated itself. After
the Second World War, the complex was again allotted to military
purposes, until it passed over to a construction company in the sec-
ond half of the 20th century. The company used it for their adminis-
tration, workshops and warehouses.

The renovated house at Zaloska 58, standing opposite the com-
plex, is at present the seat of the Minorite Province of St. Joseph of
Slovenia — the so-called Koblarjey Dom.

The purpose of the Selo Manor complex and the activities taking
place there have completely changed with the planned renovation
during recent years. The present proprietor wants to revitalize the
complex on the basis of a conservation plan.

Despite all the transformations in its historical development, the
Selo Manor complex has been preserved. Moreover, a comparison of
the present appearance of the manor with the depiction by Leopold
Wiser from the middle of the 18th century reveals that the architectural
elements of the Baroque facade have remained in their original form.
The outstanding Baroque elements have been preserved in the interior
of the manor as well, i.e. the painting and the stucco decorations.

The proprietor began with a planned functional renovation of the
complex on the basis of a conservation plan in 199s. Initially, the
works presented merely an improvement of the existing bad condi-
tions of the roofs and rooms. After a structural and construction
evaluation of the building and the anticipated works involved it was
acquired by the proprietor. Improvement works on the roof began,
including renovation of the rooms on the mezzanine for future
offices. Stucco decorations have been preserved on the ceilings of the
halls on the first floor, and two vedutas painted in the fields above the
door in the central hall. In the first phase, essential improvement
works were performed on the stucco to be followed with restoration
works on the stucco as well as the painting. A fairly well preserved
Baroque painting was subsequently discovered in an auxiliary room
next to the right-hand staircase beneath a thick layer of plaster. The
pilasters with golden yellow Corinthian capitals surrounded pink
fields in Baroque forms with broad ochre borders and stucco orna-
ments painted in white. The paintings in oil were decorated with
sparse branches of greenery with red and blue blossoms occasionally
intertwining the fields and connecting them with architectural ele-
ments. The lower part consisted of a stone parapet painted in the Ba-
roque illusionistic style with wreaths, pilasters and pink oblong
coffers. The jams of the windows were formed in the same manner.

The first phase of the renovation consisted of strengthening the
marl base and the removal of installation remnants. Old damaged
areas were used for new installations so as to avoid new damage. The
restoration works planned for the future include the precise cleaning
of the painting surface, puttying the damage, application of new plas-

107



Cultural Routes 2000 Guide to Monuments

terwork where necessary, microinjection of hollow areas and, finally,
a complete reconstruction.

The functional programme of the renovation dictated the preser-
vation and renovation of the reception rooms adjoining the connect-
ing Baroque staircases. The rooms at the rear side underwent several
transformations in the historical development of the manor. The rear
rooms were renovated for offices and business activities including the
intermediate hallway. The hall with the preserved stone supports of
the ceiling and the central column in the right-hand wing of the

Baroque mirror staircase:
“The proprietor began
with a planned and func-
tional renovation of the
complex on the basis of a
conservation plan in

1995."

manor was renovated and is intended for formal business activities.
Regrettably, there are no traces left of the former Baroque chapel in
the left wing of the manor that was recorded in archival documents
from the year 1817. The architectural scheme and plan of the renova-
tion were entrusted by the proprietor to architect Jani Vozel, who fol-
lowed the established principles and conditions of renovation of the
manor. Due to the complexity of the renovation works (e.g. of the
painting and the portal) and great financial burden for the investor,
the renovation has lasted for five years and is far from concluded.
With the purpose to attract the attention of the public to the valuable
Baroque external appearance of the manor, the investor has already
executed the improvement and renovation works on the facade, prior
to the final works in the interior. Regrettably, the execution has not
taken into consideration all the provisions for the conservation reno-
vation of Baroque plasterwork. The sculptor and restorer Bine
AmbroZi¢ renovated the front of the facade in voluted forms includ-
ing the clock and stucco decorations and additionally the central com-
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Ljubljana: Selo Manor

position of the rich portal made of tuff. Simultaneously, the rear fa-
cade of the right-hand building was renovated in 1999. The ground
floor rooms were cleared since they used to function as stables and
subsequently as warehouses. All the Baroque columns and the
vaulted construction have been preserved.

The restoration works are to continue in this year in the painted
room that is intended for official purposes. Renovation of the con-
necting staircases is also taking place. This, regrettably, does not in-
clude the renovation of the existing stone-flagged paving due to a
shortage of funds. The improvement and renovation of all the doors
and windows on the facades as well as in the interior is in progress.
Numerous wooden elements (e.g. bars and ornamentation) have
namely disappeared during the renovation works and are therefore to
be made anew on the basis of existing models.

Apart from the art historical evaluation of the Baroque manor
complex in its historical architectural and construction development,
the preservation of the entire complex is of crucial importance. De-
spite several transformations that took place in its historical develop-
ment, Selo Manor has preserved its original architectural ground-
work to the present. The floor layout and heights, including the shape
of the roofs, have basically not changed since the planning of major
construction works on the complex in 1817. Therefore it is preserved
and protected as such, and all the anticipated renovation works, re-
gardless of the proprietor and investor, are to be subordinated to the
recovery and preservation of the historical urban planning and archi-
tectural properties. They have to be presented and emphasized,
which means that all the inappropriate extensions and transforma-
tions are to be removed. The planned architectural works are to be
subordinated to the basic historical and architectural properties of
individual rooms and buildings as entities.

MOJCA ARH KOS
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The Ple¢nik Green Avenue #5635

Location  Ljubljana
Address  Vegova Ulica, Emonska Ulica, Zoisova Cesta, Levstikov Trg
Time of origin~ 1930-1940
Time of restoration  since 19g0
Chief Conservator  Darja Pergovnik

Avenues appear in towns as a planned linear occurrence of trees
of the same variety, and they are a pronounced urban form of intro-
duction of a natural element in a built-up area. Apart from their ur-
ban, landscape and biological characteristics, they also acquire den-
drological and biotopological values.

Kranjska Regional Building Association (Kranjska Stavbna
Druzba) had a pioneering role in the holistic planning of the urban
setting of Ljubljana with the avenues along PreSernova, Cankarjeva
and Resljeva Cesta. The unified quarters became the most represen-
tative part of the city and a model of the construction at the turn of
the 19th century precisely due to tree-lined avenues.

Architect Joze Plecnik had a similarly important role in the forma-
tion of the urban setting of Ljubljana. In 1936 he prepared a blue-
print for the planning of Juzni Trg (South Square) with propylaea at

LIVBLIANA I

< “Avenues are a pronounced urban form of introduction of a natural element in a built-up
area.”
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the conclusion of the lateral axis of Park Zvezda (Star Park) that was
located at the conclusion of the urban element of Kongresni Trg
(Congress Square) and the green avenue of Vegova Ulica, Trg
Francoske Revolucije (French Revolution Square), Emonska Cesta as
far as the church of Trnovo and then along Zoisova Cesta across the
River Ljubljanica up to Sentjakobski Trg and Ulica na Grad.

The avenue connected various sequences of urban setting, histori-
cal periods, architectural elements and green areas: a square, a street,
a road, a promenade on the terrace between the Philharmonic Society

Vegova Ulica: “Pleénik
began by planning the
street in 1932 with the
concept of having a cul-
tural thoroughfare con-
nected with park areas
and monuments.”

(Glasbena Matica) and music school, a terrace with benches by the
National University Library, a children’s playground by KriZanke, a
park with lapidary behind the walls of KriZanke along Zoisova Cesta
and the Zois pyramid with the Virgin Mary column in Levstikov Trg.
Ple¢nik thus created his famous green avenue that now represents
the identity of Ljubljana greenery designed by Ple¢nik.

Vegova Ulica

Vegova Ulica was created inside the eastern Roman city walls and
on the fill of the western mediaeval moat.

Ple¢nik began by planning the street in 1932 with the concept of
having a cultural thoroughfare connected with small parks and monu-
ments. He created it gradually by connecting monuments, architecture
and parks in eight lateral and longitudinal streets, thus uniting them into
a compositional whole. The concept of a monumental main road was to
be continued towards the north, across Zvezda Park as far as Juzni Trg,
and to the south past the Illyrian column to the church of Trmovo.
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Ljubljana: The Ple¢nik Green Avenue

The main motif along the public buildings of Vegova Ulica, i.e.
the Philharmonic Society and music school, was formed on an el-
evated terrace along the former mediaeval city walls, with herms of
Slovene musicians, beech trees growing behind them and birches as
the conclusion of the terrace formation. The ‘tree of gods’ (Ailanthus
glandulosa) was planted as a special memorial in front of the entrance
to the music school.

Part of the terrace by the National University Library was regu-
lated anew by Ple¢nik in the years 1941—42 with statues of Slovene

Vegova Ulica: “The walk-
way along the entire
course of Vegova Ulica
was paved with porphyry
slabs and separated from
the road with a sand sur-
face planted with ball-
shaped maple trees..."

linguists and a monument to the poet Simon Gregor¢ic by the city
wall. The conclusions of Gregoréiceva Ulica and Rimska Cesta were
accentuated with vertical poplars and ball-shaped weeping willows
among them, so that the unevenness of the facades and buildings
was hidden by the voluminosity of large, tall trees.

The walkway along the entire course of Vegova Ulica was paved
with porphyry slabs and separated from the road with a sand surface
planted with ball-shaped maple trees unifying the street and creating
the appearance of an avenue, Ple¢nik’s assistant was Anton Lap. The
plan for planting of the avenue was already discernible from
Ple¢nik’s urban blueprint from 1929.

The trees in the avenue have been partly damaged in their growth
by snow and other causes during a period of approximately six de-
cades. Consequently, they have been replaced by new ones at several
locations over various periods of time. The avenue has thus lost its
original unified appearance and its basic spatial function. At the be-
ginning of the 199os, the trees were replaced in individual sections
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of the avenue. However, they were increasingly damaged by careless
parking. Metal posts were therefore erected as a necessary evil, so
that the trees were protected and were able to grow. The original ap-
pearance of the Ple¢nik avenue has thus finally been restored.

Emonska Cesta

An obelisk — Napoleon'’s column — was erected according to a con-
cept of Ple¢nik in 1929. It was located at the intersection of spatial
axes at the beginning of his regulation of Emonska Cesta with a

Emonska Cesta: “The trees on that side of the road were removed in the 1970s. They
have been replaced several times since, but have always died away due to improper
growing conditions.”

children’s playground by the Krizanke walls that was discernible
from his urban plan from 1929. The road was planted with avenues
of ball-shaped maple trees growing in sand with borders made of
artificial stone, which represented a unique solution along the entire
course of the avenue.

A hotwater main was laid beneath the avenue by the playground
in the 1970s so the trees on that side of the road were removed as a
result. They have been replaced several times since, but have always
died away due to improper growing conditions. The remaining part of
the trees were removed in 1998 due to the beginning of the construc-
tion of the new University Library. The precondition for this interven-
tion was, naturally, the reconstruction of the avenue along both sides of
the road with the necessary removal of the main in order to facilitate
appropriate growing conditions with a suitable distance and depth.

Zoisova Cesta

The former complex of the monastery of the order of the Teutonic
Knights (present-day Krizanke) leaned on a part of the Roman city
walls and on a corner of the mediaeval city walls where Zoisova Cesta
came into being on the filled-in moat by the southern city walls.
Ple¢nik began with the regulation of that area in 1927 when he had

114



Ljubljana: The Ple¢nik Green Avenue

the pavement made, the avenue planted and the Zois pyramid
erected, which was originally overgrown with ivy.

Initially, he intended to transform the broad area of the former
moat into an avenue with two separate lanes and an axial plantation
of trees. Subsequently, he replaced the former chestnut avenue with
one of pyramid-shaped oak trees along the walls of Krizanke and the
wall of the Faculty of Architecture. The internal side of the road was
planted with a two-sided avenue of ball-shaped maple trees, similarly
to the one along Vegova Ulica and Emonska Ulica. The draft for

Zoisova Cesta: “The interior of the road planted with ball-shaped maple trees created a
perspective impression leading the view along the road towards the River Ljubljanica.”

Zoisova Cesta, on which it was regulated and planted, is shown on
the map from 1927.

The double avenue consisting of pyramidal oaks on the external
side unified the front sides of the facades and created the impression
of a green border screen, while the interior of the road planted with
ball-shaped maple trees created a perspective impression leading the
view along the road towards the River Ljubljanica, or Emonska Ulica,
respectively, and showed a part of the avenue between Sentjakobski
Trg and Zvezda Park.

Similarly to the avenue along Vegova Ulica, the one along Zoisova
Cesta has obtained an uneven appearance in the course of the growth
of trees due to the replacement of individual damaged trees. In 1993
the entire course of the avenue was replaced with new trees and they
were protected against cars by means of metal posts, so that they grow
fully at present and the road is regaining its original appearance. Si-
multaneously with the avenue of ball-shaped maple trees, poplars were
planted at the intersection with Emonska Ulica accentuating the begin-
ning of the road and the corner of Krizanke. The poplars were not
planted there before, although they were drawn in the plans by Ple¢nik.

Levstikov Trg
The former Sentjakobski Trg developed at the site of the former
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Jesuit monastery. Ple¢nik drafted a plan for the regulation of the
square in 1926, and it was renovated in 1938. A fragment of the col-
umn with the Virgin Mary was preserved, statues of other saints were
located around it, and the entire composition raised on a higher col-
umn in proportion with the size, so that the column created a domi-
nant vertical feature of the square, apart from the church tower.
Plec¢nik had a fountain erected in the square and the edge of the

central area paved with alternating granite border stones, slabs made
of porphyry and ball-shaped boundary stones. The central surface of

Levstikov Trg: “Only some of the ball-shaped maple trees were replaced in the central
area of the square. The rest are still from the original plantation since they were pro-
tected against damage by boundary stones.”

Ple¢nik's plans for the regulation of Sentjakobski (present-day Levstikov) Trg.
(scale: 0.7mm =1m)
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the square was covered with sand and ball-shaped maple trees were
planted around the edges. Two variants of the plantation are discern-
ible from the plan of the square in front of the church, with the Ger-
man inscription “Kugelakazien”, i.e. ball-shaped robinias, instead of
ball-shaped maple trees that were actually planted there. A creeper,
Ampelopsis Veitschii, was also indicated for “masking” the church
tower and a group of maple trees as a green screen in front of Rozna
Ulica. A children’s playground was planned by the fountain.
Only some of the ball-shaped maple trees were replaced in the

Levstikov Trg: “The regulation of the square with a circular layout and the plantation of
ball-shaped maple trees thus concluded Ple¢nik’s green avenue.”

central area of the square. The rest are still from the original planta-
tion since they were protected against damage by boundary stones.
Corner poplars were planted along the perimeter of the sand surface
by the church and in the square in front of it. As quickly growing
trees of fragile wood, the poplars have already been entirely replaced
with new trees of the same variety at the beginning of the 19gos.
Originally, the square had a very different role, since traffic has
greatly increased after the construction of Karlovska Cesta around 19Go.
The regulation of the square with a circular layout and the planta-
tion of ball-shaped maple trees thus concluded Ple¢nik’s green avenue
as one of the most typical and important urban features of Ljubljana.

DARJA PERGOVNIK
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Location
Address
Time of origin

Time of restoration
Chief Conservator  Janez MikuZ and assistants Marjan TerZan, Irena Krajnc Horvat, Miran JeZov-

Visits

Synagogue w6253
Maribor

Zidovska Ulica 4

from 13th century

between 1992 and 1999

nik, Ivan Tusek, Mihela Kajzer Cafnik, Branko Ramsak and Smiljan Simerl
Visitors have to be booked in advance in the Regional Museum of
Maribor (Pokrajinski Muzej).

The Jews settled in Styria and Carinthia (present-day Stajerska
and Korogka) in the early 13th century. They arrived from the territory
of present-day Germany, while the second route towards the south
Slavic countries led them over Greece of Alexander of Macedonia.
Originally, the Jews were able to deal in all varieties of business, from
agriculture to crafts and trade; in the Middle Ages, however, that was
restricted by various decrees to money-lending and trade only.

In Maribor, a strong Jewish community developed rapidly, since
the mediaeval town experienced a period of economic boom. The
Jews acquired estates and real estate outside the ghetto by trading, so
that one fifth of the entire town was in their possession. The citizens
as well as the nobility of the church and the state were indebted to
them, which was another reason for their banishment that accompa-
nied them throughout their entire history of migration. Under the

O,
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A Proposed renovation after the surveys: 1) Vestibule, 2) Toilets, 3) Service rooms,

4) Offices,

5) Attic (scale: 8mm = 1m)

< Detail of the Gothic portal: “After the removal of the fill above the vaults from the 1gth

century, a

series of important architectural details was revealed, including consoles of

Gothic ribs, Gothic mouldings and details of the vault ribs.”
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influence of the states of the province, King Maximilian I issued an
order on 10 March 1496 by which the Jews were to move out of Styria
by 6 January of 1497 at the latest. Due to such a short notice, they
probably sold their real estate at reduced prices.

The Jews from Maribor subsequently settled in the area of Trieste
and the province of Venice where they were characterized as
“Marpurgos” (derived from Marburg, German word for Maribor).

In mediaeval towns, it was decreed that the Jews were to settle
merely in certain quarters of the town, i.e. located on the outskirts or

}

Synagogue before the renovation: “In mediaeval towns, it was decreed that the |ews
were to settle merely in certain quarters of the town, i.e. located on the outskirts or along
the city walls.”

along the city walls so that they were the most endangered and ex-
posed part of the inhabitants in case of enemy attacks. Their plots
were also smaller. The typical pattern of rectangular plots was, in
their case, reduced to almost square units. Thus they lived cramped
tight and in worse conditions than the rest of the citizens. Special rules
restricted their movement and dictated their attire. Inside the ghetto,
however, they lived according to moral, religious and administrative
rules of their own; they were free, had their own legal system and per-
formed religious rituals in accordance with the Old Testament.

The Jewish community of Maribor settled in the south-eastern
part of the mediaeval city along the city walls. The most important
building of the community was the synagogue. It was the place where
they gathered, and also the religious, cultural and spiritual centre of
their community. The Jews followed the rule that the synagogue was
the tallest building of the quarter; if not, a pole was erected on its top.

Ritual baths, mikve, located by running water, were an indispens-
able part of the synagogue. In the case of the synagogue of Maribor, that
was the area on the southern terrace of the River Drava, with access to it
probably through the present vestibule of the synagogue, or through
Zidovska Vrata (Jewish Gate) in the city walls. The cemetery (Judovska
Njiva), also marking the Jewish way of life, was next to the city walls as
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Maribor: Synagogue

was common in all Jewish communities in mediaeval towns.

The beginning of the renovation of the synagogue revealed rem-
nants of burials on the eastern side of the building; that part probably
served as a burial ground after the cemetery was filled; the thesis
about this having been the primary location proved false.

The synagogue was first recorded in written documents in 1429.
The surveys performed there confirmed that the construction at that
location began in the early Middle Ages, thus indicating that the
building might be one of the earliest examples of continuous con-

Renovated synagogue:
“The construction phase
of the renovation of the
building was concluded
in December 1999."

struction in Maribor.

The renovation of the synagogue has lasted for ten years. The reli-
gious history of the building was discernible merely from the robust
construction and the basic floor plan, apart from archival sources.

Comprehensive surveys of the construction and archaeological
excavations revealed that the building was decisively marked with
several construction phases that were chronologically classified:

- the first phase was Romanesque; it was discernible from second-
ary finds that dated it as belonging to the 13th century;

- the second phase was discernible from discovered spoils of war
from the late 14th century that were built in on the northern wall
of the synagogue. Apart from two finds, there were no traces left
of that construction period;

- the third phase was defined on the basis of numerous architec-
tural elements from the middle of the 15th century: the ribs of the
vaults, mouldings, fragments of window openings, two partly pre-
served late Gothic portals, etc.;
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- the fourth phase was from the period of the Church of All Saints,
when the synagogue was transformed into a Christian church.
The transformation was performed by Barbara and Bernard
Drucker, who bought the building directly before the banishment
of the Jews from Maribor in 1497. Their names were inscribed in
the stone lintel of the donors’ window on the northern facade.
Fragments of the window were preserved manifesting typical
characteristics of the 16th century.

When the Church of All Saints was abandoned after the enlight-

Gothic portal before the renovation: “The discovery of the external Gothic portal posed a
somewhat greater dilemma, since it was located 1.5 m below the level of the square,
therefore requiring intervention in the present regulation of the urban setting.”

enment reforms of Emperor Joseph 11, it passed over to the merchant
Altman and subsequently to several other proprietors who impover-
ished its identity through transformations to such an extent that the
characteristics of the unique mediaeval monument were no longer
discernible.

In the second half of the 19th century, the Gothic vaults were
pulled down and the first floor was constructed. The ground floor was
transformed into a warehouse, and the new first floor into a flat. The
basement was renovated as an exhibition hall in the 198os; however,
due to flooding of subterranean waters and improper sewage, it never
functioned properly.

The Institute for the Protection of the Natural and Cultural Heri-
tage initiated the renovation within the planned renovation of the old
city centre in the 1980s. Due to unsolved ownership, the synagogue
has been closed for some time and the actual renovation and recon-
struction began only in 1992, when precise architectural photographs
were taken and the conservation plan and project were prepared si-
multaneously with the construction and archaeological works. On
account of the exceptional importance of the synagogue in Slovenia,
the decision was taken to reconstruct it in the form and size for
which there were sufficient material data and evidence.

122



Maribor: Synagogue

Two partly preserved Gothic portals were discovered during the
construction surveys, apart from remnants of Gothic windows in the
southern, eastern and western walls, the niche where the Torah was
kept and a partly preserved donors’ window on the northern wall.
After the removal of the fill above the vaults from the 1gth century, a
series of important architectural details was revealed, including con-
soles of Gothic ribs, Gothic mouldings and details of the vault ribs. In
short, a series of data was discovered on the basis of which the plan
for the reconstruction of the vault and the primary inclination and

“Two partly preserved
Gothic portals were dis-
covered in the process of
construction investiga-
tions, apart from rem-
nants of Gothic windows
[...]. On the basis of the
finds, the data from ear-
lier literature [...], it was
possible to reconstruct
the synagogue and
present it almost in its
entirety from a single pe-
riod, i.e. the middle of the
15th century.”

form of the roof were made. On the basis of the finds the data from
earlier literature and experiences of the experts with conservation
works on other complex cultural monuments, it was possible to re-
construct the synagogue and present it almost in its entirety from a
single period, i.e. the middle of the 15th century.

After the discovery of the partly preserved Gothic portals that ex-
plained the internal organization of the synagogue, the function of
individual rooms and the hierarchy of the spatial layout of the entire
complex of the synagogue could be determined:

- The earliest hall, the former ritual hall, was confirmed with the dis-
covery of the niche in the wall. The niche was the most important
part of the ritual room where the Torah was kept. It was regularly
raised from the floor by three steps and a wooden “closet” with a
door and covered with a curtain that was richly embroidered accord-
ing to the importance and power of the Jewish community.

- The vestibule of the synagogue that was originally open; subse-
quently the external walls were constructed on the western side of
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the hall, thus closing the room; it was probably connected with the

ritual baths by the river.

- The youngest room to the north of the hall was probably intended
for secular purposes.

The renovated building has retained its original purpose; all the
modern technical and technological facilities that usually causes prob-
lems in reconstructions was installed in the smaller building. The earli-
est hall has retained its central position after the reconstruction and is
intended for cultural and similar events. The original entrance to the

“All the doors and win-
dows were made anew
and the wooden staircase
was built in the vestibule
[..]. After the decision
was taken to reconstruct
the building from the 15th
century, there were no
major conservation di-
lemmas.”

synagogue, the vestibule, was also preserved: it can be used it for exhi-
bitions and information purposes (as an information desk, box office,
cloakroom and museum shop). Functional rooms are located in the
youngest building: offices, toilets, a repository and a workshop.

After the decision was taken to reconstruct the building from the
15th century, there were no major conservation dilemmas. Thorough
construction surveys have revealed sufficient data to trace the appear-
ance of the synagogue from that period. The most demanding task
was the reconstruction and completion of stone-cut architectural ele-
ments like the ribs and mouldings of the Gothic vault, Gothic win-
dows and rosettes, the reconstruction of the donors’ niche and the
entrance portals. All the doors and windows were made anew and a
wooden staircase was built in the vestibule. All the rooms, with the
exception of the office, were paved with hand-made brick paving. The
internal and external plasterwork was prepared with the addition of
tenesit, while sanitation plaster was used in the rooms where humid-
ity was established.
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The discovery of the external Gothic portal posed a somewhat
greater dilemma, since it was located 1.5 m below the level of the
square, therefore requiring intervention in the present regulation of
the urban setting. Due to some buildings that were constructed
around the synagogue, it was impossible to re-establish the original
level of the entire square, since the electrical wiring, waterworks and
gas pipeline were installed above the discovered level. A new stone-
built staircase was established in the process of reconstructing the
entrance, while the narrowest external building by the synagogue was
only temporarily regulated. The landscaping of the entire Jewish
square has remained open since it is to be subordinated to the reno-
vated monument in given circumstances. Landscaping of the square
would transform the present car park into an urban ambience of
great quality, intended for cultural events and gatherings, which used
to be the original purpose of the square, and it would simultaneously
connect the existing cultural premises there, i.e. galleries.

The construction phase of the renovation was concluded in De-
cember 1999. The renovation was financed by the Municipality of
Maribor and Ministry of Culture. The synagogue is to be revitalized
with the programme to establish the Information Centre of Jewish
Heritage, presenting the way of life of the Jews in Maribor, and sub-
sequently also in Slovenia. The programme is to include an exhibi-
tion of original artefacts and information. Other events are to take
place there as well: from occasional exhibitions, lectures, musical con-
certs, to Jewish religious rituals. The suggestion for the establishment
of the Information Centre is the result of the work of the group that
participated in several international symposia and lectures; they also
published articles in various magazines and contacted various experts.

The promotion of the renovated building took place on the occa-
sion of the opening of the exhibition celebrating the 4oth anniversary
of the Institute for the Protection of the Natural and Cultural Heri-
tage of Maribor, and it has met with a favourable response. The reno-
vated synagogue is an acquisition for the authentic appearance of the
old city centre. It has to be realized that the memory of the Jews who
were banished centuries ago has only been preserved in public
names: Sinagoga, Zidovski Stolp and Zidovska Ulica (the Synagogue,
Jewish Tower and Jewish Street).

IRENA KRAJNC HORVAT
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Lead and Tin Mine #9314

Location ~ Metzica

Address  Glanénik 8

Time of origin  from the 17th century
Time of restoration  from 1995
odgovorna kenservatorja  Irena Krajnc Horvat, Ale$ Arih and assistant MatjaZ Je?
Visits  Visits are possible every day. For guided tours contact Mrs. Suzana

Fajmut Strucl; 7: (02) 870 o1 68.

Deposits of ore discovered by the Romans in the area between the
mountains of Peca and Urslja Gora have been known since olden
times. The iron ore from Noricum was highly appreciated. Few re-
ports were preserved of mining on Slovene ethnic territory from the
early Middle Ages, and the situation in the late Middle Ages was
similar. The extraction of ore was very simple and merely an addi-
tional occupation of the peasant population. Miners were free people,
and the pits and galleries were in their hereditary possession. The
extraction of lead was known in the vicinity in Gail Alpen, Bleiberg
(present-day Austria) and Cave del Predil (Italy) as early as the 12th
century. Lead was used for the roof covering and as an addition in the
production of various paints. The first written sources of the extrac-
tion of lead ore in Carinthia (present-day Koroska) date from 1665: a
document granted permission for the extraction of galena to
Sigmund von Ottenfels from Crna. The same year was also recorded
as the official beginning of mining in the area of MeZica. Mining de-
veloped in the slopes between Crna and MeZica in the following cen-

A Section of the separation mill: “The separation mill in Zerjav presented a revolutionary
change and an example of great industrial progress in the 2oth century since its
construction greatly increased ore processing capacity.”

<« “The Mezica mine has operated and developed for over three centuries, during which
the miners extracted 19 million tonnes of lead and tin ore and dug over 800 km of galler-

ies.
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turies. The mines were in the possession of numerous proprietors in
succession until the turn of the 1gth century when the Bleiberger
Bergwerks-Union company bought all minor mines and commenced
organized mining. The number of miners increased with extended
activity and, consequently, also the influence of the mine on the de-
velopment of Crna and Mezica. The great development of the mine
began in the 1920s when corresponding activities developed as well.
Two powerful companies came into being, the Lead Mine and the
Smelting Plant of Mezica, employing over 2,000 people.

Liouce '.

1) Peca mountain, 2)
Matjazeva Jama, 3)
Spodmol near Vranica, 4)
Koranéevka, 5) Ciganska
Jama, 6) Jama v Heleni,
7) Jama nad |ezom, 8) ravnik

Ledeni Slap nad 16375 .!688 Smm}gg-e N
Trpotcem, g) Dolina Vi
Smrti, 10) Bozicev Slap,  1zunn ""mn Kolg )

11) Rezmanov Slap, 12) Z ';‘J %—0
Najevska Lipa. p nike S ; k ¢

The Mezica mine has operated and developed for over three cen-
turies, during which the miners extracted 19 million tonnes of lead
and tin ore and dug over 8oo km of galleries. According to the quan-
tity of extracted ore and the net of pits and excavations stretching over
the surface of more than 10 sq km, the MeZica mine was the largest
metal mine in Slovenia. The decree for closing down the lead and tin
mine postulated the preparation of projects for its gradual closure, in-
cluding plans for the improvement of the environment devastated by
mining, the protection and walling up of accesses to the mine, observa-
tion of pits and removal of unnecessary and dilapidated buildings. The
abolition of mining began in 1994, and the last wagons of ore were
driven from the mine for separation in that year. The pumps were
stopped that had pumped water for years from a depth of +300m to a
height of +417m, where it flowed out of the mine along a water shaft.
Filling up the pits located beneath the +417m level began with water
that now flows freely along the water shaft towards Prevalje.

The decision to close down the mine was hard to accept by the
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inhabitants who had earned their living there for centuries; the work
was tough, but it nevertheless dictated the lives of numerous families
and formed the character of the landscape.

The mine administration reached the decision to preserve a part
of the rich natural and cultural heritage and attempt to present it for
future generations. The preservation of the mining heritage simulta-
neously presented an opportunity for younger miners, who are cur-
rently still employed, and also an opportunity for the development of
tourism in the region of Koroska.

Preparations for declaring the area of the lead and tin mine in
Mezica and Topla as a monument began in 1995. Two years later, parts
of the mine were declared a natural and cultural monument. Simulta-
neously with extensive preliminary works, the mine administration
decided to present the mining heritage to the public. Thus the mining
museum project was created. The location on Glanénik, consisting of
the main entrance to the mine, the old administrative building and
maintenance workshops proved ideal as the location of the museum.

The programme of the museum was outlined. It included: collec-
tions of documents, artefacts and geological items, a presentation of
interesting mining areas with technical equipment, an underground
office and power station, and a presentation of workshops with origi-
nal tools and instruments located by the building of the former ad-
ministration.

The first step in the realization of the project was the renovation
and transformation of the former administrative building into a mu-
seum. The building was abandoned, in poor condition and partly in-
habited. It was erected in 1926 at the entrance to the central part of
the mine as a single-storey administrative and residential building,
marked with typical Secessional architectural features on the exterior.
It was constructed in the period when the mine was managed by the
British company cemr.

The primary purpose of the building was to house service rooms
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on the ground floor, offices and a drawing room on the first floor,
and flats in the attic. The entire building was assigned for the mu-
seum and it was adapted gradually, following the pace of the evacua-
tion of the flats. Plans were prepared on the basis of photographs of
the existing conditions with anticipated construction works, i.e. im-
provement of the sewage system, electrical wiring and other installa-
tions, demolishing the staircase and secondary walls, and the con-
struction of a new staircase, corridors and toilets on the ground and
first floors.

>

“The second set of museum collections consists of old mining maps from the 1gth cen-
tury, an exhibited theodolite [...], personal documents of pit surveyors [...] and a series of
minor instruments that were used for measuring and drawing maps.”

The exterior of the building was marked with Secessional fea-
tures, therefore the original appearance was reconstructed on the
ground floor, while other architectural elements were displayed after
some improvement works. The vicinity of the museum was regulated
simultaneously.

The reception and cloakroom were installed on the ground floor,
where visitors are provided with helmets and overcoats for touring
the mine. The first and second floors were assigned for permanent
museum collections: the mineral and petrological collection, the col-
lection of measuring instruments and the historical-ethnological col-
lection. The mineral and petrological collection comprises ore, fossils
and minerals from beneath the mountain of Peca and its vicinity that
are typical of Slovenia, therefore special attention is paid to them in
the museum. The collections offer a unique opportunity to study vari-
ous stones and minerals.

The second set of museum collections consists of old mining
maps from the 19th century, an exhibited theodolite, one of the first
that was used for taking measurements in the mine, personal docu-
ments of pit surveyors who spent most of their lives in the mine, and
a series of minor instruments that were used for measuring and
drawing maps.
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The presentation of a typical miner’s home forms part of the eth-
nological collection in the museum, It comprises a kitchen and a
room from the interwar period with original artefacts and equipment
indicating the standard of living of a mining family and their habits
and customs at that time.

The execution of the programme for the presentation of some
parts of the mine took place simultaneously with the renovation of
the old administrative building. The most interesting parts of the
mine were selected presenting the natural and technical heritage and

“[.-.] in the centre of the main ore deposit, where all the technical apparatus necessary
for the extraction of ore were located. The appearance of a typical mining area is entirely
preserved and maintained there, with mining machines, equipment and tools presented
in a chronological sequence.”

the methods of working in the mine to visitors.

A proper mining train takes the visitors 3.5 km along the Glan¢nik
gallery into the centre of the mountain. The gallery was excavated in
1886, connecting dispersed ore deposits as one of the longest galler-
ies in the mine. The construction of the gallery was an important
milestone in the development of the mine. It was connected with the
Moring district in the centre of the main ore deposit, where all the
technical apparatus necessary for the extraction of ore was located.
The appearance of a typical mining area is entirely preserved and
maintained there, with mining machinery, equipment and tools pre-
sented in a chronological sequence. Galleries and excavations with
profiles of the most ore-bearing layers with a typical dispersion of ore
in this area are also well preserved in the Moring district.

The maintenance and repair of mining equipment and tools out-
side the pit was of equal importance as the mining itself. Workers in
maintenance workshops took care of that. The workshops were built
in the direct vicinity of the main entrance to the mine on Glanénik,
by the administration building. Maintenance works still take place
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there. The so-called machine-house was also important within the
complex of workhouses, with a track leading from the pit over the
yard and into a canal for the repair of locomotives. The workshop was
equipped with two chain elevators for lifting heavy freights. All the
machines are to be conserved and exhibited for visitors. A part of the
second workshop houses a forge that is still in operation. The work-
ing procedure is to be preserved so that a blacksmith could be ob-
served in his work.

The extraction of ore, which is the first step in the mining process,

“A proper mining train
takes visitors 3.5 km
along the Glanénik gallery
into the centre of the
mountain. The gallery
was excavated in 1886,
connecting dispersed ore
deposits as one of the
longest galleries in the
mine."”

is followed by a presentation of the processing of ore and the produc-
tion of end products in the museum.

The need for a new separation mill and a new method of separation
became more pronounced at the beginning of the 20th century with
the development of the mine and the increase of production due to
extraction of ore with machines. For that purpose, the separation mill
in Zerjav was built in 1914 according to the plans of the Humbolt com-
pany from Cologne that also provided the machines tools.

To improve the quality of exploitation of ore and reduce physical
exertion on the part of the miners in processing, the force of gravity
was utilized for transportation and a steep slope above the bank of the
River Meza was selected as the location of the building. All these fac-
tors contributed to the unique and magnificent appearance of the
building. The separation mill in Zerjav presented a revolutionary
change and an example of great progress of industry in the 2oth cen-
tury, since its construction greatly increased the capacity for ore pro-
cessing. It was the only building of that type in Slovenia and one of a
few well preserved ones in Europe.

Regrettably, the building could not be included in the programme
of the mining museum, although it was the outstanding item of a
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technical heritage of the entire mine. The reason for that was not so
much the dislocation of the mill from the Glanénik complex (several
kilometres in the direction of Crna na Korogkem) as the implementa-
tion of a new production programme in the building during the pro-
cess of closing down the mine. The production premises in the direct
vicinity of the separation mill are also disturbing, since they have
been erected without control and have consequently had an adverse
effect on the narrow valley at the foot of the slope.

So far, the separation mill has been protected in its authenticity
and appearance as a technical monument, while the regulation of the
vicinity has to be postponed for several years before economic condi-
tions in the area improve to such an extent that the building can be
included in the programme of the museum.

Two complexes of the project of the mining museum have been
concluded so far (i.e. the collections in the museum and the museum
in the mine itself), and the mine was officially opened on 18 June
1997. Many visitors have been recorded since then, primarily groups
from Slovenia and Austria.

The regulation of the vicinity of the entire complex is also
planned, together with the improvement of maintenance workshops
(as the most dilapidated part of the complex that will be the most
costly), cloakrooms with toilets and other pertaining premises. Thus
the abandoned pub of the mine is to be renovated as part of the mu-
seum, and another building is to be transformed into an information
desk with a shop — in short, the entire protected complex is to be
renovated as a museum.

The final aim of the presentation of the history of mining is to be
achieved by the final landscaping of the environs with the appropriate
infrastructure and traffic regulation. Mining in metal mines with a
history of 330 years represents one of the most important branches of
the economy that is increasingly dying throughout Europe.

IRENA KRAJNC HORVAT
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Location
Time of origin
Time of restoration

Church of the Virgin Mary #3512
Na Kamnu

14th and 15th centuries

1994-2000

Chief Conservator  Svjetlana Kurelac and assistants Marlenka Habjani¢, Miran JeZovnik, Smiljan

Visits

Simerl, Viktor Gojkovi¢, Irena Cuk and Bine Kovati¢
Visitors have to be booked in advance in the parish office in Vuzenica.

The church is located on a minor elevation to the east of Vuzenica
and is correctly oriented. Its location at the northern edge of the eleva-
tion, where a plateau was created, testifies to the fact that the site was
carefully selected. It is therefore not surprising that the church has al-
ways been a popular pilgrim destination for the entire Dravska valley.

The church was first recorded in written documents in 1374 as a
chapel “Vnser Lieben Frauen auf dem Stain” (‘our Blessed Lady on the
Rock’) in front of the borough of Vuzenica (cf. Héfler, 1993, 13-14)
with the seat of the parish of St. Nicholas. The parish of Vuzenica
came into being on the basis of a private church of the lords of
Vuzenica in the 12th or 13th century and within the original parish of
St. Martin near Slovenj Gradec. As an institution of the nobility, it
was initially under the partonage and advocacy of the founders and

A 1) Nave, 2) Presbytery, 3) Main altar, 4) Side altar, 5) Altar, 6) Vestry, 7) Pulpit,

8) External

pulpit, g) Confession box, 10) Bell-tower (scale: 7mm =1m)

< “A part of an earlier painting was discovered on the southern wall of the presbytery, but,

unfortunat

ely, it was almost entirely ruined on account of a subsequent Baroque win-

dow, with the exception of some fragments.”
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their heirs; on their extinction in 1374, the rights passed over to the
Counts of Celje, and in 1456 to the Habsburgs. Historical circum-
stances in the area influenced the church of the Virgin Mary as well.
Count Herman I of Celje with Ulrik, the then priest, and Nikolaj
Schaissbacher, the borough magistrate, established a benefice by the
church in 1383 (cf. Mravljak, 1928, 66). The chaplain was also re-
corded in connection with the church in the 14th century, which indi-
cated that the church already enjoyed a special status among the
succursal churches of the parish at that time. The church must have

“The condition of the church was critical particularly as far as the construction was con-
cerned, and the expressive quality of the monument was curtailed due to inappropriate
interventions in the past.”

become famous very early on and brought considerable profits. Thus
the vicar general of Aquileia, Jacob, granted absolution to a certain
priest from Memingen near Augsburg for a fight (cf. Otorepec, 1995,
284). In 14806, Jurij Lebecher, the parish priest of Vuzenica, com-
plained to the patriarch of Aquileia that the church wardens of the
chapel collected taxes and alms by themselves, and that the chaplain
of the chapel, Bulfgang, did not perform a divine service (cf. H&fler,
1995, 14). It was also recorded that the main altar was consecrated to
the Birth of Christ on the occasion of a visitation in 1751, thus corre-
sponding to the preserved relief of the Birth of Christ from the first
decade of the 16th century forming part of the composition of the
Baroque altar from 1666 (cf. Cevc, 1970, 85-87).

Before the restoration, the church was primarily known as a pil-
grim church, while there were few data about the construction his-
tory and the importance of the building. When the extensive renova-
tion was begun at the behest of the parish office of Vuzenica, new
elements of the construction and visual appearance of the original
church were discovered.

The condition of the church was critical particularly as far as the
construction was concerned, and the expressive quality of the monu-
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ment was curtailed due to inappropriate interventions in the past.
However, the transformations brought about by different stylistic pe-
riods have not eliminated the typical character of local Gothic archi-
tecture. Various surveys of the building and its interior were per-
formed by workers of the Institute for the Protection of the Natural
and Cultural Heritage of Maribor, which confirmed the assumption
of the exceptional importance of the church.

The presbytery was particularly endangered due to humidity in all
external walls and the dilapidated roofing. On account of that, a com-

“The basic Gothic architecture
of great quality with the Ba-
roque chapel as an extension
was thus successfully pre-
sented by means of newly
formed roofs, primarily on the
southern side.”

plex structural improvement was performed including the injection
and filling of rifts with injecting material, and the drainage. Due to
numerous rifts, the presbytery was additionally strengthened with a
horizontal tie (a ring) above the windows. Further trial boreholes re-
vealed two perfectly preserved Gothic windows in the presbytery that
were built up due to subsequent stylistic transformations. Only a part
of the surrounds of another, the third Gothic window opening, was
preserved in the interior. A part of some earlier painting was further
discovered on the southern wall of the presbytery, but, unfortunately,
it was almost entirely ruined on account of a subsequent Baroque
window with the exception of some fragments. Two large Baroque
windows on the northern side of the nave were removed and the
Gothic window was reconstructed according to the model of the exist-
ing one, while the other opening was built up. The removal of the
secondary projecting roof on the southern side initiated the transfor-
mation of the roof. The dilapidated stone and sheet metal covering
was entirely replaced with new covering made of stone. The basic
Gothic architecture of great quality with the Baroque chapel as an
extension was thus successfully presented by means of newly formed
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roofs, primarily on the southern side. The facades were coated with a
single-layer lime-cast, and the Gothic architectural painting (the so-
called stitched edges) was reconstructed on the bell-tower. The por-
tals made of sandstone were renovated and impregnated.

The interior of the church was rather dull before the renovation:
polychromatic Gothic ribs were thickly covered with plaster, and the
same was true of the surrounds that were utterly robbed of their
original appearance by subsequent transformations. Trial boreholes
and other investigations were begun by uncovering the plasterwork

“Paintings were discovered be-
neath the top layers of plaster on
the entire surface of the nave
and the presbytery, probably
originating from at least three
different periods. [..] It was
probably vaulted with cross
arches only in the second half of
the 15th century...”

on the southern side of the church, where two Gothic windows were
discovered that were built up due to the extension for the Baroque
chapel. Another Gothic window was discovered on the eastern wall of
the bell-tower. The original single-layer plaster was preserved on the
walls of the bell-tower; it was strengthened and the missing parts re-
constructed according to the model of the existing material. Paintings
were discovered beneath the top layers of plaster on the entire surface
of the nave and the presbytery, probably originating from at least
three different periods. The plasterwork with frescoes was strength-
ened and fixed onto the walls. The missing part of the plaster where
no paintings were traced was concluded and shaded in a colour corre-
sponding harmoniously to the expressive interior. Individual local
retouches are still to be performed on the painting, which will con-
tribute to a more pronounced character of the painting itself.

The church was paved anew during the last renovation at the be-
ginning of the 20th century. After the removal of the secondary pav-
ing, the original paving was discovered in the entire nave and
presbytery. [t was made of irregular stone slabs laid in sand. The
damaged surface was strengthened and the missing parts recon-
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structed. New discoveries of exceptional value in the interior of the
church that have completely altered the appearance of the space
made it necessary to remove the choir erected at the beginning of the
20th century.

As far as the renovation of the church ornamentation and furnish-
ings was concerned, special attention was paid to the main altar from
the year 1666, belonging to the golden altars from Carinthia. The
reconstruction of the gilding and polychromatism recovered its origi-
nal shine.

Investigations were carried out simultaneously with the renova-
tion works in order to define more precisely the construction of the
building and the paintings from the art historical aspect. Typical
forms of Carinthian art were taken into consideration, apart from all
the historical data known so far. Despite numerous records, the ar-
chives did not reveal much about the beginnings of the church and
its construction history. The church itself was more articulate, espe-
cially after the investigation and renovation works that discovered
several layers of wall paintings and construction elements, on the
basis of which it was possible to define at least the outline of the con-
struction history. It seems that the church originally consisted of a
rectangular nave and a short polygonal presbytery to which four ex-
ternal buttresses were added. It is possible that the nave was of an
earlier origin, i.e. Romanesque, although it is not discernible from
the results of trial boreholes and the present appearance whether the
presbytery was added to it as an extension, while the archaeological
tests have not been performed yet. However, the pointed portal on
the western wall and the pointed window with trefoil tracery on the
southern wall of the nave, almost identical to the Gothic windows in
the presbytery in its form, indicate a unified construction. These ele-
ments also have approximately defined the period of construction, i.e.
about the year 1300 or, rather, before the middle of the 14th century
when the earliest wall paintings in the presbytery were created. The
second painting of the church from the time of about the year 1400
indicates that the church originally had a flat ceiling. It was probably
vaulted with cross arches only in the second half of the 15th century,
when the vestry was added on the northern side and the bell-tower on
the southern one so that it covered the original southern portal, and the
nave was surrounded with buttresses. The last layer of wall paintings
was created during this renovation (the earliest grafitto from the year
1524), apart from the above-mentioned altar with the relief of the Birth
of Christ. A chapel was added to the bell-tower in the 17th century and
was connected with the nave by means of an entrance in 1842.

The paintings discovered during the most recent renovation are
the outstanding feature of the church, apart from the altar. Due to
their damaged condition, it is difficult to define the size and content
of individual layers of paint, particularly in the presbytery where three
layers have been preserved, i.e. from the 14th, 15th and beginning of
the 16th centuries. The earliest layer of wall paintings was discovered
on the triumphal arch wall and on the jambs of the windows, al-
though it probably included other walls as well. The images of the
Annunciation and the Birth of Christ were painted in the upper sec-
tion of the triumphal arch wall, and those of the sacrifice of Cain and
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Abel in the lower section, while the jambs were painted with images
of women saints. Due to their bad condition and subsequent paint-
ing, it is not yet impossible to define them more precisely as to their
style, although it can be stated that, with regard to their facial types
and typical contours of the late Gothic linear style, they were created
about the middle of the 14th century. The fields of the vault were
filled with images of the Virgin Mary and symbols of the evangelists,
while the contents of the paintings on the walls are not known, with
the exception of the saints on the surrounds of the windows and the

“Only St. Catherine with the lady
donor of the two saints on the
right-hand side was preserved
[-..]; the design of the faces (5t.
Catherine, St. Peter), the types of
borders (acanthus) and colora-
tion indicate, rather, that some
travelling painter might have
worked there under a strong
North Italian influence.”

angels with Veronica’s Shroud on the eastern wall. However, the
scene on the southern wall probably depicted the Last Supper. Angels
with musical instruments were depicted on the vault of the triumphal
arch, but they were covered with subsequent layers of paint.

It is not possible to define the features of the paintings in the
original church with a flat ceiling due to their fragmentary appear-
ance. However, it is discernible from recognisable scenes that the
iconographic system was fairly complicated and did not follow the
canon of paintings in succursal churches on Slovene ethnic territory.
This holds true particularly of the scene of the Journey and Adoration
of the Magi in the upper section of the triumphal arch wall that basi-
cally followed the scheme known in the Italian wall painting of the
late trecento, particularly in the depiction of the auxiliary figures and
the landscape. A full-size image of St. Peter with the presumed donor
was depicted on the lower part of the triumphal arch, while only St.
Catherine with the lady donor of the two saints on the right-hand side
was preserved. The scene of the Salvation of St. Peter from the Sea
(Matthew, 14, 14-32) was probably a rarity; the most famous example
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of that scene is Navicella on the facade of the old Church of St. Peter
in Rome by Giotto. In our case, the scene is accompanied by a ship in
a storm on the right-hand side that cannot be explained yet due to its
fragmentary condition. Individual scenes of the Passion are further
discernible from the fragments on the northern wall, while a cycle of
the Virgin Mary could be depicted on the southern wall.

The frescoes that were technically well executed could be basically
defined as belonging to the workshop of the Master from Nonca Vas
(Meister in Einersdorf) (cf. Besold, 1998, 297-311). The details
favouring such a definition are the marmoreal fields, a rich architec-
tural background and individual figures, e.g. St. Joseph and Adora-
tion of the Magi. However, the design of the faces (St. Catherine, St.
Peter), the types of borders (acanthus) and coloration indicate, rather,
that some travelling painter might have worked there under a strong
North Italian influence. The painter definitely surpassed the average
quality of the Master from Non¢a Vas. An account of comparisons,
however, it is interesting to mention that the painting in the northern
nave of the church in Vuzenica from the time of around 1400 was
also attributed to the Master from Nonéa Vas. The arrangement of the
features, the selection of more costly pigments (i.e. blue) and the qual-
ity of the artist were probably also dictated by the investors. Peter of
Marenberg, Lord of Vuzenica, was particularly interesting since he was
recorded in documents in connection with various church dignitaries
in the period between 1389 and 1413 (cf. Mlinari¢, 1997, 85-90).

The walls of the presbytery were certainly painted afresh at the
beginning of the 16th century, while only the unpainted upper sec-
tions of the vault fields were painted anew. On account of the poor
quality of the paintings, some figures of the saints without attributes
are discernible in the presbytery, while the floral ornaments on the
vault are the only better preserved part of the painting in the nave,
apart from Apocalyptic Jesus on the triumphal arch. The painting
was the work of a painter of lesser quality from the first quarter of the
16th century (perhaps indicated by the grafitto from the year 1524).

The discovery and renovation of the architecture of the church,
including the contemporary furnishings and painting that presents
an important link in the study of the historical development of paint-
ing in Carinthia, have succeeded in presenting the church in its en-
tire expressive quality.

SVJETLANA KURELAC, ROBERT PESKAR
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The Nace House w594

Location  Puital near Skofja Loka
Address  Pustal 74
Time of origin -~ 16th,17th—20th centuries
Time of restoration  1996-1998
Chief Conservator ~ Damjana Pedicek Terseglav
Visits:  Visitors have to be booked in advance with the proprietor, Mr. Tone
Polenc; T: (04) 21 40 67, 041 36 7016.

Pustal near Skofja Loka is an old settlement on the right bank of
the River Poljanska Sora, named after the nearby castle of Pustal
(Burgstall). It has long lost its village appearance with the comb-mak-
ing craft still prominent in almost every house, and has become a
renovated settlement of workers and a suburb of Skofja Loka. Never-
theless, an old house has been preserved in the centre of Pustal: the
Nace house or the Polenc house, named after the first new proprietor
from the Polenc family from the beginning of the 1gth century. Until
the middle of the 20th century, the house was among the wealthy
ones in the village, although the estate measured merely five hectares
of land; the additional comb-making and odd jobs were an important
source of income. There was an inn in the house until 1906, and it
was connected with the ferry-boat across the River Sora. After the
construction of a wooden footbridge and subsequently a proper
bridge over the river, revenue from transportation decreased, as well
as the number of visitors, so that the inn was closed down in 1906.
Comb-making was prominent until the end of the First World War,
and the family earned their living also by occasionally catching and
selling frogs from the river.

The Nace farm consisted of a house and a wooden outhouse in the
yard. The house had the date 1755 inscribed on a roof beam, although
its base was much older. The stone elements, e.g. the portal, originated
from the 16th century. The house was thoroughly transformed in the
middle of the 18th century, when it acquired a typical Baroque appear-

A ‘\\

A “The house is a partly stone-built, single-storey building with a rectangular floor plan
and a partial cellar. It was planned as the ‘black kitchen' type that has been characteristic
of the Alpine region since the 1gth century.”

< Joint of wooden logs on the exterior: “It could be defined as a typical Alpine house be-
longing to the region of Skofia Loka and Cerkljansko.”
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ance that has remained almost unchanged to the present.

The house was certainly single-storeyed until 1755. At that time, a
new ceiling was constructed in the house proper (i.e. the main living
quarters) and the building was raised by a floor. New sash windows
were made and the century-old earthen stove with rich tiles was
moved to the upper storey. A stone-built closet was added to the
house, some rooms in the cellar were probably vaulted and a balcony
was constructed above the lower house section. Only the portal with
truncated edges, created in the late Gothic style, has remained an

“Credit is due to all the
masters from the Polenc
family for the preserva-
tion of the Nace house
through centuries without
major modernisation."”

enigma. It could have originated from the middle or the first half of
the 17th century, or it could have been a typical conservative feature
in the construction of the house, a remnant of the 16th century ap-
pearing as late as 1755.

The next transformation took place only in 1908 when a new
‘white” kitchen was added to the old ‘black kitchen' and the original
thatched roof, ridged and with crested gables, was replaced with a
new roof without gables and covered with cement tiles. The extension
to the stable was erected in 1960 to provide room for the distillation
of brandy and for toilets.

The Nace house is a partly stone-built, single-storey building with
a rectangular floor plan and partial cellar. It was planned as the ‘black
kitchen' type that has been characteristic of the Alpine region since
the 1gth century. It could be defined as a typical Alpine house belong-
ing to the region of Skofja Loka and Cerkljansko. The ground floor
consisted of a residential part and an outhouse. The stone-built hall
and ‘black kitchen’ were divided by a stone vault, the so-called
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Sipovnik’; the name was derived from the German word ‘Shifbogen’
(i.e. ‘ship arch’) describing the type of vault. The entrance to the
lower wooden house section and further to the closet was located on
the right-hand side of the hall, and to the stone-built granary on the
left. The entrances to the outhouses were from the backyard. Access
to the ‘black kitchen’ was also from there by means of a stone-built
flight of stairs. The floor plan with the ‘black kitchen’ was repeated
on the first floor. Only the upper house section and closet were lo-
cated on the opposite side. There was a barn above the lower house

“Although the house in
its present appearance
and size came into being
in the 18th century, the
interior has preserved its
Renaissance charm: a
square chamber, a richly
profiled ceiling common
in houses of wealthy citi-
zens in Skofja Loka.”

section, which was a rarity in the construction development of that
type of the house. The repetition of the ground floor plan was con-
nected with the life of the family. The master with his family usually
resided on the ground floor, and the upper floor was intended for
retired family members. The house was surrounded by a gallery on
the first floor located over the front and right-hand side facades. The
steep front gable above the gallery was panelled with boards and fret-
ted in the central part so that a closed balcony with a rectangular
opening was created. There were sash windows in the wooden part of
the ground floor and in the upper house section, cut into logs and
protected with wrought iron crosses on the ground floor and with
wrought wedges fixed into the frames on the first floor.

Although the house in its present appearance and size came into
being in the 18th century, the interior has preserved its Renaissance
charm: a square chamber, a richly profiled ceiling common in the
houses of wealthy citizens in Skofja Loka, and sash windows
framed with profiled frames. The furniture and other items were
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collected in the course of time: a table and chairs with hearts cut in
their backs, benches along the walls, chests, all kinds of pottery and
earthenware, tools, lamps and other artefacts. The interior has been
preserved unchanged for a century or more. The proprietors have
managed to preserve everything and, simultaneously, to keep the
interior items in their original function. The interior is therefore a
unique museum, a collection of everyday objects and also artisti-
cally created items from peasant life. The Nace house is more prop-
erly furnished than any open-air museum, and each artefact testifies

“The stone-built hall and ‘black kitchen' were divided by a stone vault, the so-called
‘Sipovnik’; the name was derived from the German word ‘Shifbogen’ (i.e. ‘ship arch’) de-
scribing the type of vault. The entrance to the lower wooden house section and further to

|

the closet was located on the right-hand side of the hal

to the life of past generations.

The systematic renovation of the house was begun by the present
proprietor, Tone Polenc, in 1995, when the roofing and the dilapi-
dated, almost century-old covering had to be restored. New, hand-
made pointed concrete tiles were ordered from Izidor Jesenko from
Bukov Vrh near Skofja Loka, a master of the old craft, who still
manufactured them in the traditional way. The entire roof covering
was replaced, as well as the laths and gutters, and metal borders were
installed. The proprietor continued with the renovation of the electri-
cal wiring, installing it safely underground as far as the house, and
then inside the house in such a way that the wiring was carefully and,
above all, invisibly installed in the interior. The original house had no
chimney on the vault of the kitchen so that smoke passed freely to the
attic; hence the name ‘black kitchen'. The chimney that was con-
structed subsequently had to be pulled down, and three new ones
were erected according to the model of the former one.

The renovation continued in the interior with the reconstruction
of both the bread ovens with richly ornamented tiles. The ovens con-
sisted of two parts; the upper, cylinder-shaped part was erected on a
square base. The tiles were made of baked clay and were glazed in
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green. The renovation began with the oven on the ground floor house
section. A blueprint was made with a detail of the tiles (scale 1 : 1) by
architect Ales Hafner. The oven was manufactured by master potter
Franc Susterdi¢. He dismantled the oven in the lower house section,
selected the preserved tiles, made copies of them and of the base of
the oven, and subsequently reassembled the oven partly with new
and partly old tiles. The renovation of the upper oven was more de-
manding, since it was in a worse condition and had already been re-
paired in the past. The tiles with motifs of horsemen, dated by
Gorazd Makarovic as belonging to the 17th century, and a single one
with the motif of the Virgin Mary with Jesus on the base of the oven,
were dilapidated to such an extent that they had to be replaced by cop-
ies. The tiles from the upper part, probably originating from the 18th
century, were merely renovated, while the two original circular crests
were preserved. Wooden benches around the ovens were subse-
quently renovated by the proprietor.

Credit is due to all the masters from the Polenc family for the
preservation of the Nace house through centuries without major
modernisation. The grandmother of the present master Tone Polenc
was already a conscientious housekeeper. She passed her love of fam-
ily tradition to her sons, Anton Polenc, famous Slovene biologist, and
Polde Polenc, opera singer active in the field of culture. The present
proprietor still carefully plans and executes the renovation of the
house in cooperation with the Regional Institute for the Protection of
the Natural and Cultural Heritage of Ljubljana.

DAMJANA PEDICEK TERSEGLAV
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Location

Address

Time of origin
Time of restoration

The Majerija Farmhouse w7467
Slap near Vipava

Slap 18

18th and 19th centuries

1994-2000

Chief Consevators  Andrejka Séukovt and Mitja Mozeti& and assistant Andrej Jazbec
Visits  Visitors have to be booked in advance with the proprietor.

Slap near Vipava is located at the foot of the Vipavska Brda hills in
the upper valley of Vipavska Dolina. It is a dense, clustered village.
Another hamlet, the so-called Majerija or Grofovo, belongs to the vil-
lage as well. The house of the same name, Majerija, is located there.
It is a dominant spatial feature in the surrounding wine-growing
landscape. The house commands a fine view of the Vipavska valley
and the slope of the Gora plateau.

According to oral tradition, it is possible that the estate of Majerija
was originally intended for the steward of the manor, probably from
Slap or the near-by village of LoZe.

Majerija was recorded in the parish register as “the lower house”.
There is another house located in the direct vicinity of Majerija that
was recorded as “the upper house”. Most probably, the two belonged
to the same farm that was subsequently divided. The well and the
pond testify to that, being located between the two houses.

The Majerija farm consists of several buildings added to one an-
other in an L-shaped floor plan. Before the renovation, the farm con-
sisted of three outhouses and a residential part. There are no certain
data about the origins of the farm; it is presumed that the buildings
were created in the following sequence:

The outhouse was erected at the turn of the 18th or beginning of
the rgth century, comprising a cellar with a ‘faladur’ (i.e. workshop
and repository) and a subsequent granary raised above it. Another
single-storey residential building and an outhouse were added at the
beginning of the 1gth century. The stable with a hayloft and a shed
originated from the 1gth century.

The outhouse originally consisted merely of the cellar and
‘faladur’ above it. The cellar was constructed underground, being
stone-built with tub-shaped vaults. The entrance to it is at present
through a late Gothic stone portal and through the shed. Before the
shed was added to it as an extension, the entrance to the cellar was
from the external, eastern side.

The entrance to the ‘faladur’ above the cellar is through a stone
portal and is oriented towards the south, i.e. the back yard. The portal
is concluded by several semi-circular stones. The keystone bears the
date 1803.

The outhouse was raised by one storey in 1821 to accommodate a
granary. The plaque installed on the wooden gallery testifies to that.
The entrance to the granary was solved by an extension with the

< “The house was raised by one floor in 1851. The inclination of the roof was changed and
the roof was covered with tiles.”
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stairs and a gallery supported by two asymmetrical arcades. Thus the
house was finally formed in the final stage of its development, in the
first half of the 1gth century.

The outhouse thus comprised three single-cellular rooms at a ver-
tical axis according to their function: the cellar (wine-cellar), the
‘faladur’ (a repository for tools and for the processing of grapes into
wine) and the granary (repository for farm produce). It is interesting
that balls were organized in the granary until the Second World War.
The finest ball was at the festival of St. Jacob.

“The new entrance was
located on the gable facade
and thus oriented towards
the south. A portal with a
semi-circular conclusion
was built in, bearing the
date 1851. [...] When the
renovation began in 1994,
all the premises had been
abandoned for several
years and were in a poor
condition."

Trial boreholes revealed that the residential area was originally
smaller, single-storeyed and covered with a ridged slate roof. The
house was raised by one floor in 1851. The inclination of the roof was
changed and the roof was covered with tiles. The original entrance on
the western side of the residential area was probably built up in the
same year. The new entrance was located on the gable facade and
thus oriented towards the south. A portal with a semi-circular conclu-
sion was built in, bearing the date 1851. An unknown painter painted
the fresco of the Crucified above the portal in the second half of the
1g9th century.

The residential area has undergone most changes. The transfor-
mations on the exterior are discernible primarily in the form of en-
larged window openings. The transformation of one of them also
damaged the fresco.

The stable with the hayloft was added to the residential area. It
can reasonably be assumed on the basis of trial boreholes that the
building was originally smaller and merely single-storeyed as well, as
indicated by the still discernible inclination of the original slate roof.
The original entrance to the stable was at the location of the present
shed. It is to be assumed that the stable was raised simultaneously
with the house, thus creating additional space for the hayloft. The
present entrance to the stable is from the interior of the dwelling area
and from the back yard through a stone portal with a triangular con-
clusion. People can remember that there were 14 or even 18 heads of
cattle in the stable in prosperous times.

The shed was the link between the cellar, stable and the residen-
tial area. Carts were kept there and farm produce was driven into it. It
was open on the northern and eastern sides. The present entrance to
the shed is through a larger semi-circular vault from the south. The
opening on the northern, i.e. rear, side was built up in the interwar

150



Slap near Vipava: The Majerija Farmhouse

period when the estate behind the house was sold.

The guideline for the complete renovation of the Majerija farm
was to present it in the last phase of its development before the final
state of affairs, with all the items and furnishings as they were at the
beginning of the 2oth century, i.e. before the final transformations of
the residential area. However, in view of the changing way of life and
modern requirements, the desires and requirements of the present
proprietor were to be considered as well. Therefore the functions of
individual facilities (with the exception of the cellar) were completely

“The shed after the renovation: “The shed was the link between the cellar, stable and the
residential area. Carts were kept there and farm produce was driven into it. It was open
on the northern and eastern sides.”

changed, while the external walls of the farm were protected under
the strictest rules. That includes the preservation of floor plans and
heights or rather the volumes of buildings, inclination of the roof, type
of tiles, roof projection, window and door openings with regard to their
rhythm, form and size, and the stone portals and their protection at the
original locations. The renovation and improvement of the buildings
utilized primarily two traditional materials: timber and stone.

When the renovation began in 1994, all the buildings had been
abandoned for several years and were in a poor condition. At the re-
quest of the proprietor, the renovation was initiated with the improve-
ment of the outhouse, i.e. the cellar with the ‘faladur’ and granary.
The existing walls were to be improved, roof and roofing renovated,
external staircase and gallery mended and new doors and windows
made. All the other roofs were renovated in the following years, to-
gether with the stone walls that were strengthened, and new doors
and windows were made according to the existing models. The plas-
ter on the facade was made anew.

The residential area was in need of a thorough structural improve-
ment. All the recent transformations were to be mended, primarily
on the two side facades. The plasterwork was removed and trial bore-
holes were made. Separate phases of the development of window and
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door openings of the earliest building were established and techni-
cally documented. The entrance was originally oriented towards the
west. Trial boreholes established the floor plan of the residential
building before it was raised, as well as the size of the original out-
house and its border, where the shed was added in the 1gth century.
Due to the new purpose of the building, which is to house an inn, the
decision was taken to establish a different rhythm of window open-
ings on the eastern and western facades.

The fresco hidden beneath the plasterwork on the southern facade

was renovated in 1998 by the Institute for the Protection of the Natu-
ral and Cultural Heritage of Nova Gorica. Regrettably, only some
fragments were preserved. The fresco depicted the Crucified in a
painted frame of a rectangular shape. The top side had a triangular
conclusion. The prevailing colours of the fresco were bright: ochre,
yellow, brown and blue and were finely discernible on the white back-
ground of the plaster.

The renovation had lasted for several years and was concluded
this year, following the restoration principles as well as the desires of
the proprietor. The Majerija farm is thus saved from ruin. Despite
the new function of the farm, the proprietors renovated the building
and furnished the interior with exceptional taste and reverence for
their heritage. Their plans anticipate an inn in the former residential
area with a reconstructed fireplace typical of the Vipava region.

ANDREJKA SCUKOVT
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Olimje: Organ in the Church of the Assumption of the Virgin Mary
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Breg near Zirovnica: Church of St. Radegund
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Draga near Bela Cerkev: Church of St. Helen
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Celje: Railway Signal Box
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Dvor, Smartno near Litija: Bogeniperk Castle
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Goléaj: Church of St. Agnes
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Gorenji Mokronog: Chapel of St. Michael
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Goridnica: The Dominko House
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Gornji Grad: Church of Sts. Hermagoras and Fortunatus
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Kamni Vrh near Ambrus: Church of St. Peter
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Kotevski Rog, Komarna Vas: Zgornji Hrastnik Partisan Hospital
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Koper, Semedela: The Gravisi Castle
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Kranj: PreSeren Grove
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Ljubljana: Selo Manor
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Ljubljana: The Ple¢nik Green Avenue
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Maribor: Synagogue
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MeZica: Lead and Tin Mine
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Na Kamnu: Church of the Virgin Mary
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Pustal near Skofja Loka: The Nace House
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Slap near Vipava: The Majerija Farmhouse









